
Northern Inyo Healthcare District

May 18 2022 Regular Board
Meeting
May 18 2022 Regular Board Meeting

May 18 2022 Regular Board Meting

Agenda May 18, 2022 Regular Board Meeting

Agenda May 18, 2022 Regular Board Meeting ............................................................. 3

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 2022 Years of Service, Hospital Week & Nurse Week
Celebration

Board of Directors Coversheet, NIHD 2022 Years of Service, Hospital Week & ...... 7
NIHD 2022 Years of Service Employee List ................................................................. 8

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 2022 Community Heath Needs Assessment CHNA
Update

NIHD Community Heath Needs Assessment Presentation ...................................... 12

Northern Inyo Healthcare District Governance Committee Update

Board of Directors Coversheet, NIHD Governance Committee Update .................. 19
Governance Committee Meeting Minutes .................................................................. 20

Approval of the District Board Resolution 22-07 or District Board Resolution 22-08,
Amending the Northern Inyo Healthcare District Bylaws regarding Ad Hoc Committees
and Standing Committees

22-07 District Board Resolution, Bylaws Amendment re Governance Standin ..... 26
22-08 District Board Resolution, Bylaws Amendment re all Ad Hoc Committe ..... 30

Northern Inyo Healthcare District CEO Absence from the July 20, 2022 Board of
Directors Meeting

Board of Directors Coversheet, NIHD CEO Absence from the July 20, 2022 B ..... 34

District Board Resolution 22-09, Consolidation of Election

22-09 District Board Resolution, Election Consolidation ......................................... 35

Chief of Staff Report

Medical Executive Report ............................................................................................ 36
Policies and Procedures .............................................................................................. 37

Page 1 of 185



Consent Agenda
22-10 District Board Resolution, to continue to allow the Board meetings to b .... 97
April 20, 2022 Regular Board Meeting Minutes ......................................................... 99
April 26, 2022 Regular Board Meeting Minutes ....................................................... 104
Chief Executive Officer Report ................................................................................. 106
Chief Medical Officer Report ..................................................................................... 166
Chief Nursing Officer Report ..................................................................................... 168
Financial and Statistical reports as of March 31, 2022 ........................................... 177
Approval of Policies and Procedures ....................................................................... 180

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 2 of 185

http://www.tcpdf.org


 
AGENDA 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

 
May 18, 2022 at 5:30 p.m. 

 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District invites you to join this meeting: 
    TO CONNECT VIA ZOOM:  (A link is also available on the NIHD Website) 
https://zoom.us/j/213497015?pwd=TDlIWXRuWjE4T1Y2YVFWbnF2aGk5UT09 
Meeting ID: 213 497 015 
Password: 608092 
 
PHONE CONNECTION: 
888 475 4499 US Toll-free 
877 853 5257 US Toll-free 
Meeting ID: 213 497 015 
 
The Board is again meeting in person at 2957 Birch Street Bishop, CA 93514. Members of the public 
will be allowed to attend in person or via zoom. Public comments can be made in person or via zoom: 
__________________________________________________________________________________ 

     
1. Call to Order (at 5:30 pm).    

2. Public Comment:  The purpose of public comment is to allow members of the public to address 

the Board of Directors.  Public comments shall be received at the beginning of the meeting and are 

limited to three (3) minutes per speaker, with a total time limit of thirty (30) minutes for all public 

comment unless otherwise modified by the Chair.  Speaking time may not be granted and/or 

loaned to another individual for purposes of extending available speaking time unless 

arrangements have been made in advance for a large group of speakers to have a spokesperson 

speak on their behalf.  Comments must be kept brief and non-repetitive.  The general Public 

Comment portion of the meeting allows the public to address any item within the jurisdiction of 

the Board of Directors on matters not appearing on the agenda.  Public comments on agenda items 

should be made at the time each item is considered. 

3. New Business: 

A. Northern Inyo Healthcare District 2022 Years of Service, Hospital Week & Nurse Week 

Celebration (Board will receive this presentation)   

Page 3 of 185

https://zoom.us/j/213497015?pwd=TDlIWXRuWjE4T1Y2YVFWbnF2aGk5UT09


Page, 2, Agenda, NIHD Board of Directors Regular Meeting, May 18, 2022 
 
 

5/11/2022, 12:18 PM 

B. Northern Inyo Healthcare District 2022 Community Heath Needs Assessment CHNA Update 

(Board will receive this update and presentation) 

C. Northern Inyo Healthcare District Governance Committee Update (Board will receive this 

update)  

D. Approval of the District Board Resolution 22-07, Amending the Northern Inyo Healthcare 

District Bylaws to create current Standing Committee Ad Hoc Committees with only the 

Governance Committee as a Standing Committee or, alternatively, Approval of the District 

Board Resolution 22-08, Amending the Northern Inyo Healthcare District Bylaws to create all 

current Standing Committees Ad Hoc Committees.(Board will consider the adoption of these 

District Board Resolutions)  

E. Northern Inyo Healthcare District CEO Absence from the July 20, 2022 Board of Directors 

Meeting (Board will consider change of date for the July Regular Board Meeting or 

substitution of lead Executive role during this meeting)  

F. District Board Resolution 22-09, Consolidation of Election (Board will consider the adoption 
of this District Board Resolution) 

4. Chief of Staff Report, Sierra Bourne MD: 
A. Medical Staff Appointments (Board will consider the approval of these Medial Staff 

Appointments)  

1. Paul Kim, MD (anesthesiology) – Active Staff 
2. Carolyn Saba, MD (anesthesiology) – Courtesy Staff 
3. Leena Sumitra, MD (psychiatry) – Telemedicine Staff 

B. Changes in Medical Staff Category (Board will consider the approval of these changes in 

Medical Staff Category) 

1. Farres Ahmed, MD (radiology) – requested to be changed from Courtesy Staff to Active 

Staff. 

C. Medical Staff Privilege Form (Board will consider the approval of these Medical Staff and 

Privilege form)  

1. Cardiovascular Disease 

D. Medical Staff Resignations (Board will consider the approval of these Medical Staff 

Resignations)  

1. Edmund Pillsbury, MD (radiology) – effective 2/23/22 – in good standing 
2. Matthew Wise, MD (obstetrics & gynecology) – effective 2/24/22 – in good standing 
3. Felix Karp, MD (hospitalist) – effective 4/12/22 – in good standing 

Page 4 of 185



Page, 3, Agenda, NIHD Board of Directors Regular Meeting, May 18, 2022 
 
 

5/11/2022, 12:18 PM 

E. Policies (Board will consider the approval of these Policies)  
1. Access to Medications in the Absence of the Pharmacist 
2. Barcode Medication Administration 
3. Cardiac Arrest in the OR 
4. Cleaning and Care of Surgical Instruments 
5. Diet Texture Ordering 
6. Focused and Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation 
7. High Alert Medications: Preparation, Dispensing, Storage 
8. Laser Safety 
9. Medical Staff Professional Conduct Policy  
10. Quality Assurance and Performance Improvement Plan 
11. Safe Patient Handling – Minimal Lift Program 
12. Sentinel Event/Serious Harm Reporting and Prevention 
13. Single-Dose vs. Multi-Dose Vial Policy 
14. Surgeries Requiring An Assistant 

F. Medical Executive Committee Meeting Report (Board will receive this report)  
           ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

                                                     Consent Agenda  

5. Approval of District Board Resolution 22-10, to continue to allow Board meetings to be held 

virtually (Board will consider the adoption of this District Board Resolution) 

6. Approval of minutes of the April 20, 2022 Regular Board Meeting (Board will consider the 

approval of these minutes)  

7. Approval of minutes of the April 26, 2022 Special Board Meeting (Board will consider the 

approval of these minutes) 

8. Chief Executive Officer Report (Board will consider accepting this report) 

9. Chief Medical Officer Report (Board will consider accepting this report) 

10. Chief Nursing Officer Report (Board will consider accepting this report)  

11. Financial and Statistical reports as of March 31, 2022 (Board will consider accepting this report) 

12. Approval of Policies and Procedures (Board will consider the approval of these Policies and 

Procedures)  

A. Password Policy  

B. ITS Service Desk Work Order 

C. Licensure of Nursing Personnel 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 

13. Reports from Board members (Board will provide this information).  

14. Public comments on closed session items.  

15. Adjournment to Closed Session to/for: 

Page 5 of 185



Page, 4, Agenda, NIHD Board of Directors Regular Meeting, May 18, 2022 
 
 

5/11/2022, 12:18 PM 

A. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 
Title: District Legal Counsel, Gov. Code. 54957(b) (1). 

B. Conference with legal counsel, anticipated litigation. Significant exposure to litigation 
(pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (d) of Government Code Section 54956.9); one 
case.  

16. Return to open session and report on any actions taken in closed session.  

17. Adjournment 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you require special accommodations to 

participate in a District Board meeting, please contact administration at (760) 873-2838 at least 48 hours 

prior to the meeting. 

Page 6 of 185



 
NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

FOR INFORMATION 
 

Date:  5/5/2022 
 
Title:  2022 Years of Service Recipients 
 
 
Synopsis: During the week of May 6th through the 14th, NIHD celebrated Nurses Week 

and Hospital Week.  On May 9th and May 13th, NIHD honored employees for 
their years of service with the District.  Those being recognized had hit a 5 year 
milestone over the past 3 three years.  This was catch up for those who hit that 
mark in 2019, 2020, and 2021, due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  These honorees 
received a gold plated pin with some semi-precious stones in them based on 
their service term.  They also received 8 hours of PTO if they were full time, 6.4 
hours if part time, and $100 if per diem.  Congratulations to the recipients 
below!! 

 
 
 

Prepared by: Greg Bissonette, Foundation ED      
        
 
 
     Approved by: Kelli Davis, CEO  
        
 

      
 
 
 

 

Page 7 of 185



2022 HOSPITAL WEEK CELBRATIONS 
5 Year Award 

 
Yesenia Arellano Medical Records 
Tammy Arzola Rural Health Clinic 
Jason Babb Information Technology 
Jenny Bates Emergency Department 
Luis Becerra Kitchen 
Greg Bissonette Foundation Executive Director 
Silvia Borow Medsurg 
Jessica Buccowich Emergency Department 
Brooklyn Burley Medsurg 
Cesar Cardelas Acosta Kitchen 
Jennifer Colbert Accounting 
Shira Crook Rural Health Clinic 
Lorelei Dennis Physical Therapy 
Jasmine Duff Pharmacy 
Elizabeth Esparza Rural Health Clinic 
Kelly Faldowski Ortho Clinic 
Melanie Fox Utilization Review 
Rosemarie Graves Op Procedure 
Donna Hardy Rhc Ob Gyn Specialty Service 
Bryan Harper Information Technology 
Kathryn Hayes Op Registration 
Natalie Henderson Labchemistry 
Tyler Honeyman Physical Therapy 
Lindsey Hughes Emergency Department 
Monica Jones Occupational Therapy 
Rita Klabacha Rural Health Clinic 
Nancy Landaverde Labchemistry 
Barbara Laughon Marketing 
Margo Lella Pacu 
Dean Lewis Information Technology 
Anthony Lewis Plant Maintenance 
Oscar Lopez Esparza Rural Health Clinic 
Colleen McEvoy Pediatric Office 
Sierra Merchant Environmental Serv 
Steven Messmore Physical Therapy 
Tara Misiewicz Medsurg 

Page 8 of 185



Rocio Morales Garcia Environmental Serv 
Alison Murray Hr And Education 
James Nichols Purchasing 
Jessica Nott Pediatric Office 
Justin Nott Medsurg 
Brandy Park Pediatric Office 
Kimberly Parkinson Nursing Supervisors 
Dianne Picken Med Staff Admin 
Cathy Poquette Mammography 
Jotendra Ranabhat Occupational Therapy 
Kaylyn Rickford Rural Health Clinic 
Marjorie Routt Staff Development 
Crystal Salveson Accounting 
Gardiel Santana Central Supply 
Martha Santana Environmental Serv 
Mary Snyder Labchemistry 
Sandra Sommer Labchemistry 
Scott Stoner Information Technology 
Jacinda Thomsen Emergency Department 
Julie Tillemans Alternative Birthing Center 
Davidson Tracy Central Supply 
Terrence Tye Echo 
Laura Valadez Cortes Labchemistry 
Conor Vaughan Compliance 
Paige Wagoner Compliance 
Adam Wills Respiratory Care 
Lisa Wray Rural Health Clinic 
Brooke Yarnell Alternative Birthing Center 

 
10 Year Award 

 
Austin Archer Respiratory Care 
Ellen Bartlett Rural Health Clinic 
Thomas Cunha Jr Environmental Serv 
Shawn Delehanty Op Registration 
Tanya Deleo Ip Admitting 
Rafael Haro Nursing Supervisors 
Evan Higginbotham Cat Scan 
Mykala Howard Ekg 
Cameron Hubbard-Shinto Environmental Serv 
Isabel  Landaverde Nih Specialty Clinic 

Page 9 of 185



Jannalyn Lawrence Rural Health Clinic 
Evamarie Mathieu Op Registration 
Elizabeth McCown Ortho Clinic 
Ryan McVeitty Purchasing 
Morgan Nutting Respiratory Care 
Brent Obinger Medsurg 
Alison Patterson Icu 
Leslie Perez Radiology 
Maria Santana Pediatric Office 
Hallie Vickers Rural Health Clinic 
Heleen Welvaart Rural Health Clinic 
Shawn Williams Labchemistry 

 
15 Year Award 

 
Kristine Alcala Radiology 
Anneke Bishop Alternative Birthing Center 
Samantha Bumgarner Emergency Department 
Cheryl Carter Surgery 
Diana Church Rural Health Clinic 
Marnie Davis Op Registration 
Ronald Daywalt Pacu 
Wendy Derr Emergency Department 
Patricia Dickson Compliance 
Fabiola Esparza Business Office 
Lori Forehand Medsurg 
Katie Galvin Radiology 
Jessica Hepburn Labchemistry 
David  Kim Ultrasound 
Neil Lynch Purchasing 
Sarah Malloy Rural Health Clinic 
Veronica Mewborn Respiratory Care 
Shauna Murray Op Procedure 
Robert Ralston Plant Maintenance 
Amanda Rhodes Central Supply 
Michelle Scott Medsurg 
Joan Walker Pharmacy 

 
 
 
 

Page 10 of 185



20 Year Award 
 

Francine Berube Medsurg 
Andrea Daniels Environmental Serv 
Cynthia Dayhuff Medsurg 
Marion Heslinger Medsurg 
Scott Hooker Proj-Prop Mngmt 
Julie Laliberte Pathology 
Reuben Morgenstein Hr And Education 
Jennifer Norris Rhc Ob Gyn Specialty Service 
Amy Stange Respiratory Care 
Mara Yolken Rural Health Clinic 

25 Year Award  
  

Melanie Hagopian Labchemistry 
Jeanette Smith Information Technology 

 
30 Year Award 

 
Jalaine Beems Medical Records 
Robin Christensen Infection Control 
Nita  Eddy Surgery 
Cindy Henderson Plant Maintenance 
Toni Rhodes Surgery 

 
35 Year Award 

 
Christina Cauldwell Surgery 

 
40 Year Award 

Kimberly Robison Pathology 
 

Page 11 of 185



Community Health Needs Assessment
Marketing Team ■ May 3, 2022

Page 12 of 185



• The Inyo Register
• KIBS/KBOV Radio
• Sierra Wave Media (KSRW-FM)
• Eastern Sierra NOW
• The Sierra Reader
• El Sol de la Sierra
• The Sheet

Page 13 of 185



• The Inyo Register
• The Sierra Reader
• El Sol de la Sierra
• The Sheet

• KIBS/KBOV Radio
• Sierra Wave Media (KSRW-FM)
• Eastern Sierra NOW

Page 14 of 185



In-house posters & flyers

Page 15 of 185



Social Media pushes

Page 16 of 185



What can I do to help?
• Discuss this effort with your team, 

emphasizing the importance of this 
information for the District’s future 
and that of the community

• Encourage team members, loved 
ones, friends, associates to take 
this survey

• SHARE the NIHD Social Media 
information on your social accounts

• Encourage people to use the QR 
code or make the paper copies 
accessible.

Page 17 of 185



Thank you!

Page 18 of 185



Page 19 of 185



 
NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

BOARD MEMBER GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES 

Date: May 3, 2022, 7:00 a.m. Zoom  
 

1. Call to Order 
7:02 a.m. 

2. Roll call 
Board: Jody Veenker, Chair & Jean Turner, Treasurer 
Staff: Kelli Davis, CEO & Erika Hernandez, Administrative Assistant/Board Clerk 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF:  
Ms. Turner and Ms. Veenker approved the Governance Meeting Minutes for March 24, 
2022 and April 12, 2022.  

 
4. ITEMS FOR COMMITTEE DICUSSION AND/OR RECOMMENDATION  

4.1 NIHD Board Governance   
A discussion took place, Ms. Turner suggestion that this item be include on the agenda 
for this month’s Regular Board Meeting to update the Board as a whole and allow for an 
opportunity to discuss and receive feedback from each Board member.  
 

4.1.1 NIHD Board Bylaws  
Ms. Davis reported that Keith Collins provided two versions of the NIHD Board Bylaws 
with proposed revisions as discussed and recommended during the April 20, 2022, NIHD 
Board of Director’s Meeting regarding standing committee, ad hoc committee and 
special committee language. 
Action: Provide copies of the two version of the NIHD Bylaws to Ms. Turner and Ms. 
Veenker for review.  
 

4.2 NIHD Board Policies Review  
4.2.1 Governance Committee will review and consider sample Policies 

 Guideline for Business by the Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of 
Directors  

Ms. Davis asked if there were any question on the proposed policy titled: “Guideline for 
Business by the Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors”. Ms. Veenker 
suggested that she would like to see additional language under section B5- “Closed 
Session Meetings” that speaks specific to what agenda items may fall under this portion 
of the Board meeting to provide District transparency.   

 

Page 20 of 185



 
NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

BOARD MEMBER GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES 

Date: May 3, 2022, 7:00 a.m. Zoom  
 

Action: Ms. Davis will reach out to Mr. Collins about adding additional language to this 
policy that would help explain which items may be fall under closed session portion of 
the Board of Directors meeting.  

 Order and Decorum of Board Business for 2022  

Ms. Davis asked if there were any question on the proposed policy titled: “Order and 
Decorum of Board of Business for 2022”. Ms. Turner mentioned she was pleased with 
this policy. Ms. Turner and Ms. Veenker did not have any questions.  

Action: This policy is ready for Board review and consideration.  

4.3 Governance Committee Charter Discussion 

Ms. Turner and Ms. Veenker reviewed the proposed Governance Committee Charter 
draft. Ms. Turner and Ms. Veenker made a recommendation to add language under 
“Duties” about continued Board education and retreat planning. They also 
recommended adding a duty that would ensure the Board review and discuss personnel 
contracts and legal services during closed session on an annual basis.  

Action: Ms. Davis will make the appropriate changes as requested by Ms. Turner and 
Ms. Veenker. This policy will then be ready for the Board review and consideration.  

5. Other Business  
5.1 Governance Committee will discuss and consider top priority areas of focus for the 

Committee based on NIHD Board of Directors direction and recommendations.   

Action: A discussion took place about possibly scheduling a Special Board Meeting that 
would allow the Board as whole to review and discuss the proposed two policies and the 
Governance Committee Charter draft and any additional area of focus the Board would 
like the Governance Committee to focus on.  

6. Next Meeting Date 
Tuesday, May 24th at 7:00 a.m.  
 

7. ADJOURNMENT OF MEETING  

7: 56 a.m.  

 

Page 21 of 185



 
NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

BOARD MEMBER GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES  

Date: April 12, 2022, 7:00 a.m. Zoom  
 

1. Call to Order:  
7:05 a.m. 

2. Roll call:  
Board: Jean Turner, Treasurer 

Staff: Kelli Davis, CEO and Erika Hernandez, Administrative Assistant/Board Clerk 

Other: Keith Collins, Legal Counsel  

Absent: Jody Veenker, Chair  

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF: March 24, 2022 NIHD Governance Committee Minutes were 
approved by Jean Turner; minutes will be sent to Jody Veenker for electronic review and 
feedback. 
 

4. ITEMS FOR COMMITTEE DICUSSION AND/OR RECOMMENDATION  
4.1 NIHD Board Governance   

 
4.1.1 NIHD Board Bylaws  

Keith Collins, General Legal counsel explained that Board Standing Committees are 
subject to the Brown Act. A discussion took place about possibly revising the District 
Bylaws re: Standing Committees, Board would set expectations for the CEO to allow for 
the formation of these committees and request for Board participation on a quarterly 
basis. Ms. Davis explained that NIHD does have operational committees in place 
including Finance, Quality and Safety, Compliance and Ethics, and a recent Ad Hoc 
Committee was formed for the 2022 Community Health Needs Assessment project.  

Action Items: Erika Hernandez will review and provide feedback on any previously 
adopted District Board Resolutions for Board Committee formation.  

4.1.2 Brown Act Requirements  
 

Action: Keith will have a discussion with legal counsel, Noel Caughman, regarding any 
legal insight and/or risk of removing the standing committees from the NIHD Bylaws.  

4.1.3     Robert’s Rules of Order  

Page 22 of 185



 
NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

BOARD MEMBER GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 
MINUTES  

Date: April 12, 2022, 7:00 a.m. Zoom  
 

Mr. Collins explained that Robert’s Rule of Order is designed to be a guideline for 
struggling Board Members to conduct a successful Board Meeting. It is not a Brown 
Act requirement to adopt Robert’s Rules of Order.  
 

4.2 NIHD Board Policies Review  
4.2.1 Governance Committee Consideration of sample Policies 

 Guideline for Business by the Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of 
Directors  

 Orders and Decorum of Board Business for 2022 
Policy consideration and discussion was held over to a future meeting. 
 

4.3 Governance Committee Charter Discussion 
4.3.1 No discussion took place. This item was held over to a future meeting. 

 
5. Next Meeting Date 

Tuesday, April 26, 2022 at 7:00 a.m.  

6. ADJOURNMENT OF MEETING  
7:53 a.m.  

  

 

 

 

Page 23 of 185



Page 24 of 185



Page 25 of 185



 

1 | P a g e  
  

RESOLUTION NO.  22-07 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT MODIFYING DISTIRCT 

BYLAWS REGARDING BOARD COMMITTEES. 

 

WHEREAS, the Northern Inyo Healthcare District has adopted bylaws that govern 

the operation of the District and its officers; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors finds that modifications to the bylaws regarding 

Board committees are necessary to improve committee efficiency and Board oversight. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTRORS OF THE NORTHERN 

INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

  

SECTION 1.  Article VI (“Committees”) of the Northern Inyo Healthcare District Bylaws is 

hereby amended to read as follows: 

ARTICLE VI 
 

COMMITTEES 
 
 
Section 1.  COMMITTEES 
 
a)  The Board of Directors may sit as a Committee of the Whole on any and all 

matters, or may create such Standing Committees, ad hoc Committees, or task 
force Committees as are deemed appropriate. 

 
b)  The duties of these committees shall be to develop and make policy 

recommendations to the Board and to perform such other functions as shall be 
stated in these bylaws or in the resolution or motion creating the committee.  
Each Standing Committee will include two Board members, one of whom shall 
act as President of the Standing Committee. The President and Board members 

Page 26 of 185



 

2 | P a g e  
  

of each Standing Committee shall be appointed by the President of the Board 
and approved by the Board at the earliest possible time at the beginning of each 
calendar year and shall serve for one year, or until a successor has been 
appointed and approved. Other members of each standing committee are 
automatically members with one year terms, or until a successor has been 
appointed and approved.  The two Board members shall be the only voting 
members of each Standing Committee, unless otherwise provided for in these 
Bylaws. 

 
c) Special or ad hoc committees may be appointed by the President with the 

approval of the Board of Directors for such specific tasks as circumstances 
warrant. Special committees may consist only of Board members, or they may 
include individuals not on the Board.  Voting rights on special committees shall 
be specified by the Board of Directors at the time the committee is created.  No 
committee so appointed shall have any power or authority to commit the Board of 
Directors or the District in any manner; however, the Board may direct the 
particular committee to act for and on its behalf, by special vote. 

 
d)  All committees shall keep minutes of each meeting and shall maintain their 

minutes at the District offices and shall submit reports to the Board as requested. 
 
e)    Aside from committees upon which the President is appointed as a voting 

member, the President of the Board shall be an ex officio member of each 
committee, without being a voting member.   The President shall be notified of all 
committee meetings. 

 
  

Section 2.  STANDING COMMITTTEES 
 
Governance Committee:  Members of this standing committee shall include two 
representatives from the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer.  The two 
members of the Board of Directors shall be the only members of the Committee with 
voting privileges.  The function of this Committee is to recommend amendments or 
changes to the District bylaws and Board policies.  This Committee shall commence an 
on-going review of the Bylaws to ensure that the Bylaws are maintained current and 
consistent with the Board’s and the District’s functions and operations.  This Committee 
shall also review the Board Policy Manual, at least every four years, and make 
recommendations to the Board on any additions or deletions of policies.  The 
Committee shall also be responsible for development of a format for the evaluation of 
the Chief Executive Officer, and for the conduct of a periodic evaluation.  This 
Committee shall also be responsible for developing a format and administering the 
Board of Directors’ periodic self-evaluations.  Such Board evaluation shall include an 
annual assessment of resolution of safety and quality issues and initiatives. 
 
 
 

Page 27 of 185



 

3 | P a g e  
  

Section 3.  AD HOC COMMITTEES 
 
As needed, and from time to time, the Board shall create the following ad hoc 
committees as follows: 
 
a) Quality and Safety Committee:   Two members of the Board shall comprise the 

Quality and Safety Committee, being advised by the Chief Executive Officer, the 
Medical Executive Committee, the Chief of Staff, and Medical Staff members 
from time to time.  The Quality and Safety Committee shall: 

 
 (1) Analyze data regarding safety and quality of care, treatment and services 

and establish priorities for performance improvement. 
 
 (2) Oversee the Medical staff’s fulfillment of its responsibilities in accordance 

with the Medical Staff Bylaws, applicable law and regulation, and accreditation 
standards.   

 
 (3) Ensure that recommendations from the Medical Executive Committee and 

Medical Staff are made in accordance with the standards and requirements of 
the Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and Regulations with regard to: 

 
• completed applications for initial staff appointment, initial staff 

category assignment, initial department/divisional affiliation, 
membership prerogatives and initial clinical privileges; 

•  completed applications for reappointment of medical staff, staff 
category, clinical privileges; 

•  establishment of categories of Allied Health Professionals 
permitted to practice at the hospital, the appointment and 
reappointment of Allied Health Professionals and privileges 
granted to Allied Health Professionals. 

 
 (4) Provide a system for resolving conflicts that could adversely affect safety 

or quality of care among individuals working within the hospital environment. 
 
 (5)  Ensure that adequate resources are allocated for maintaining safety and 

quality care, treatment and services. 
 
 (6) Analyze findings and recommendations from the Hospital’s administrative 

review and evaluation activities, including system or process failures and actions 
taken to improve safety, both proactively and in response to actual occurrences. 

 
 (7) Assess the effectiveness and results of the quality review, utilization 

review, performance improvement, and risk management programs. 
 
 (8) Perform such other duties concerning safety and quality of care matters as 

may be necessary. 

Page 28 of 185



 

4 | P a g e  
  

 
 
b) Finance Committee:  Two members of the Board shall comprise the Finance 

Committee.  The Finance Committee, in consultation with the Chief Executive 
Officer, shall be responsible for reviewing and monitoring the annual budget and, 
as appropriate, its long term capital expenditure plan.  The Finance Committee 
shall oversee retention of auditors and approve audits, and business plans 
pursuant to subsidiary organizations.  

 
 
c) Community Benefit Committee:  The members of this Committee shall be two 

members of the Board of Directors.  The Committee shall be assisted, as 
needed, by the Chief Executive Officer and the Director of Community and 
Government Affairs, along with any other staff or representatives designated by 
the Committee.  The two members of the Board of Directors shall be the only 
members of the Committee with voting privileges. This Committee shall have 
general responsibility for development and implementation of an achievable 
Community Benefit Initiative, including identification of a process by which the 
initiative can be pursued, achieved, and sustained.  The Committee will assess 
and marshal resources available to the District to advance the Initiative in a 
manner responsive to community health needs, prioritized based on a balance of 
need and outcome attainability, and, where helpful, in partnership with District 
and community stakeholders.  

 

SECTION 2.  The Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Resolution.      

 

 PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of May, 2022. 

 

 _______________________________ 

 Jody Veenker, Chair 

 Board of Director  

 

ATTEST: 

____________________________ 

Erika Hernandez, Board Clerk   

Page 29 of 185



 

1 | P a g e  
  

RESOLUTION NO.  22-08 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT MODIFYING DISTIRCT 

BYLAWS REGARDING BOARD COMMITTEES. 

 

WHEREAS, the Northern Inyo Healthcare District has adopted bylaws that govern 

the operation of the District and its officers; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors finds that modifications to the bylaws regarding 

Board committees are necessary to improve committee efficiency and Board oversight. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTRORS OF THE NORTHERN 

INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

  

SECTION 1.  Article VI (“Committees”) of the Northern Inyo Healthcare District Bylaws is 

hereby amended to read as follows: 

ARTICLE VI 
 

COMMITTEES 
 
 
Section 1. COMMITTEES 
 
a)  The Board of Directors may sit as a Committee of the Whole on any and all 

matters, or may create such Standing Committees, ad hoc Committees, or task 
force Committees as are deemed appropriate. 

 
b)  The duties of these committees shall be to develop and make policy 

recommendations to the Board and to perform such other functions as shall be 
stated in these bylaws or in the resolution or motion creating the committee.  
Each Standing Committee will include two Board members, one of whom shall 
act as President of the Standing Committee. The President and Board members 

Page 30 of 185



 

2 | P a g e  
  

of each Standing Committee shall be appointed by the President of the Board 
and approved by the Board at the earliest possible time at the beginning of each 
calendar year and shall serve for one year, or until a successor has been 
appointed and approved. Other members of each standing committee are 
automatically members with one year terms, or until a successor has been 
appointed and approved.  The two Board members shall be the only voting 
members of each Standing Committee, unless otherwise provided for in these 
Bylaws. 

 
c) Special or ad hoc committees may be appointed by the President with the 

approval of the Board of Directors for such specific tasks as circumstances 
warrant. Special committees may consist only of Board members, or they may 
include individuals not on the Board.  Voting rights on special committees shall 
be specified by the Board of Directors at the time the committee is created.  No 
committee so appointed shall have any power or authority to commit the Board of 
Directors or the District in any manner; however, the Board may direct the 
particular committee to act for and on its behalf, by special vote. 

 
d)  All committees shall keep minutes of each meeting and shall maintain their 

minutes at the District offices and shall submit reports to the Board as requested. 
 
e)    Aside from committees upon which the President is appointed as a voting 

member, the President of the Board shall be an ex officio member of each 
committee, without being a voting member.   The President shall be notified of all 
committee meetings. 

 
  

Section 2. AD HOC COMMITTEES 
 
As needed, and from time to time, the Board shall create the following ad hoc 
committees as follows: 
 
a) Quality and Safety Committee:   Two members of the Board shall comprise the 

Quality and Safety Committee, being advised by the Chief Executive Officer, the 
Medical Executive Committee, the Chief of Staff, and Medical Staff members 
from time to time.  The Quality and Safety Committee shall: 

 
 (1) Analyze data regarding safety and quality of care, treatment and services 

and establish priorities for performance improvement. 
 
 (2) Oversee the Medical staff’s fulfillment of its responsibilities in accordance 

with the Medical Staff Bylaws, applicable law and regulation, and accreditation 
standards.   

 

Page 31 of 185



 

3 | P a g e  
  

 (3) Ensure that recommendations from the Medical Executive Committee and 
Medical Staff are made in accordance with the standards and requirements of 
the Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and Regulations with regard to: 

 
• completed applications for initial staff appointment, initial staff 

category assignment, initial department/divisional affiliation, 
membership prerogatives and initial clinical privileges; 

•  completed applications for reappointment of medical staff, staff 
category, clinical privileges; 

•  establishment of categories of Allied Health Professionals 
permitted to practice at the hospital, the appointment and 
reappointment of Allied Health Professionals and privileges 
granted to Allied Health Professionals. 

 
 (4) Provide a system for resolving conflicts that could adversely affect safety 

or quality of care among individuals working within the hospital environment. 
 
 (5)  Ensure that adequate resources are allocated for maintaining safety and 

quality care, treatment and services. 
 
 (6) Analyze findings and recommendations from the Hospital’s administrative 

review and evaluation activities, including system or process failures and actions 
taken to improve safety, both proactively and in response to actual occurrences. 

 
 (7) Assess the effectiveness and results of the quality review, utilization 

review, performance improvement, and risk management programs. 
 
 (8) Perform such other duties concerning safety and quality of care matters as 

may be necessary. 
 
 
b) Finance Committee:  Two members of the Board shall comprise the Finance 

Committee.  The Finance Committee, in consultation with the Chief Executive 
Officer, shall be responsible for reviewing and monitoring the annual budget and, 
as appropriate, its long term capital expenditure plan.  The Finance Committee 
shall oversee retention of auditors and approve audits, and business plans 
pursuant to subsidiary organizations.  

 
c) Governance Committee:  Members of this standing committee shall include two 

representatives from the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer.  The 
two members of the Board of Directors shall be the only members of the 
Committee with voting privileges.  The function of this Committee is to 
recommend amendments or changes to the District bylaws and Board policies.  
This Committee shall commence an on-going review of the Bylaws to ensure that 
the Bylaws are maintained current and consistent with the Board’s and the 
District’s functions and operations.  This Committee shall also review the Board 

Page 32 of 185



 

4 | P a g e  
  

Policy Manual, at least every four years, and make recommendations to the 
Board on any additions or deletions of policies.  The Committee shall also be 
responsible for development of a format for the evaluation of the Chief Executive 
Officer, and for the conduct of a periodic evaluation.  This Committee shall also 
be responsible for developing a format and administering the Board of Directors’ 
periodic self-evaluations.  Such Board evaluation shall include an annual 
assessment of resolution of safety and quality issues and initiatives. 

 
 
d) Community Benefit Committee:  The members of this Committee shall be two 

members of the Board of Directors.  The Committee shall be assisted, as 
needed, by the Chief Executive Officer and the Director of Community and 
Government Affairs, along with any other staff or representatives designated by 
the Committee.  The two members of the Board of Directors shall be the only 
members of the Committee with voting privileges. This Committee shall have 
general responsibility for development and implementation of an achievable 
Community Benefit Initiative, including identification of a process by which the 
initiative can be pursued, achieved, and sustained.  The Committee will assess 
and marshal resources available to the District to advance the Initiative in a 
manner responsive to community health needs, prioritized based on a balance of 
need and outcome attainability, and, where helpful, in partnership with District 
and community stakeholders.  

 

SECTION 2.  The Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Resolution.      

 

 PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of May, 2022. 

 

 _______________________________ 

 Jody Veenker, Chair 

 Board of Director 

 

ATTEST: 

____________________________ 

Erika Hernandez, Board Clerk   

Page 33 of 185



Page 34 of 185



 
RESOLUTION NO. 22-09 

 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

REQUESTING CONSOLIDATION OF ELECTION 
 
 
 
 
 WHERAS, it is necessary that three (3) directors be elected to the Board of 
Directors of Northern Inyo Healthcare District, one each from Zones II, III, and V of said 
District; and 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of Northern 
Inyo Healthcare District that it request that the Board of Supervisors of the  
County of Inyo, State of California, consolidate said election of directors with the 
statewide election to be held on November 8, 2022; and, 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THE Hospital Chief Executive Officer be, 
and is hereby directed to file copies of this Resolution with said Board of Supervisors of 
the County of Inyo, State of California, and the County Clerk-Recorder, Registrar of 
Voters of said County. 
 
 Adopted, signed and approved this 18th day of May, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 

      
 _______________________________ 

Jody Veenker, Chair  
 

 
 
       Attest: ______________________________ 
       Topah Spoonhunter, Secretary 
 

Page 35 of 185



 
 

TO:  NIHD Board of Directors 
FROM:  Sierra Bourne, MD, Chief of Medical Staff 
DATE:  May 4, 2022 
RE:  Medical Executive Committee Report 
 
The Medical Executive Committee met on this date. Following careful review and consideration, the Committee 
agreed to recommend the following to the NIHD Board of Directors: 

 
A. Medical Staff Appointments (action item) 

1. Paul Kim, MD (anesthesiology) – Active Staff 
2. Carolyn Saba, MD (anesthesiology) – Courtesy Staff 
3. Leena Sumitra, MD (psychiatry) – Telemedicine Staff 

 
B. Change in Medical Staff Category (action item)  

1. Farres Ahmed, MD (radiology) – requested to be changed from Courtesy Staff to Active Staff.  
 

C. Medical Staff Privilege Form (action item) 
1. Cardiovascular Disease 

 
D. Medical Staff Resignations (action item) 

1. Edmund Pillsbury, MD (radiology) – effective 2/23/22 – in good standing 
2. Matthew Wise, MD (obstetrics & gynecology) – effective 2/24/22 – in good standing 
3. Felix Karp, MD (hospitalist) – effective 4/12/22 – in good standing 

  
E. Policies (action item) 

1. Access to Medications in the Absence of the Pharmacist 
2. Barcode Medication Administration 
3. Cardiac Arrest in the OR 
4. Cleaning and Care of Surgical Instruments 
5. Diet Texture Ordering 
6. Focused and Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation 
7. High Alert Medications: Preparation, Dispensing, Storage 
8. Laser Safety 
9. Medical Staff Professional Conduct Policy  
10. Quality Assurance and Performance Improvement Plan 
11. Safe Patient Handling – Minimal Lift Program 
12. Sentinel Event/Serious Harm Reporting and Prevention 
13. Single-Dose vs. Multi-Dose Vial Policy 
14. Surgeries Requiring An Assistant 

 
F. Medical Executive Committee Meeting Report (information item) 

 
 
 

 

NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 
Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, California 93514 

          Medical Staff Office 
    (760) 873-2174     voice 
     (760) 873-2130     fax 
      

Page 36 of 185



Cardiovascular Disease
Delineation of Privileges

Applicant's Name: ,

Instructions:     
 

1. Click the Request checkbox at the top of a group to request all privileges in that group.    
2. Uncheck any privileges you do not want to request in that group.
3. Sign form electronically and submit with any required documentation.

 

Facilities
 NIHD

Required Qualifications
Education/Training Completion of an ACGME or AOA accredited Residency training program in Internal Medicine.

AND Completion of an ACGME accredited fellowship training program in Cardiovascular
Disease or an AOA accredited fellowship training program in Cardiology.

Certification Current certification or active participation in the examination process leading to certification
in Internal Medicine by the American Board of Internal Medicine or AOA equivalent.
AND Current certification or active participation in the examination process leading to
certification in Cardiovascular Disease by the American Board of Internal Medicine or AOA
equivalent.

Clinical Experience
(Initial)

Applicant must provide documentation of provision of cardiovascular disease services
representative of the scope and complexity of the privileges requested during the previous 24
months. (waived for applicants who completed training during the previous year).

Clinical Experience
(Reappointment)

Applicant must provide documentation of provision of clinical services representative of the
scope and complexity of privileges requested during the previous 24 months.

Additional
Qualifications for
Device Related
Privileges

Applicant must have completed manufacturer designated training including human subjects
experience when device related privileges are requested OR provide documentation of
training and current clinical competence if training occurred during fellowship.

 
Core Privileges in Cardiovascular Disease

Description: Evaluation, diagnosis, consultation and treatment of patients with acute and chronic cardiovascular
conditions.

 

✓

Dr. Provider Test, MD Granted:

Published: 4/15/2022 9:46:16 AM Cardiovascular Disease Page 1 of 3

Page 37 of 185



FPPE (Department Chief to select)

Qualifications

R
eq

u
est

Check the Request checkbox to select all privileges listed below.
Uncheck any privileges you do not wish to request in the group.

 

Admit to inpatient or appropriate level of care

Perform history and physical examination

Evaluate, diagnose, provide consultation and medically manage and treat patients with cardiovascular
complaints. Privileges include medical management of general medical conditions which are encountered in
the course of caring for the cardiovascular patient.

Procedures

Arterial line insertion

Elective cardioversion

Electrocardiogram (EKG) interpretation including ambulatory monitoring

Insertion of central venous catheter

Transthoracic echocardiography

Stress testing: exercise or pharmacologic

Placement of temporary transvenous pacemaker

5 retrospective chart reviews reflective of the scope and complexity of privileges granted

 
Transesophageal Echocardiography (TEE)

Description: Placement of the transesophageal probe, image acquisition and interpretation.

 

Education/Training Successful completion of an ACGME accredited residency or fellowship training program
that included education and direct experience in transthoracic echocardiography (TEE)
with performance and interpretation of supervised cases. Confirmation of completion of
level 2 training and current clinical competence from the residency or fellowship program
director if the training was completed during the previous 24 months
OR National Board of Echocardiography certification in TEE.

Clinical Experience
(Initial)

Documentation of ongoing clinical practice representative of the scope of privileges
requested during the previous 24 months.

Clinical Experience
(Reappointment)

Documentation of ongoing clinical practice representative of the scope of privileges
requested during the previous 24 months.

R
eq

u
est

Check the Request checkbox to select all privileges listed below.
Uncheck any privileges you do not wish to request in the group.

 

Transesophageal Echocardiography (TEE) including probe placement, image acquisition and interpretation

Dr. Provider Test, MD Granted:

Published: 4/15/2022 9:46:16 AM Cardiovascular Disease Page 2 of 3

Page 38 of 185



FPPE (Department Chief to select)

Acknowledgment of Applicant

Department Chief Recommendation - Privileges

Concurrent review of 1 case
Retrospective review of 3 cases
Feedback from Cardiopulmonary Director

NIHDPractitioner's Signature

I have reviewed the requested clinical privileges and supporting documentation and my recommendation is based
upon the review of supporting documentation and/or my personal knowledge regarding the applicant's performance
of the privileges requested:
Privilege Condition/Modification/Deletion/Explanation
 
 

t

I have requested only those privileges for which by education, training, health status, current experience, and demonstrated 
competency I believe that I am competent to perform and that I wish to exercise at Northern Inyo Healthcare District and I 
understand that:   
 
A.  In exercising any clinical privileges granted, I am constrained by applicable Hospital and Medical Staff policies and rules 
applicable generally and any applicable to the particular situation.   
 
B.  Any restriction on the clinical privileges granted to me is waived in an emergency situation and in such situation my actions are 
governed by the applicable section of the Medical Staff Bylaws or related documents. 
                

Dr. Provider Test, MD Granted:

Published: 4/15/2022 9:46:16 AM Cardiovascular Disease Page 3 of 3

Page 39 of 185



 

1 
Access to Medications in the Absence of the Pharmacist 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

Title: Access to Medications in the Absence of the Pharmacist 

Owner: Acting Director of Pharmacy Department: Pharmacy 

Scope:  District Wide 

Date Last Modified: 01/19/2022 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 

Version: 5 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 01/20/2010 

 

PURPOSE: 

To delineate a system for safely providing medications to meet patient needs when the pharmacy is closed. 

 

POLICY: Pharmacist-on-call 

 

1. Pharmacy hours are 0630 to 1700.  From 1701 through 0629, seven days per week, a pharmacist will be 

available by telephone and will be within 20 minutes of the hospital.   

2. The pharmacist on call will verify the orders in the pharmacy electronic health record (aka information 

system) through a secure computer connection after reviewing the orders for appropriateness and safety. 

Overrides are not permitted except in extreme emergencies.   

3. These medications removed without pharmacist review via override are reviewed for appropriateness 

prior to administration with special attention given to: 

a) Dose 

b) Frequency 

c) Route of administration. 

d) Therapeutic duplication 

e) Drug allergies or sensitivities 

f) Potential interactions with other medication, food or nutritional products. 

g) Laboratory values 

 

4. Only medications determined by the Director of Pharmacy with approval of the Pharmacy and 

Therapeutics Committee will be available for override including the following items: 

a) Naloxone 

b) Dextrose 50% 

c) Diphenhydramine 

d) Flumazenil 

e) Parenteral Analgesics 

f) Ondansetron (Zofran) parenteral and ODT (disintegrating tablets). 

g) Promethazine 

h) Prochlorperazine 

i) Plasma expanders w/o potassium. 

j) Nitroglycerine (NTG) sublingual tablets. 

k) RSI Kits – Rapid Sequence Intubation Kits 

l) Hemorrhage Kits – limited to OB 

m) Parenteral Benzodiazepines 

Page 40 of 185



 

2 
Access to Medications in the Absence of the Pharmacist 

n) Pitocin Drips 

 

5. An override report will be generated automatically each day by the automatic dispensing unit (Omnicell) 

and will be analyzed by the incoming morning pharmacist on duty for appropriateness. 

6. Performance improvement will be taken by the Director of Pharmacy for any unnecessary overrides. 

7. The pharmacy shall maintain medications in the automated dispensing cabinets (Omnicell) for use 

throughout the District. 

8. The pharmacist-on-call will be available for relevant questions that cannot wait until the Pharmacy re-

opens.   

9. The pharmacist-on-call will return to the hospital (call-back) whenever the pharmacist-on-call and the 

nursing supervisor agree to the need.   

 

Floor Stock 

 

1. Other than medications available for administration that are stored in the Automatic Dispensing Units, 

no medications shall be available for use on any nursing unit. 

 

Automated Dispensing Units 

         

1. The Director of Pharmacy in consultation with the unit Supervisor shall determine the nature and 

quantity of medications in the automatic dispensing units (Omnicell) with approval by the Pharmacy 

and Therapeutics Committee. 

2. The pharmacy staff will stock or restock the automatic dispensing (Omnicell) units in accordance with 

the Automatic Dispensing Unit policy. 

3. Pharmacists and pharmacy personnel will ensure that all medication containers are labeled with the 

drug name, strength, manufacturer, lot number, and expiration date in the dispensing cabinets 

(Omnicell). 

4. Each business day when the pharmacy department opens the staff shall: 

a) Review the medications used since the pharmacy last closed. 

b) Restock the after-hours medication supply up to the established par levels. 

c) Adjudicate the controlled substance utilization. 

5. All pharmaceuticals stored or used by any department in the District shall be under the supervision of 

the Pharmacy Department. 

6. Any repackaging performed in the pharmacy will be done under the supervision of the pharmacist.  All 

repackaged items shall be labeled with the following information: 

a) Name of ingredient(s). 

b) Strength and dosage form (if indicated). 

c) Manufacturer  

d) Lot number and expiration date. 

e) Date of repackaging followed by the initials of the preparer and logged for archival. 

7. Only pharmacy personnel may transfer, repackage or relabel medication. 

8. A pharmacist will verify all technician performed work prior to stocking or delivering out of the 

department. 

9. Only the necessary amount of medication may be removed by authorized personnel from the automatic 

dispensing cabinets. 

 

Page 41 of 185



 

3 
Access to Medications in the Absence of the Pharmacist 

 

Pharmacy Access after Pharmacy Hours 

 

1. There shall be no access to the pharmacy by anyone other than a registered pharmacist. 

2. In the event of a failure of the key card system to gain access to pharmacy two “disaster” keys to the 

pharmacy exist.  One shall be in the possession of the Pharmacy Director and the other shall be kept in 

the Automatic Dispensing Unit in Diagnostic Imaging in a sealed and tamper-evident envelope that shall 

only be accessible by one of the registered pharmacist staff at NIHD. 

 

Crash Cart Medication Trays 

 

1. One back up set of 4 Crash Cart medication trays will be kept in the Nursing Supervisor Office in a 

locked cabinet. 

2. If the nursing supervisor accesses the back-up trays, the supervisor will notify the pharmacy or the 

relieving supervisor who will notify the pharmacy of the use of the back-up trays. 

 

REFERENCES:  

1. California Board of Pharmacy 4023.5, 4029, 4106.5, 4116 

2. The Joint Commission (CAMCAH manual) (Jan 2022) Standard MM.05.01.13  

 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Pharmacist Clinical Interventions 

2. Medication Override Policy 

3. Pharmacy and Medication Security 

4. Access to Medications in the Absence of the Pharmacist 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

On call records must be kept for 6 years.  

 

 

Supersedes: v.4 Access to Medications in the Absence of the Pharmacist 

 

Page 42 of 185



 

1 
Barcode Medication Administration 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

Title: Barcode Medication Administration 

Owner: Acting Director of Pharmacy Department: Pharmacy 

Scope:  Hospital Wide 

Date Last Modified: 01/17/2022 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 

Version: 2 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date:  02/25/2015 

 

PURPOSE:  

To define use of Bar Code Medication Administration (BCMA) at NIHD. 

POLICY: 

1. Upon admission to the hospital, a barcoded name band shall be applied to all patients by (admitting or 

the admitting nurse). 

2. There shall be only one active barcoded name band per patient. 

3. Nursing staff shall replace worn, missing, or inaccurate name bands as soon as discovered by hospital 

staff. 

4. Northern Inyo Healthcare District staff permitted by State law and hospital policy to administer 

medications shall use the barcode system wherever it is implemented in facility.  Current locations with 

bar code medication administration include: 

1. Medical-Surgical Unit 

2. Intensive Care Unit 

3. Perinatal Unit 

4. Emergency Department 

5. Perioperative Services 

 

PROCEDURE: 

1. Obtain the patient's medication from the automated dispensing machine per Automated Dispensing Unit 

policy and procedure, or from the medication storage device for medications mixed and labeled by 

pharmacy. 

2. Select the patient to whom the medication is to be administered in the electronic medication 

administration record (MAR). 

3. Verify the label on the medication with the patient’s MAR before scanning 

4. Identify the patient using two (2) patient identifiers 

5. Scan the barcode on the patient’s identification name band before medication administration.  A green 

check mark will verify that the patient scanned is the patient whose MAR is open. 

6. Scan the barcode on each medication immediately before administration to verify: 

1. The right patient 

2. Right medication 

3. Right time 

4. Right dose 

5. Right route 

Page 43 of 185



 

2 
Barcode Medication Administration 

 

7. Verify the allergy information displayed in barcode system before medication administration with 

information from another source, i.e., allergy bracelet, asking patients to recite allergies before 

medication administration. 

8. The barcode system will give the nurse a visual warning if a medication cannot be matched with the 

order. 

9. If a warning is issued, the nurse shall not administer the medication until the discrepancy is resolved by 

calling the pharmacist. 

10. When all the medications for the administration have been scanned, click “CONFIRM.”  The system 

will show a green check mark for confirmation. 

11. Administer the medications. 

12. Click “Chart” 

13. Complete any reason requirements (for example, late admin reason, early admin reason, pain scale, etc.) 

 

STAFF EDUCATION: 

1. All clinical staff permitted to administer medications in this hospital shall receive education addressing 

the hospital’s barcoding system at the time of orientation and as needed. 

2. Staff shall receive training as needed when the barcode system is updated. 

 

TROUBLE SHOOTING: 

For troubleshooting please call the pharmacist. 

INFECTION PREVENTION AND CONTROL: 

Barcoding system equipment shall be cleaned per manufacturer’s recommendation.  (See link in reference list.) 

PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT: 

The NIHD Medication Administration Improvement Committee (MAIC) and the Pharmacy and Therapeutics 

Committee (P&T) in conjunction with the Pharmacy Department shall develop, implement and proactively 

conduct continuous improvement activities on the use of barcoding in this hospital as part of the Medication 

Error Reduction Plan. 

DOWNTIME: 

The IT Department, Nursing Department and Pharmacy Department shall ensure that policies and procedures 

are in place to address contingency plans during downtime and that the appropriate staff is notified of scheduled 

downtimes. 

 

REFERENCES: 

1. The Joint Commission (CAMCAH manual) (Jan 2022) Standard PI.01.01.01 EP 12 

2. The Joint Commission (CAMCAH manual) (Jan 2022) Standard MM.08.01.01 EP 1  

3. Honeywell Barcode Scanner manufacturer’s recommendation link 

https://sps.honeywell.com/us/en/support/blog/productivity/honeywell-disinfectant-ready-housing-

cleaning-and-disinfecting-guide 

Page 44 of 185

https://sps.honeywell.com/us/en/support/blog/productivity/honeywell-disinfectant-ready-housing-cleaning-and-disinfecting-guide
https://sps.honeywell.com/us/en/support/blog/productivity/honeywell-disinfectant-ready-housing-cleaning-and-disinfecting-guide


 

3 
Barcode Medication Administration 

4. Disinfection, non-critical patient care equipment, ambulatory care 

https://procedures.lww.com/lnp/view.do?pId=3358992&hits=care,equipment,disinfect,patient,disinfecte

d,noncritical,disinfecting,patients,disinfection&a=false&ad=false&q=disinfection%20noncritical%20pat

ient%20care%20equipment 

 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

Medication administration is documented in the medical record, which is maintained by NIHD records 

department.   

Quality records and data are maintained for 10 years.  

  

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Administration of Drugs and Biologicals  

2. Chemotherapy Administration and Precautions  

3. Intravenous Medication Policies  

 

Supersedes: v.1 Barcode Medication Administration* 

 

Page 45 of 185



 

1 
Cardiac Arrest in the OR 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

Title: Cardiac Arrest in the OR 

Owner: Perioperative Manager Department: PACU 

Scope: Surgery 

Date Last Modified: 03/17/2022 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 

Version: 4 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 03/07/2007 

 

PURPOSE: 

To provide life support for the patient experiencing cardiac or respiratory arrest in the operating room 

 

POLICY: 

Resuscitation measures will be instituted immediately upon cessation of cardiac or respiratory function in the 

patient undergoing surgical intervention unless otherwise specified on the operative consent.   

Because Surgery is a restricted area and surgical procedures are done under sterile set-up, a “Code Blue” is not 

normally paged overhead.  The circulating RN will call an internal page “Perioperative Code Blue, OR Room 

#” in the Perioperative Unit and all Perioperative staff will respond immediately to this internal page. The 

circulating RN will call the House Supervisor to Surgery and the House Supervisor will elicit additional help as 

needed for an emergency in Surgery.  

A Code Blue Debriefing will be completed after every Code Blue. 

All codes will be reviewed by the Resuscitation Committee.  

All codes will be peer reviewed as a critical indicator at the Surgery, Tissue, Transfusion, Anesthesia 

Committee.  

 

PROCEDURE: 

The anesthesiologist or the surgeon performs the CODE BLUE TEAM LEADER role 

The circulating RN performs or delegates the RN CODE LEADER role:  

1. Coordinates team members and treatment.  Ascertains physician in charge and receives orders 

directly from that physician. 

2. Insures that all Basic Life Support (BLS) is delivered per latest American Heart Association (AHA) 

standards, including proper rate and depth of compressions, adequate changes in compressor role, 

and quick resumption of cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) after interventions or pulse checks. 

3. Follows ACLS and PALS algorithms and performs cardioversion, pacing, defibrillation, monitors 

patients and administers drugs as per Medical Staff orders.  All procedures, treatments, and 

medications will be carried out per order of the physician, with the use of closed loop 

communication. 

4. All procedures, treatments, and medications will be communicated to the recorder to insure complete 

and timely documentation. 

5. Insures that traffic, noise and unnecessary conversations are kept to a minimum. 

Page 46 of 185



 

2 
Cardiac Arrest in the OR 

6. For C-sections - document on the Resuscitation Record for any infant code until the House 

Supervisor arrives and can take over or reassign this role 

7. Delegates a team member to ensure a Social Worker, Case Manager or staff member is assigned to 

family if present during the resuscitation. 

 

A Surgery RN or PACU RN assumes the CODE ASSIST RN role: 

1. Positions bed and removes head board 

2. Brings crash cart into OR Suite 

3. Applies fast patches and/or monitor leads from the defibrillator. 

4. Runs initial monitor strip. 

5. Assist with any additional procedures as needed. 

6. Insert NG tube or delegate to another staff member. 

7. Insert Foley catheter or delegate to another staff member. 

8. Set up procedure trays as needed or prepare Intra-osseous (IO) for physician. 

9. Insures that vital signs are done every 5 minutes if blood pressure and pulse present 

Two other staff members: RNs, Scrub techs, Unit Clerks, or CNAs perform the CODE COMPRESSIONS: 

1. Places backboard under patient.  This can be found on the back of the crash cart.  

2. Takes over cardiac compressions.  This requires frequent changes with no person performing 

compression for longer than 2 minutes at a time.  This is to insure good quality compressions are 

maintained and to avoid fatiguing staff 

The House Supervisor performs or delegates the CODE RECORDER role: 

1. Recorder - records all information during code on code sheet 

2. Accurately times start of Code and all treatments. 

3. Charts VS Q 5 min. when BP and pulse present or insures that an electronic record of vital signs is 

maintained. 

4. Prompts Code Leader for appropriate ACLS and PALS protocols. 

5. Sees that an Unusual Occurrence Report (UOR) will be filled out 

 

CIRCULATING NURSE RESPONSIBILITIES: 

1. All nurses employed in the operating room must have Advanced Cardiac Life Support and Pediatric 

Advanced Life Support certificates.  

2. It is the responsibility of every nurse in the operating room to know: 

 The location and use of emergency call buttons in each surgical suite.  

 The location of the crash cart /defibrillator and be familiar with its functions. 

 Location and contents of emergency medications and supplies in each surgical suite. 

 

SCRUB TECH or RN RESPONSIBILITIES: 

1. It is the responsibility of the scrub person to institute measures to maintain sterility of field 

including instrument table and mayo stand. 

2. Assist as needed in sterile procedures. 

 

Page 47 of 185



 

3 
Cardiac Arrest in the OR 

DOCUMENTATION: 

1. A Code Blue form (located on the Crash Cart) should be completed. 

2. Documentation shall include, but not limited to: 

 Time of arrest 

 Medications administered, times of administration. 

 Time of defibrillation, number of joules. 

 Personnel 

 Procedures performed 

 Time code stopped and by whom 

 

REFERENCES: 

1. AORN: “Medication Safety” Recommendation III, “Positioning the Patient”, “Information 

Management” Recommendation IV   

2. TJC:  PC 03.01.01, 03.01.05, and NPSG 03.04.01  

3. California Code of Regulations: Title 22 Standards: 70217, 70223 b #3 & e, 70225, 70227, 70233, 

70237 

4. American Heart Association: Advanced Cardiac Life Support 

 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

Documentation is maintained within the medical record by the NIHD Medical Records Department. 

 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Code Blue Procedure – Code Blue Team 

2. Code Blue (Cardiac Arrest) Documentation 

 

Supersedes: v.3 Cardiac Arrest in the OR 

 

Page 48 of 185



 

1 
Cleaning and Care of Surgical Instruments 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

Title: Cleaning and Care of Surgical Instruments 

Owner: DON Perioperative Services Department: Sterile Processing 

Scope:  Sterile Processing and Surgery 

Date Last Modified: 01/31/2022 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 

Version: 5 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 02/04/2010 

 

PURPOSE: 

Personnel in Sterile Processing have a vital role in the continuing battle against microorganisms.  The proper 

handling of equipment that has been used or contaminated is not a mere function, but an obligation for patient 

and personnel safety.  Continuous emphasis must be exerted in order to have personnel carry out the necessary 

steps.   

POLICY: 

Manufacturer’s written, validated instructions for handling and reprocessing should be obtained and evaluated 

to determine the ability to adequately clean and reprocess the equipment. Manufacturer’s written instructions 

should be used to determine how to properly clean and sterilize instruments. 

It is our policy NOT TO REPROCESS SINGLE USE ITEMS for patient use. All personnel practice 

standardized precautions and wear protective gown, glasses, goggles and gloves when appropriate. 

 

PROCEDURE: 

New, Repaired, or Refurbished Instruments: 

 All new, repaired or refurbished instruments should be examined, cleaned, and sterilized according to 

manufacturer’s written instructions before use. 

 All moving parts, tips, box locks, ratchets, screws and cutting edges should be examined for defects and 

to ensure proper working order. 

 Instruments should be pre-treated according to manufacturer’s written instructions, when indicated. 

 All instruments should be decontaminated according to manufacturer’s written instructions before use. 

 All instruments should be sterilized according to manufacturer’s written instructions before use. 

 

Loaner Instruments 

Upon scheduling a procedure that requires loaner instrumentation, the Surgery Manager, Materials Management 

Analyst or designee contacts the vendor or other hospital facility to arrange a timely delivery of instruments and 

implants. 

 Loaner instruments should be requested when the surgery is scheduled, and delivered in time for the 

surgical procedure to allow inspection and inventory of instruments. 

 Loaner instruments should be logged in and inventoried before use. 

 Loaner instruments should be considered contaminated and are delivered to the decontamination area for 

processing. 

Page 49 of 185



 

2 
Cleaning and Care of Surgical Instruments 

 All moving parts, tips, box locks, ratchets, screws and cutting edges should be examined for defects and 

to ensure proper working order.  

 Vendors will provide manufacturers’ written instructions for disassembly, cleaning, packaging and 

sterilization of instruments and implants. 

 All loaner instruments and implants will be cleaned, inspected, inventoried, wrapped, sterilized, cooled, 

documented and tracked to each patient according to published standards and Manufacturer instructions, 

and hospital policy and procedure. 

 Quality control sterilization monitoring will be done per hospital policy and procedures. 

 If an item must be released from quarantine because of a documented necessity, all other monitors: 

sterilization cards, chemical integrator, and biological indicator should be reviewed and documentation 

reflects that the item was released without the results of the Biological Indicator being known. The 

physician will be notified of the situation. 

 After the surgical procedure is completed, the borrowed instruments should be disassembled, cleaned, 

and decontaminated. 

 The instruments are to be returned to the source from which they were borrowed per their instruction. 

 

Preliminary Steps in Surgery 

 Instruments should be wiped with sterile water moistened sponges as needed during the surgical 

procedure to remove gross soiling to prevent corrosion, rusting and pitting. 

 Instruments with lumens should be irrigated with sterile water as needed throughout the surgical 

procedure. 

 Cautery tips should be cleaned frequently to prevent eschar build-up. 

 Instruments needing repair should be tagged or labeled and removed from service until repaired. 

 

Cleaning and decontamination of Surgical Instruments. 

 Decontaminate the instruments at the point of use – see above. 

 All instruments opened in the operating or procedure rooms need to be decontaminated whether or not 

they have been used. 

 

Sorting 

 Sharp instruments should be segregated from other instruments. 

 Disposable sharps should be removed and discarded into proper receptacles. 

 Reusable sharp instruments, including scissors, should be placed in a separate puncture proof receptacle 

for transportation, such as emesis basin. 

 Reusable scalpel handles should be considered sharp instruments 

Transportation to Decontamination Area 

 Soiled instruments must be transported covered and contained in a manner to prevent exposure to 

patients or personnel to blood borne pathogens, and other potentially infectious organisms. 

 Soiled instruments from the ancillary departments and clinics will be transported to the decontamination 

area in covered containers by the perioperative courier. 

 Hand-carried must be contained in a container with a lid. 

 Large quantities of items must be contained in a cart or transport container with doors or plastic cover. 

 Items placed on top of cart must be contained safely to prevent falling off. 

Page 50 of 185



 

3 
Cleaning and Care of Surgical Instruments 

 

Cleaning 

Instruments should be decontaminated in an area separated from locations where clean activities are performed. 

 Instruments should not be decontaminated in scrub or hand sinks. 

 The decontamination area should be physically separate from clean areas and include a door. 

The area should contain:  

Sinks 

Hand washing facilities 

Eye wash station 

Automated equipment consistent with the types of instruments to be decontaminated 

Compressed air supply 

Adaptors and accessories to connect instruments with cleaning equipment and utilities. 

 

Water Quality 

 Potable water should be used for manual or mechanical decontamination cleaning methods  

             unless contra-indicated by manufacturer’s instructions. 

 Softened or de-ionized water should be used for the final rinse. 

 Water quality assessment should be performed periodically or after maintenance to water sources.  

Impurities in the water can reflect insufficient filtration, necessitating repairs bases on testing. 

 

Manufacturer’s Instructions 

Following manufacturer’s instructions decreases the possibility of cleaning agents harming instruments. 

Cleaning Methods 

Manufacturer’s instructions should be followed regarding types of cleaning methods (e.g. manual, automated) 

to be used for decontamination. 

Manual cleaning 

 Before beginning the cleaning process, instruments should be rinsed in cold running water to remove 

gross debris. 

 Instruments should be thoroughly washed. 

 Some delicate instruments, power equipment and other instruments that cannot be submerged should be 

cleaned manually. 

 Instruments should be completely submerged in warm water and appropriate detergent for 5 minutes 

prior to cleaning. 

 Instruments should be completely submerged in rinse solution after cleaning. 

 Mechanical cleaning of surgical instruments is accomplished by ultra-sonic cleaners, washer-

decontaminators/disinfectors, or washer-sterilizers. 

 

Ultrasonic cleaners 

 Ultra-sonic cleaners should be used according to manufacturer’s instructions. 

 Ultra-sonic cleaners should be used only after gross soiling has been removed. 

 Manufacturer’s instructions regarding detergent selection and “degassing” should be followed. 

 Only instruments made of similar materials should be combined, unless specified otherwise. 

 Some instruments should not be placed in an ultra-sonic cleaner 

Page 51 of 185



 

4 
Cleaning and Care of Surgical Instruments 

o Chrome-plated instruments 

o Power instruments 

o Rubber, silicone, or plastic instruments 

o Endoscopic lenses 

 Instruments with lumens should be submerged and filled with cleaning solution to remove air from 

within the channel. 

 Instruments should be thoroughly rinsed after ultra-sonic cleaning. 

 A lid should be in place to prevent aerosolization of contaminants. 

 Cleaning solutions should be checked between cycles and changed if visibly soiled. 

 Ultra-sonic cleaners should be emptied each day, cleaned, rinsed with sterile water, and chamber wiped 

with alcohol or other disinfectant, as per manufacturer recommendation. 

 

Automated washer decontaminators or disinfectors, washer/sterilizers 

The amount of time necessary to efficiently clean and rinse instruments is determined according by 

manufacturer’s instructions 

Inspection of surgical instruments 

 Instruments should be inspected for  

o Cleanliness 

o Alignment 

o Corrosion, pitting, burrs, nicks, and cracks 

o Sharpness of cutting edges 

o Loose set pins 

o Wear and chipping of inserts and plated surfaces 

o Missing parts 

o Any defects 

o Removal of moisture 

o Proper functioning 

o Instruments should be thoroughly dried. 

 

Lubricants 

 Use manufacturer’s written instructions for selection and use of lubricants 

 Instruments should be clean before lubrication. 

 Lubricants should be compatible with the method of sterilization to be used. 

 

Disinfection of Instruments  

Instruments will be disinfected prior to handling in the washer disinfector following policy and procedure. 

 

Packaging 

Instruments to be processed should be packaged and sterilized according to AORN recommendations. 

 

Sterilization 

Cleaned surgical instruments should be organized for packaging to allow the sterilant to contact all 

exposed surfaces. 

 Instruments should be placed in a container that is large enough to evenly distribute the metal mass in a 

single layer. 

Page 52 of 185



 

5 
Cleaning and Care of Surgical Instruments 

 Broad-surfaced or concave surfaced instruments should be placed on edge to facilitate drying. 

 Instruments with hinges should be opened, and those with removable parts should be disassembled when 

placed in trays designed for sterilization, unless indicated to the contrary. 

 Instruments should be kept opened and unlocked using instrument stringers, racks, or instruments pegs 

designed to contain instruments. 

 Delicate and sharp instruments should be protected using a device such as tip protectors. 

 Heavy instruments should be positioned in the bottom of the tray to prevent damage to delicate items. 

 Only validated containment devices should be used to organize or segregate instruments within sets. 

 Rubber bands should not be used to keep instruments together. 

 Paper-plastic peel pouches should not be used inside the tray unless validated by the manufacturer. 

 

Powered Surgical Instruments 

Powered surgical instruments and all attachments should be decontaminated, lubricated, assembled, 

sterilized, and tested before use according to manufacturer’s written instructions. 

 Powered instruments and attachments should be cleaned and maintained according to manufacturer’s 

instructions. 

 Attachments should be properly affixed to instruments and tested before use. 

 Trigger handles should be placed in safety position when changing attachments. 

 Medical-grade compressed air or nitrogen should be used to operate air-powered equipment according to 

manufacturer’s instructions. 

 To determine the correct pressure setting, use the manufacturer’s instructions. 

 Only grounded outlets shall be used for electrical powered equipment. 

 

Ophthalmic Surgical Instruments 

Special precautions shall be taken before reprocessing ophthalmic surgical instruments. 

 Instruments should be wiped clean with sterile water and lint-free sponge during the surgical procedure 

to remove viscoelastic solution, which can harden quickly. 

 Instruments should be immersed in sterile water immediately at the end of the procedure. 

 Single-use cannula should be used whenever possible. 

 Manufacturer’s instructions for cleaning each instrument should be reviewed and followed. 

 Irrigation and aspiration ports, phacoemulsification hand piece, tips and tubing should be flushed before 

disconnecting the hand piece from the unit. (see manufacturer instructions for the Quick Rinse system) 

 Intraocular lens injectors, lens inserters, should be carefully cleaned. 

 

Insulated electrosurgical instruments 

 Insulated electrosurgical instruments should be inspected for small breaks in insulation before initial use 

and after decontamination. 

 Insulated instruments should be kept away from sharp instruments, and segregated from sharp objects 

after the case. 

 

Personal Protective Equipment 

Personnel handling contaminated instruments and equipment must wear appropriate personal protective 

equipment (PPE) and should be vaccinated against Hepatitis B virus. 

Page 53 of 185



 

6 
Cleaning and Care of Surgical Instruments 

 PPE consistent with the anticipated exposure should be worn. 

 The appropriate PPE for this exposure should include, but not be limited to,  

o A fluid-resistant gown 

o Heavy-duty gloves 

o Mask 

o Face protection 

 Hands must be washed after removing PPE. 

 Reusable PPE must be decontaminated and the integrity of the attire checked between each use. 

 Two pairs of gloves should be worn when cleaning instruments and equipment, if there is a risk for 

perforation. 

 Personnel working with contaminated equipment should be vaccinated against the Hepatitis B virus. 

 

Competency 

Ongoing education, competency and validation of personnel facilitate the development of knowledge, skills, 

and attitudes that affect patient and worker safety. 

Documentation 

Documentation should be completed to enable the identification of trends and demonstrate compliance with 

regulatory and accreditation agency requirements. 

 Records should be maintained for the time period specified (life of equipment plus 6 years) 

 

PRECAUTIONS: 

Care must be taken at all times to assure that no sharps, i.e., knife blades or needles are mixed in with 

instruments to be cleaned. Care must be taken to assure that careful handling of instruments is followed to 

prevent injury from sharp instruments such as towel clips, skin hooks etc. 

 

REFERENCES: 

1. Central Supply Technician Training Manual 

2. AORN RP Cleaning and Care of Surgical Instruments  

3. AAMI ST79    

4. TJC: IC.02.01.01, IC.02.05.01 

5. Title 22 Standards: 70831 (Central Sterile Supply), 70833 (Autoclaves and Sterilizers) 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

Sterilization records must be maintained for 1 year.  The recommendation is the sterilization records should be 

maintained for life of equipment plus 6 years. 

 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

 Packaging, Wrapping, and Dating Trays and Instruments 

 Precleaning and Returning of Instruments to Sterile Packaging 

 

 

Supersedes: v.4 Cleaning and Care of Surgical Instruments 

 

Page 54 of 185



 

1 
Diet Texture Ordering Protocol 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

Title: Diet Texture Ordering Protocol 

Owner: DIRECTOR OF REHABILITATION Department: Rehabilitation Services 

Scope:  Inpatient Units 

Date Last Modified: 01/18/2022 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 

Version: 2 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 04/17/2019 

 

PURPOSE:   

        To give the discipline of Speech-Language Pathologist (SLP) privileges to adjust a patient’s           

diet orders and swallow strategies to ensure safe swallowing. 

POLICY: 

1. The SLP will follow the adopted hospital diet texture manual for dietary options. 

 

2. Upon completion of the evaluation by the SLP, the diet may be adjusted or changed with downgrades 

and advancements of textures including solids and liquids. 

 

3. Diet modifications will be placed into the Electronic Medical Record (EMR) by the SLP and then 

sent over for the physician’s signature as confirmation of the diet texture.  

a. SLP diet texture order changes need to take effect immediately with notification to physician, 

nursing staff, and dietary staff. 

b. All SLP dietary order changes will need physician e-signature as co-signing/confirmation within 

24 hours. (SLP student interns may document in EMR, but they will not have diet management 

privileges or enter an SLP plan of care order). 

c. Each patient within the facility will need to have a diet order whether it is NPO, clear liquids, or 

full PO intake as outlined in the diet texture manual. 

   

PROCEDURE: 

1. Physician enters initial diet order on admission.  All diet orders and changes are entered  

 via the Computer Physician Order Entry system (CPOE). 

2. Subsequent diet order changes may be made at the discretion of the physician. 

3. Upon evaluation or re-evaluation of a patient, the SLP may adjust diet orders via a Speech/Swallow 

 Plan of Care and in CPOE in the following scenarios: 

a. Downgrade a diet consistency (liquids and/or solids).  E-signature by physician is   

required (i.e., changing diet from Regular consistency to Dysphagia Ground). 

b. Upgrades a diet consistency (liquids and/or solids).  E-signature by physician is required (i.e., 

changing from Dysphagia Puree and Honey thick liquids to a Dysphagia Ground and Nectar 

thick liquids). 

c. Modifications in the delivery of the solids, liquids, or medications to ensure safe swallowing 

strategies.  E-signature by physician is required (i.e., Changing diet from Dysphagia Advanced 

Page 55 of 185



 

2 
Diet Texture Ordering Protocol 

with thin liquids to Dysphagia Advanced with thin liquids, but utilizing a small sip by cup with 

chin tuck and crushing the medications in applesauce). 

4. Diet advancement off of NPO requires an order directly from the physician. 

5. Diet upgrades or downgrades will not progress off of “Clear liquids only” (to a full liquid or Solid 

 consistencies) or onto “Clear liquids only”, as the “Clear liquids only” diet needs to be ordered or 

 discontinued directly by a physician. However, the SLP may modify the “Clear liquid” diet with the 

 liquid consistencies of “Thin, Nectar, or Honey thick” to reduce aspiration risk. 

6. Changing a patient from a PO diet to an NPO diet also requires an order directly from the 

 physician. 

7. The SLP cannot directly order NPO or take a patient off NPO.  However, the SLP may make the 

 recommendations to do so in the Speech/Swallow Plan of Care. 

REFERENCES: 

1. Lippincott Procedures; “Impaired swallowing and aspiration precautions.” 

2. American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (1986). Autonomy of speech-language pathology and 

audiology [Relevant Paper]. Available from www.asha.org/policy. 

3. The Joint Commission; 2022 CAMCAH; PC.01.03.01 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

Assessment by the Speech-Language Pathologist and dietary orders are included in the patient’s medical 

records, which is maintained by the NIHD Medical Records Department. 

 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Physician’s Diet Orders  

2.  Scope of Care Rehabilitation Services 

 

 

Supersedes: v.1 Diet Texture Ordering Protocol 

 

Page 56 of 185

http://www.asha.org/policy


 

1 
Focused and Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

Title: Focused and Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation 

Owner: MEDICAL STAFF DIRECTOR Department: Medical Staff 

Scope: Medical Staff and Advanced Practice Providers 

Date Last Modified: 04/12/2022 Last Review Date: 08/21/2019 Version: 2 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 06/15/2016 

 

PURPOSE: 

To clearly outline the purpose, function and procedures for Focused Professional Practice Evaluation (FPPE) 

and Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation (OPPE). This policy provides a structure for monitoring, 

evaluating, documenting, and reporting performance of medical staff practitioners granted clinical privileges. 

 

POLICY: 

The Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) Medical Staff, as part of the organization’s ongoing commitment 

to quality, shall evaluate the competence of a practitioner in order to ensure safe, high quality care through 

focused and ongoing professional practice evaluations, by defining the circumstances requiring monitoring and 

evaluation of the practitioner’s professional performance. 

 

DEFINITIONS: 

1. Focused Professional Practice Evaluation (FPPE) is the time limited evaluation of practitioner 

competence in performing a specific privilege. This process is implemented for all initially requesteds 

privileges and whenever a question arises regarding a practitioner’s ability to provide safe, high-quality 

patient care. 

2. Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation (OPPE) is a document summary of ongoing data collected for 

the purpose of assessing a practitioner’s clinical competence and professional behavior. Through this 

process, practitioners receive feedback for potential personal improvement or confirmation of personal 

achievement related to the effectiveness of their professional practice in all practitioner competencies.    

3. A peer is defined as an individual that is credentialed within the same specialty discipline and with the 

same scope of clinical privileges; an individual practicing in the same profession who has expertise in 

the appropriate subject matter under review.   

4. Peer Case Review is an evaluation of a practitioner’s professional performance for all defined 

competency areas using multiple data sources. Case Review is a part of OPPE. It is separate from other 

processes such as:  root cause analysis, hospital PI, M&M conferences, or clinical management 

conferences. 

5. Practitioner An individual permitted by law and by the organization to provide care, treatment and 

services without direct supervision.  A practitioner operates within the scope of his or her license, 

consistent with individually granted clinical privileges. This may include; physicians, oral and 

maxillofacial surgeons, dentists, podiatrists, physicians’ assistants and some Advanced Practice 

Registered Nurses (APRNs).   

6. Practitioner Competencies: The medical staff has determined that for purposes of defining its 

expectations of performance, measurement of performance, and providing performance feedback for the 

Page 57 of 185



 

2 
Focused and Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation 

Joint Commission General Competencies, it will use the American College of Graduate Medical 

Education Framework outlined below: 

a. Patient Care 

Practitioners are expected to provide patient care that is compassionate, appropriate, and 

effective for the promotion of health, prevention of illness, treatment of disease, and care at the 

end of life. 

b. Medical/Clinical Knowledge  

Practitioners are expected to demonstrate knowledge of established and evolving biomedical, 

clinical, and social sciences, and the application of their knowledge to patient care and the 

education of others. 

c. Practice-Based Learning and Improvement 

Practitioners are expected to be able to use scientific evidence and methods to investigate, 

evaluate, and improve patient care practices. 

d. Interpersonal and Communication Skills 

Practitioners are expected to demonstrate interpersonal and communication skills that enable 

them to establish and maintain professional relationships with patients, families, and other 

members of health care teams. 

e. Professionalism 

Practitioners are expected to demonstrate behaviors that reflect a commitment to continuous 

professional development, ethical practice, an understanding and sensitivity to diversity, and a 

responsible attitude toward their patients, their profession, and society. 

f. Systems-Based Practice 

Practitioners are expected to demonstrate both an understanding of the contexts and systems in 

which health care is provided, and the ability to apply this knowledge to improve and optimize 

health care. 

7. Conflict of Interest:  A member of the medical staff requested to perform OPPE evaluation may have a 

conflict of interest if he or she may not be able to render a fair and constructive opinion.  An absolute 

conflict of interest would result if the practitioner is the provider under review or a first-degree relative 

or spouse.  Potential conflicts of interest may result if the practitioner is directly involved in the patient’s 

care but not related to the issues under review or a direct competitor, partner or key referral source.  

Potential conflicts may also result if the practitioner is involved in a perceived personal conflict with the 

practitioner under review.  

It is the obligation of the Evaluator to disclose to the Medical Executive Committee (MEC), in 

advance, the potential conflict. It is the responsibility of the MEC to determine on a case-by-case basis if 

a potential conflict is substantial enough to prevent the individual from participating.   

 

PROCEDURE: 

1. Focused Professional Practice Evaluation (FPPE) 

a. A requesting committee or person may initiate the FPPE process in the following ways: 

i. Selecting and recommending the appropriate FPPE plan on the privilege delineation form 

in the case of initial appointments or new privileges. 

i.ii. Completing and submitting the Focused Professional Practice Evaluation (FPPE) 

Performance Monitoring Plan (PMP) to either the Credentials Committee in the case of 

initial appointments or new privileges, or the MEC, in the case of questionable 

performance/outcomes.  

Commented [DP1]: FPPE plans are now available on the 
new electronic privilege forms. The department chief selects 
the FPPE plan at the time of initial granting of privileges 

Page 58 of 185



 

3 
Focused and Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation 

ii.iii. A FPPE is indicated on theas the result of an Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation 

and Recommendation Form, Section 1E (Recommendations) 

iii.iv. A FPPE is indicated as the result of a on the Focused Professional Practice Evaluation 

and Recommendation Form, Section 1D (Recommendations) 

b. The FPPE for initial appointments and additional privilege grants will include proctoring and 

will be based on a representative number of cases as determined by the Service Department 

Chief, or designee. For Allied Health Professional Advanced Practice Provider members, the 

FPPE will include at least five proctored or reviewed cases by the sponsoring physician. 

c. A FPPE may also be initiated when the performance or outcomes of a practitioner are 

questionable, which may become evident with the occurrence of a single or sentinel event and/or 

patterns or trends indicating potentially unsafe patient care. Focused review of a practitioner’s 

performance may be requested by any Officer of the Medical Staff; Service Department Chief;  

Quality Improvement Committee; Medical Executive Committee; the Chief Executive Officer; 

or by the NIHD Board of Directors. If the MEC, in consultation with other appropriate 

committees and individuals, determines that a FPPE is warranted, then the MEC shall be 

responsible for defining the exact nature and scope of the FPPE. Any action, decision, finding or 

recommendation by the MEC shall be based upon the evaluation of the Practitioner’s current 

clinical competence, practice behavior and ability to perform the clinical privileges under review. 

d. If after the designated review period, the practitioner did not meet all FPPE requirements, then 

the evaluation period may be extended, a different type of evaluation process assigned, or 

evidence of successful proctoring from another facility may be accepted. 

e. Information to be considered in a FPPE may include, but is not limited to: chart reviews 

monitoring clinical practice patterns, simulation, proctoring, external peer review and/or 

discussion with other care givers of specific patients (i.e., consulting physicians, assistants, 

nursing or administrative personnel). 

f. External sources may be utilized in the Focused Evaluation process if there are concerns about 

conflict of interests or the possession of the appropriate level of experience or skill by the 

internal reviewers. 

g. Evaluation results and recommendations are documented by the Evaluator on the Focused 

Professional Practice Evaluation and Recommendation Form, which shall be reviewed by the 

MEC and/or Credentials Committees, along with supporting documentation. 

h. In the case of FPPEs generated by questionable practitioner performance, evaluation results and 

recommendations of the MEC shall be reported to the NIHD Board of Directors, unless the 

practitioner has demonstrated to the reasonable satisfaction of the MEC, implementation of 

recommended actions or other changes resulting in improved performance with respect to the 

applicable measurement and assessment activities. 

2. Ongoing Professional  Practice Evaluation (OPPE) 

a. The OPPE process shall begin immediately after satisfactory completion of the initial 

appointment FPPE process and provide continuous monitoring of practitioner’s performance.  

Such evaluations shall be factored into credentialing, privileging and appointment decisions. 

b. An Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation and Recommendation Form will be completed for 

each clinical staff member every 6 8 months by an Evaluator. This form includes ratings 

performance measures for the following criteria (ACGME Core Competencies): 

i. Patient Care 

ii. Medical/Clinical Knowledge 

Commented [DP2]: The form has changed; recommend 
removing reference to specific forms/sections to avoid 
continuous policy updates 

Commented [DP3]: Recommend extending the OPPE 
cycle to 8-month intervals. 8 month intervals are still in 
compliance with the Joint Commission standards and will 
reduce burden on the Medical Staff Office, who will only 
prepare 3 OPPEs every 2 years for each practitioner, rather 
than 4 

Page 59 of 185



 

4 
Focused and Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation 

iii. Practice-Based Learning & Improvement 

iv. Interpersonal and Communication Skills 

v. Professionalism 

vi. Systems Based Practice 

c. An Evaluator may be the Chief of Staff, Service Department Chief or other designee and will be 

selected by the MEC. The evaluation results and recommendations of the Evaluator shall be 

reported to the MEC. 

d. Elements for review may include, but are not limited to: operative and other clinical procedure(s) 

performed and their outcomes; pattern of blood and pharmaceutical usage; medical record 

completion; infection control results; morbidity and mortality data; patient 

satisfaction/complaints; additional elements of performance as defined by the department and 

organized medical staff.  The information listed may be acquired through concurrent proctoring 

(direct observation), prospective proctoring/simulation, retrospective proctoring (medical record 

review), reciprocal proctoring (offsite/another facility), outcomes/performance measurement data 

review,  monitoring of diagnostic and treatment techniques and/or discussion with other 

individuals involved in the care of each patient including consulting physicians, assistants, 

nursing, and administrative personnel.   

e. If there are no elements available for review, the MEC may recommend continuing existing 

privilege(s), as long as there are no known issues/concerns regarding the practitioner.  

Recommendation without available elements, however, shall not occur for any two concurrent 

evaluations. 

f. If there is uncertainty regarding the practitioner’s clinical competence, practice behavior, & 

ability to perform the requested privileges, the organized medical staff may take actions, 

including, but not limited to the following: referral to Medical Staff AssistancePhysician 

Wellness Committee, referral/request for FPPE, reduction, revision, revocation or summary 

suspension of privileges, corrective and/or disciplinary actions, and should refer to the Medical 

Staff Bylaws for more information on specific procedures. 

3. Reappointment to the Medical Staff/Renewal of Privileges 

a. The Medical Staff Office shall complete OPPE Reappointment Summary form after each 

monitor period is reviewed by the MEC. 

b.a. The Medical Staff Office will submit a completed OPPE Reappointment Summary form and 

OPPE/FPPE Evaluations and supporting documentation to the Credentials Committee during the 

Reappointment process. These documents shall be considered when making decisions to 

approve/reject reappointment to the NIHD Medical Staff or renewal of privileges of the 

evaluated practitioner. 

REFERENCES: 

1. The Joint Commission. "Medical Staff." Comprehensive Accreditation Manual for Critical Access 

Hospitals. Oakbook: Joint Commission Resources, 2015. MS-29-S-33. Print.  

2. CNA. "Medical Staff Credentialing: Eight Strategies for Safer Physician and Provider Privileging." 

Vantage Point 9.3 (2009): n. pag. Web. 9 Mar. 2016. 

<https://www.cna.com/vcm_content/CNA/internet/Static%20File%20for%20Download/Risk%20Contro

l/Medical%20Services/MedStaffCredentialing.pdf>. 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

Page 60 of 185



 

5 
Focused and Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation 

1. FPPE, OPPE, and Peer Review documents are confidential documents protected by California Evidence 

Code 1157. Documents are to be kept for the length of the practitioner’s career, plus 6 years.  

 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Northern Inyo Healthcare District Medical Staff Bylaws 

 

Supersedes: v.1 Focused and Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation* 

 

Page 61 of 185



 

1 
High Alert Medications: Preparation, Dispensing, Storage 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY 

 

 

 

Title: High Alert Medications: Preparation, Dispensing, Storage 

Owner: Acting Director of Pharmacy Department: Pharmacy 

Scope:  District Wide 

Date Last Modified: 

12/16/2021 

Last Review Date: No 

Review Date 

Version: 4 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 02/2004 

 

PURPOSE: 

To ensure that the preparation, dispensing, and storage of high alert medications occurs safely. 

POLICY: 

1. High Alert medications are cancer chemotherapy drugs, monoclonal antibodies for oncology, 

concentrated electrolytes solutions, insulin, heparin, PCA narcotics, neuromuscular blocking agents and 

any medications designated as High Alert by the Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee.   

2. High Alert medications will not be dispensed or prepared for dispensing without a Provider order.  

3. Prior to preparation or dispensing, the pharmacist will check the diagnosis, indications, 

contraindications, precautions, adverse effects, dose, route of administration in an FDA sanctioned 

publication (e.g.: the package insert), or in an industry-recognized compendium, or in a peer-reviewed 

article in a recognized medical journal.  This step may be skipped if the pharmacist is sufficiently 

familiar with the drug to judge the safety and appropriateness of the order.   

4. The drug will only be prepared and dispensed if the pharmacist is satisfied of the safety and 

appropriateness of the drug and dose. 

5. For cancer chemotherapy orders and for orders written on a Chemotherapy Orders sheet, the pharmacy 

Chemotherapy Compounding Policy and Procedure will be followed.   

6. Prior to the final mixing of non-chemotherapy High Alert medication, the prepared dose of the 

medication will be double checked by another pharmacist, a pharmacy technician, or a registered nurse. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62 of 185



 

2 
High Alert Medications: Preparation, Dispensing, Storage 

Department specific actions for High Alert Medications: 

Class of Medication Pharmacy Nursing 

Chemotherapy Segregated in pharmacy 

Double check 

Double check 

Monoclonal Antibody (for 

oncology) 

Segregated in Pharmacy 

Double check 

Double check 

Concentrated Electrolyte Sol. Alert Note in Pharmacy 

Double check 

3% Sodium Chloride 500ml in 

ED only, witness required. 

Insulin Double check Double check 

Heparin Pre-mix sol (excludes Heparin 

Flush for line integrity) 

Double check 

PCA Narcotics Double check Double check 

Alert packaging 

Neuro-Muscular Blocking  

Agent 

Alert Note in Pharmacy Alert packaging 

Oxytocin Double check Double check 

Alert packaging 

OB Premixed Epidural Mixed by Pharmacist Only Lock Box in Refrigerator 

Alert packaging 

Double check 

Thrombolytic (Alteplase, 

TNKase)  

Double check  Double check 

 

Double check means that medication and dose are independently checked by 2 licensed practitioners. 

 

REFERENCES: 

1. The Joint Commission (CAMCAH Manual) (Jan 2022) Standard MM.01.01.01 EP 9. 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION:  

Documentation of double checks for chemotherapy are high risk medications administered by nursing 

workforce are contained within the medical record, which is maintained by the NIHD Medical Records 

Department. 

 

 

Page 63 of 185



 

3 
High Alert Medications: Preparation, Dispensing, Storage 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Chemotherapy administration and precautions 

2. Concentrated electrolytes, after hours 

3. Heparin Dosing Protocol 

 

Supersedes: v.3 High Alert Medications: Preparation, Dispensing, Storage* 

Page 64 of 185



 

1 
Laser Safety 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

Title: Laser Safety 

Owner: DON Perioperative Services Department: Sterile Processing 

Scope: 

Date Last Modified: 12/06/2021 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 

Version: 2 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date:  

 

PURPOSE: 

To provide guidance to perioperative personnel for the use and care of laser equipment and to assist 

practitioners in providing a safe environment for patients and health care personnel during the use of laser 

technology. The expected outcome is that the patient will be free from signs and symptoms of injury related to 

the use of laser technology. 

POLICY: 
 A laser safety program will be established for all owned, leased, or borrowed laser equipment in any 

location where lasers are used in the health care organization. The program will include: 

o delegation of authority for supervising laser safety to a laser safety officer (LSO) responsible for:  

 verifying the manufacturer’s hazard classification label of all lasers and laser systems; 

 performing a laser hazard evaluation before initial use; 

 overseeing the implementation of the health care laser system manufacturer’s control measures; 

 developing policies and procedures for maintenance, service, and use of lasers;  

 verifying that protective equipment is available, used correctly, and free of defects;  

 ascertaining that warning signs and labels comply with the Federal Laser Product Performance 

Standard or international standards; 

 approving equipment and installation according to the manufacturer’s instructions; and 

 coordinating laser safety and educational programs; 

o establishment of a multidisciplinary laser safety committee that includes the LSO and representatives 

from administration, medicine, anesthesia, nursing, and risk management; 

o establishment of use criteria and authorized procedures for all health care personnel working in laser 

nominal hazard zones; 

o identification of laser hazards and appropriate administrative, engineering, and procedural control 

measures; 

o education of personnel regarding the assessment and control of hazards; and 

o management and reporting of accidents or incidents related to laser procedures, including creating action 

plans to prevent recurrences. 

 All personnel will know where lasers are being used, and access to these areas will be controlled. 

 Patients and personnel in the laser treatment area will be protected from unintentional laser beam exposure. 

 All people in the nominal hazard zone will wear appropriate eyewear selected and approved by the LSO. 

 Potential hazards associated with surgical smoke generated in the laser practice setting will be identified and 

safe practices established. 

 All people in the laser treatment area will be protected from electrical hazards associated with laser use. 

 All people in the laser treatment area will be protected from flammable hazards associated with laser use. 

Page 65 of 185



 

2 
Laser Safety 

PROCEDURE 

 The laser treatment area will be identified with laser warning signs and access controlled to prevent 

unintentional exposure to the laser beam. 

o The LSO will determine the nominal hazard zone by referencing ANSI Z136.1 and ANSI Z136.3, as 

well as the safety information supplied by the laser manufacturer. 

o Clearly marked and recognizable warning signs specific to the type of laser being used and designed 

according to the information described in ANSI Z136.3 will be placed at all entrances to laser treatment 

areas when lasers are in use. 

o Doors in the nominal hazard zone will remain closed and windows, including door windows, will be 

covered as appropriate to the type of laser being used with a barrier that blocks transmission of a beam. 

 Accidental activation or misdirection of the laser beam will be prevented by 

o restricting access to laser keys to authorized personnel who are skilled in laser operation; 

o placing lasers in standby mode when not in active use; 

o placing the laser foot switch in a position convenient to the operator with the activation mechanism 

identified; 

o allowing only the laser user to activate the foot pedal of the laser device; 

o using the emergency shutoff switch to disable the laser in case of a component breakdown or untoward 

event; and 

o protecting exposed tissues around the surgical site with saline-saturated materials (eg, towels, sponges) 

when lasers with a thermal effect are being used. 

 The laser assistant (eg, RN, laser technician) must not have competing responsibilities that would require 

leaving the laser unattended during active use. 

 Everyone in the nominal hazard zone will wear protective eyewear or use filters of specific wavelength and 

optical density for the laser in use. 

o Eyewear will be labeled with the appropriate optical density and wavelength for the laser in use. 

o Laser shutters or filters with the appropriate optical density will be used on microscopes, microscope 

accessory oculars, and endoscope viewing ports to protect the laser user from laser exposure. 

o Patients’ eyes and eyelids will be protected from the laser beam. 

 Patients who remain awake during laser procedures will wear goggles or glasses designated for the 

type of laser being used. 

 Patients undergoing general anesthesia will be provided with appropriate protection, such as wet eye 

pads or laser-specific eye shields, as approved by the LSO. 

 Patients undergoing laser treatments on or around the eyelids will have their eyes protected by metal 

corneal eye shields that are approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). 

 Surgical smoke will be removed by use of a smoke evacuation system in both open and minimally invasive 

procedures to prevent occupational exposure to laser-generated airborne contaminants. 

o When surgical smoke is generated, an individual smoke evacuation unit with a 0.1 micron filter (eg, 

ultra-low particulate air [ULPA] or high-efficiency particulate air [HEPA]) will be used to remove 

surgical smoke. 

o The capture device (eg, wand, nonflammable suction tip) of the smoke evacuation system will be 

positioned as close as possible, but no greater than two inches, from the source of the smoke. 

o Used smoke evacuator filters, tubing, and wands will be handled using standard precautions and 

disposed of as biohazardous waste. 

o Personnel will wear respiratory protection (eg, fit-tested surgical N95 filtering face piece respirator or 

high-filtration surgical mask) during procedures that generate surgical smoke. 

 Laser systems and equipment will be evaluated for electrical hazards and approved by the LSO before they 

are placed in service. 

 The manufacturer’s directions for laser installation, operation, and maintenance and recommendations for 

electrical plugs and outlets will be followed. 

Page 66 of 185



 

3 
Laser Safety 

 Laser service and preventive maintenance will be performed in accordance with the manufacturer’s 

guidelines on a regular basis by qualified personnel who have knowledge of laser systems. 

 Fire safety measures will be implemented when lasers are in use according to local, state, and federal 

regulations. 

o The laser will not be activated in the presence of flammable agents (eg, alcohol-based skin antiseptics, 

tinctures, de-fatting agents, collodian, petroleum-based lubricants, phenol, aerosol adhesives, uncured 

methyl methacrylate) until the agents are dry and vapors have dissipated. 

o Caution will be used in the presence of combustible anesthetic gases during surgery on the head, face, 

neck, and upper chest. 

o Sponges and drapes near the surgical site will be kept moist. 

o The lowest possible oxygen concentration that provides adequate patient oxygen saturation will be used. 

o Surgical drapes will be arranged to minimize the buildup of oxidizers (eg, oxygen, nitrous oxide) under 

the drapes. 

o Wet towels and saline will be available on the sterile field. 

o The LSO will determine the type of extinguishers needed for each specific laser based on 

manufacturers’ instructions and recommendations. 

o Laser-resistant endotracheal tubes will be used during laser procedures involving the patient’s airway or 

aerodigestive tract. 

o Endotracheal tube cuffs will be inflated with normal saline with dye (eg, methylene blue) during laser 

procedures involving the patient's airway or aerodigestive tract. 

o Moistened packs will be placed around the endotracheal tube and kept moist throughout the procedure. 

DOCUMENTATION 

Documentation will be completed to demonstrate compliance with local, state, and federal regulations.  

 The following information will be documented in the perioperative record by the perioperative RN: 

o patient identification; 

o the type of laser used (eg, wavelength, serial or biomedical number); 

o laser settings and parameters; 

o safety measures implemented during laser use; 

o the operative or invasive procedure; 

o on/off laser activation and de-activation times for head, neck, and chest procedures; and 

o patient protection (eg, eyewear, eye shield). 

 A laser safety checklist will be completed by the laser assistant and will include: 

o performing a laser self-test check before the patient is brought into the OR or procedure room, 

o calibrating the laser if needed, 

o conducting a test fire of the laser, 

o posting “laser in use” signs at all entrances of the OR or procedure room, 

o providing appropriate eyewear for the patient and personnel, 

o covering the windows of the OR or procedure room as needed,  

o checking the availability of saline at the surgical field, and  

o checking the appropriate type of fire extinguisher for the laser being used. 

 The following information will be documented in the laser log by the laser assistant: 

o patient identification; 

o the type of laser, model number, serial number, and the health care organization-biomedical number; 

o the procedure(s) performed with laser; 

o names and titles of personnel in the room; 

o completed laser safety checklists; 

o the number of joules used; 

o the total energy used; and 

Page 67 of 185



 

4 
Laser Safety 

o the wattage used. 

COMPETENCY 

 Perioperative personnel working in laser environments will receive education and complete validation 

activities on laser systems used and procedures performed in the facility, including: 

o the established laser safety program; 

o new laser equipment, accessories, or safety equipment purchased or brought into the facility; and 

o fire hazards associated with laser use, airway fire management, and fire drills. 

 The LSO will complete a formal medical laser safety course and obtain certification.  

GLOSSARY 

American National Standards Institute (ANSI): Organization that provides guidance for the safe use of lasers for 

diagnostic and therapeutic uses in health care facilities. ANSI facilitates the development of consensus US 

standards and administers a system that assesses conformance to standards such as the ISO 9000 (quality) and 

ISO 14000 (environmental). 

High-efficiency filter or high-efficiency particulate air filter (HEPA): Filters having a filtration rating of 0.3 

microns at 99.7% efficiency. 

Laser: Device that produces an intense, coherent, directional beam of light by stimulating electronic or 

molecular transitions to lower energy levels. Laser is an acronym for “light amplification by stimulated 

emission of radiation.” 

Laser assistant: Sets up the laser and runs the laser console to control the laser parameters under the supervision 

of the laser user. 

Laser safety officer (LSO): Responsible for affecting the knowledgeable evaluation of laser hazards and 

authorized and for monitoring and overseeing the control of such laser hazards. 

Laser treatment area: Area in which the laser is being operated. 

Laser user: The laser user is employing the laser for its intended purpose within the user’s scope of practice, 

education, and experience. 

Nominal hazard zone: The space in which the level of direct, reflected, or scattered radiation used during 

normal laser operation exceeds the applicable maximum permissible exposure. 

Optical density: The ability of laser protective eyewear to absorb a specific laser wavelength. 

Ultra-low particulate air (ULPA) filter: Theoretically, a ULPA filter can remove from the air 99.9999% of 

bacteria, dust, pollen, mold, and particles with a size of 120 nanometers or larger. 

 

REFERENCES: 

   Petersen C, ed. Perioperative Nursing Data Set. 3rd ed. Denver, CO: AORN, Inc; 2010. 

 Recommended practices for laser safety in perioperative practice settings. In: Perioperative standards 

and Recommended Practices. Denver, CO: AORN, Inc: 2013:143-156. 

 ANZ136.3-2005: Safe Use of Lasers in Health Care Facilities. Washington, DC: American National 

Standards Institute; 2005. 

 ANZ136.1-2007: Safe Use of Lasers. Washington, DC: American National Standards Institute; 2007. 

 

 

 

Page 68 of 185



 

5 
Laser Safety 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

 Argon Laser Safety  

 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

Documentation in medical record is maintained per the Medical Record Department at NIHD. 

 

 

Supersedes: v.1 Laser Safety 

 

Page 69 of 185



 

1 
Medical Staff Professional Conduct Policy 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT  

NON-CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE  

 

 

 

 

Title: Medical Staff Professional Conduct Policy 

Owner: MEDICAL STAFF DIRECTOR Department: Medical Staff 

Scope: Medical Staff and Advanced Practice Providers 

Date Last Modified: 03/14/2022 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 

Version: 3 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 06/19/2013 

 

PURPOSE: The purpose of this policy is to ensure safe patient care by promoting a cooperative and 

professional healthcare environment, and to create a fair process for communicating and addressing complaints 

regarding behavioral concerns of privileged practitioners at Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD).  

 

POLICY: All Medical Staff memberspractitioners shall conduct themselves at all times while on Hospital 

District premises in a courteous, professional, respectful, collegial, and cooperative manner. This applies to 

interactions and communications with or relating to Medical Staff colleagues, AHPsAdvanced Practice 

Providers (APPs), nursing and technical personnel, other caregivers, other Hospital District personnel, patients, 

patients’ family members and friends, visitors, and others. Such conduct is necessary to promote high quality 

patient care and to maintain a safe work environment. InappropriateDisruptive, discriminatory, or harassing 

behavior, as defined below, are is prohibited and will not be tolerated. 

 

DEFINITIONS: 

1. “Discrimination” is conduct directed against any individual (e.g., against another Medical Staff 

member, AHPAPP, Hospital District employee, or patient) that deprives the individual of full and equal 

accommodations, advantages, facilities, privileges, or services, based on the individual’s race, religion, 

color, national origin, ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical disability, marital status, 

sex, gender, or sexual orientation. 

2. “Sexual harassment” is unwelcome verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature, which may include 

verbal harassment (such as epithets, derogatory comments or slurs), physical harassment (such as 

unwelcome touching, assault, or interference with movement or work), and visual harassment (such as 

the display of derogatory or sexual-themed cartoons, drawings or posters) that is deemed severe or 

pervasive by the “reasonable person” standard (as per the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission). Sexual harassment includes unwelcome advances, requests for sexual favors, and any 

other verbal, visual, or physical conduct of a sexual nature when (1) submission to or rejection of this 

conduct by an individual is used as a factor in decisions affecting hiring, evaluation, retention, 

promotion, or other aspects of employment; or (2) this conduct substantially interferes with the 

individual’s employment or creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment. Sexual 

harassment also includes conduct indicating that employment and/or employment benefits are 

conditioned upon acquiescence in sexual activities. 

Page 70 of 185



 

2 
Medical Staff Professional Conduct Policy 

3. “Disruptive Inappropriate Behavior” is marked by disrespectful behavior manifested through 

personal interaction with practitioners, Hospital District personnel, patients, family members, or others, 

which: 

a. interferes, or tends to interfere with high quality patient care or the orderly administration of 

District operations the Hospital or the Medical Staff; or 

b. creates a hostile work environment; or 

c. is directed at a specific person or persons, would reasonably be expected to cause substantial 

emotional distress, and serves no constructive purpose in advancing the goals of health care. 

 

Examples of prohibited, disruptive conduct inappropriate conduct may include, but are not limited to, 

any of the conducts described below if it is found to interfere, or tends to interfere, with patient care or 

the orderly administration of the Hospital District or Medical Staff; or, if it creates a hostile work 

environment; or, if it is directed at a specific person or persons, causes substantial emotional distress, 

and has no legitimate purpose: 

a. Any striking, pushing, or inappropriate touching of Hospital StaffDistrict staff or others; 

b. Any conduct that would violate Medical Staff and/or Hospital District policies relating to 

discrimination and/or sexual harassment; 

c. Forcefully throwing, hitting, pushing, or slamming objects in an expression of anger or 

frustration; 

d. Yelling, screaming, or using an unduly loud voice directed at patients, Hospital District 

employees, other practitioners, or others; 

e. Refusing to respond to a request by any caregiver for orders, instructions, or assistance with the 

care of a patient, including, but not limited to, repeated failure to respond to calls or pages; 

f. Use of racial, ethnic, epithetic, or derogatory comments, or profanity, directed at Hospital 

District employees or others; 

g. Criticism which is unreasonable and unprofessional of Hospital District or Medical Staff 

personnel (including other practitioners), policies or equipment, or other negative comments that 

undermine patient trust in the Hospital District or Medical Staff in the presence or hearing of 

patients, patients’ family members, and/or visitors; 

h. Use of medical record entries to criticize Hospital District or Medical Staff personnel, policies, 

or equipment, other practitioners, or others; 

i. Unauthorized use and/or disclosure of confidential or personal information related to any 

employee, patient, practitioner, or other person; 

j. Use of threatening or offensive gestures; 

k. Intentional filing of false complaints or accusations; 

l. Any form of retaliation against a person who has filed a complaint against a practitioner alleging 

violation of the above standard of conduct; 

m. Use of physical or verbal threats to Hospital District employees, other practitioners, or others, 

including, without limitation, threats to get an employee fired or disciplined; 

n. Persisting to criticize, or to discuss performance or quality concerns with particular District 

Hospital employees or others after being asked to direct such comments exclusively through 

other channels; 

o. Persisting in contacting a District Hospital employee or other person to discuss personal or 

performance matters after that person or a supervisory person, the Chief Executive Officer, 

(“CEO”),  or designee, or Medical Staff leader, has requested that such contacts be discontinued 

Page 71 of 185



 

3 
Medical Staff Professional Conduct Policy 

[NOTE: Medical Staff membersPractitioners are encouraged to provide comments, suggestions 

and recommendations relating to hospital District employees, services or facilities; where such 

information is provided through appropriate administrative or supervisory channels];  

o.  

p. Obstructing the peer review process by intentionally refusing, without justification, to attend 

meetings or respond to questions about the practitioner’s conduct or professional practice when 

the practitioner is the subject of a focused review or investigation.   

 

PROCEDURE: 

1. Hospital District Staff Response to disruptive or discriminatory behavior or sexual harassment (“Walk 

Away Rule”) 

a. Any Hospital District employee (“Caregiver”) who believes that he or she is being subjected to 

disruptive inappropriate or discriminatory behavior or sexual harassment within the meaning of 

this Policy by a Medical Staff member privileged practitioner is authorized and directed to take 

the following actions: 

i. Promptly contact the Caregiver’shis/her immediate supervisor or Human Resources to 

report the situation and to arrange for the transition of patient care as appropriate 

necessary in order to permit the Caregiver employee to avoid conversing or interacting 

with the practitioner; 

ii. Discontinue all conversation or interaction with the practitioner except to the extent 

necessary to transition patient care responsibility safely and promptly from the Caregiver 

employee to another qualified person as directed by the Caregiver’s employee’s 

supervisor; 

Continue work or patient care activity elsewhere as directed; and  

iii. Consult with supervisory personnel or with the Director of Human Resources about filing 

a written report of the alleged incident.  

2. All complaints alleging disruptive discriminatory or unsafe behavior by members of the Medical Staff or 

Allied Practitioner staff shall be documented and handled as provided in the Medical Staff’s Practitioner 

Complaint Policy.    

2. Handling of Complaints 

a. All complaints and related documentation in which the subject of the complaint is a privileged 

practitioner will be directed to the Medical Staff Office. The Medical Staff Office will review the 

complaint and forward it for review as follows: 

 

i. For complaints involving concerns about quality of care, the patient encounter and related 

information will be submitted for peer review through the relevant Department Chief(s) 

or designee, following the normal peer review process. If determined to need additional 

review, the case may be referred to committee (standing or ad hoc), external peer review, 

recommendation for Focused Professional Practice Evaluation (FPPE) or other 

appropriate action. Any adverse privilege actions as a result of peer review will comply 

with the procedures detailed in the Medical Staff Bylaws. 

 

ii. For complaints involving behavioral concerns suspected to be related to impairment 

(physical, emotional, or psychiatric), the review will be delegated to the Physician 

Wellness Committee after consultation with the Chief of Staff. 

 

Page 72 of 185



 

4 
Medical Staff Professional Conduct Policy 

iii. For complaints involving behavioral concerns not suspected to be related to impairment, 

including reports of discriminatory behavior or sexual harassment, the report will be 

submitted to the Chief of Staff, Department Chief, or designee for review. The reviewer 

(or designated ad hoc committee) will make a reasonable effort, through personal 

interviews and/or other fact-finding activities, to determine whether the allegations are 

credible. If it is determined that a formal corrective action investigation may be needed, 

the case should be referred to the Chief of Staff and/or Medical Executive Committee for 

determination and proper notice procedures as per the Medical Staff Bylaws.    

 

iv. For any complaint involving any conduct such that failure to take immediate action may 

result in an imminent danger to the health of any individual, the Chief of Staff, Medical 

Executive Committee, or Chief of the Department may summarily restrict or suspend the 

individual’s clinical privileges under the procedures further outlined in the Medical Staff 

Bylaws. The Chief Medical Officer and/or Administrator On-Call shall be notified of 

such summary restriction or suspension. 

 

b. Practitioners who are the subject of a complaint shall be provided a summary of the complaint, 

either verbally or in writing, in a timely fashion (in no case more than 30 days from receipt of the 

complaint by the Chief of Staff, Department Chief, or designee). The practitioner shall be offered 

an opportunity to provide a written response to the complaint and any such response will be kept 

along with the original complaint. 

 

c. Practitioners will be notified that attempts to confront, intimidate, or otherwise retaliate against 

the complainant is a violation of Medical Staff Professional Conduct Policy and may result in 

corrective action against the practitioner as further detailed in the Medical Staff Bylaws.  

 

d. If the practitioner signs an agreement to keep the complaint and related information in strict 

confidence and to use the information exclusively within the formal Medical Staff peer review 

process, he or she may review a copy of the complaint and any supporting documentation 

submitted with the complaint by the complainant, with names redacted, in the Medical Staff 

Office.. The practitioner may not photograph or keep a copy of the complaint (see attached 

Confidentiality Agreement). 

 

3. Progressive Discipline for Verified Inappropriate Behavior 

a. If this is the first incident of verified inappropriate behavior the Chief of Staff or designee shall 

discuss the matter with the subject of the complaint, emphasizing that the behavior must cease. 

The subject of the complaint may be asked to apologize to the complainant. The approach during 

this initial intervention should be collegial and helpful.  

 

b. Further isolated incidents that do not constitute persistent, repeated inappropriate behavior will 

be handled by providing the subject of the complaint with notification of each incident, and a 

reminder of the expectation he or she comply with Medical Staff Professional Conduct Policy.  

 

c. If it is determined that there is repeated inappropriate behavior, a letter of admonition will be 

sent to the practitioner, and, as appropriate, a rehabilitation action plan developed by the Chief of 

Staff or Department Chief, with the advice and counsel of the Medical Executive Committee as 

indicated.  

 

Page 73 of 185



 

5 
Medical Staff Professional Conduct Policy 

d. If in spite of admonition and intervention, inappropriate behavior recurs, the Chief of Staff or 

designee shall meet with and advise the practitioner such behavior must immediately cease or 

corrective action (as per the Medical Staff Bylaws) will be initiated. This “final warning” shall 

be sent to the practitioner in writing.  

 

e. If after the “final warning” the behavior recurs, corrective action shall be initiated pursuant to the 

Medical Staff Bylaws.  

 

4. Documentation and Records  

a. It is the responsibility of the Medical Staff Office to track the progress of all complaints and keep 

accurate records of any resolutions in the practitioner’s quality file. All complaints (excepting 

any complaints that were found to have no substance or validity during the review process) will 

be reviewed at the time of re-credentialing and as part of the practitioner’s periodic Ongoing  

Professional Practice Evaluation (OPPE). 

 

b. Complaints and all related investigation documents and reports shall be identified and 

maintained as confidential peer review documents protected under Evidence Code 1157. 

 

REFERENCES: 

1. Stanford Healthcare (2019). Medical Staff Code of Professional Behavior. Stanford, CA. Director of 

Medical Staff Services. 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

1. Documentation of complaints and related records are to be kept for the length of the practitioner’s 

career, plus 6 years.  

 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Northern Inyo Healthcare District Medical Staff Bylaws 

 

Supersedes: v.2 Professional Conduct. Prohibition or Discriminatory Behavior; v.1 Practitioner Complaint 

Resolution Process 

 

Page 74 of 185



 

 

 
 

 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

QUALITY ASSURANCE &  

PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT  

(QAPI) 

 

PLAN 

 
 CY 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 75 of 185



 

 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 

PURPOSE 

The Quality Assurance and Performance Improvement (QAPI) Plan establishes a District-wide program for 

an interdisciplinary and ongoing approach to monitor, assess, and improve patient care and services at 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD). The QAPI Plan is designed to support the Mission, Vision, and 

Values of the District and collectively drive the safety and quality of patient care services provided. 

 

MISSION, VISION AND VALUES 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) mission statement is as follows:  

Improving Our Communities one life at a time. One Team. One Goal. Your Health. 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District Vision Statement as follows: 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District will be known throughout the Eastern Sierra 

Region for providing high quality, comprehensive care in the most patient friendly 

way, both locally and in coordination with our trusted partners. 

CORE VALUES: COMPASSION AND INTEGRITY 

This set of values are the foundation that defines who will choose to dedicate themselves to the well-being 

of others. 

ASPIRATIONAL VALUES: QUALITY/EXCELLENCE AND INNOVATION 

This set of values drives the District to work towards making tomorrow’s healthcare better than yesterday’s 

healthcare. 

PERMISSIVE VALUES: TEAM-BASED AND SAFETY 

These are the values without which a patient would not allow the District to engage in her/his care. 

 

SCOPE OF SERVICE AND AUTHORITY 

 

The scope of this plan will include all patient care and support services throughout the District. The plan 

will measure, analyze, and track performance improvement indicators and other aspects of the quality of 

care. The plan reviews the District’s operating systems and processes of care to identify and implement 

opportunities to provide high quality and safe care, focusing on improving health outcomes as well as 

preventing and reducing medical errors.  

 

NIHD’s Board of Directors is responsible for this plan, which supports the mission, vision, and values of 

the District and is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the QAPI Plan activities are met. The Board of 

Directors delegates the development, implementation, and sustainability of the plan to the Quality Council, 

Quality Department, and Executive Team.  

 

Page 76 of 185



 

 

NIHD’s Executive Team delegates the implementation of the QAPI Plan to the Quality Council and 

Quality Department. The Executive Team ensures resources are available for the implementation of quality 

and performance improvement activities.   

 

NIHD’s medical staff is responsible for participating in the QAPI Plan to achieve quality and safe patient 

care. Medical staff members contribute to the QAPI Plan through involvement in performance 

improvement activities, serving on committees, working on project teams, and through taking on leadership 

roles.  

 

DEFINITIONS AND PRINCIPLES 

QUALITY SERVICES 

Quality services are services that are provided in a safe, effective, patient-centered, timely, efficient and 

equitable fashion. 

 SAFE: Avoiding injuries to patients from the care that is intended to help them.  

 EFFECTIVE: Providing services based on scientific knowledge to those who would benefit, and 

refraining from providing services from those not likely to benefit. 

 PATIENT-CENTERED: Providing care that is respectful of, and responsive to, individual patient 

preferences, needs, and values. 

 TIMELY: Reducing delays in providing and receiving healthcare. 

 EFFICIENT: Avoiding waste, including waste of equipment, supplies, ideas and energy.  

 EQUITABLE: Providing care that does not vary in quality because of personal characteristics, such 

as gender, ethnicity, geographic location, and socioeconomic status.  

ADVERSE EVENT 

Adverse event is an untoward, undesirable, and usually unanticipated event that causes death or serious 

injury or the risk thereof.  

 

ERROR 

Error means the failure of a planned action to be completed as intended or the use of a wrong plan to 

achieve an aim. Errors can include problems in practice, products, procedures, and systems.   

MEDICAL ERROR 

Medical error means an error that occurs in the delivery of healthcare services.  

 

PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT PRINCIPLES 

Performance improvement is a systematic approach to assessing services and improving them on a priority 

basis. The District’s approach to performance improvement is based on the following principles: 

Page 77 of 185



 

 

 Patient Focused. Every level of service shall be viewed from the perspective of the patient.  With 

this frame of mind District will focus on the patient experience and how best to adopt changes that 

enhance the experience. 

 Workforce Engagement. All NIHD workforce shall participate in ongoing quality improvement 

Workforce members shall understand that along with ownership of how they engage those who 

contact or present to the District they also are empowered to identify issues, bring those issues to 

the attention of others, and participate in processes intended to prevent the issue or improve the 

experience.   

 Leadership Involvement. District Leadership along with Medical Staff will serve as ‘Champions’ of 

initiatives.  As Champions, they will support and encourage the goals and provide necessary 

intervention when needed to reach these goals.  Additionally, District leadership will ensure that the 

employees engaged in any given quality initiative have the tools, support and resources needed to 

achieve the defined goals. 

 Data Informed Practice. The District utilizes data to identify opportunities, determine priorities, 

and evaluate the effectiveness of quality projects with the appropriate resources. 

 Statistical Tools. The District will apply standard statistical tools to the data collected in order to 

generate information that is both informative and actionable. 

 Prevention over Correction. Although this QAPI plan will provide for the identification of existing 

issues/concerns and correcting them, the goal of this QAPI plan is to emphasize the identification of 

potential areas of concern to prevent quality of care issues from arising.   

 Continuous Improvement. The District will commonly use Plan-Do-Study-Act method of 

continuous improvement.  This however will not be the exclusive method used.  Each endeavor 

undertaken will warrant an assessment of the best method available to achieve the desired goal. 

SECTION 2:  PROGRAM STRUCTURE 

LEADERSHIP 

 

The key to the success of the performance improvement process is leadership. Leaders foster teamwork and 

provides support to the quality improvement goals, objectives, and activities.  

 

Leadership utilizes performance improvement methodology to identify opportunities for improvement and 

to monitor the effectiveness, safety, and quality of services provided. They accomplish this by: 

 Implementing quality and performance activities that align and support the QAPI Plan.  

 Reporting and monitoring indicators on departmental pillars/scorecards.  

 Communicating and sharing results of measurement activities and overall performance.  

 

The Quality Department and Quality Council provide ongoing operational oversight of the quality and 

performance improvement activities at the District.  

 

The Quality Department drives the development of quality and performance improvement activities at the 

District and participates in committees and project teams related to improving quality of care. The 

Page 78 of 185



 

 

department assists the District in fulfilling its responsibilities to assure patients receive quality care which 

also complies with regulatory and accreditation organizations. It does this by: 

 Developing the annual QAPI Work Plan and collaborating with the Quality Council on the annual 

review of the QAPI Plan.  

 Establishing measurable objectives based upon priorities identified through use of established 

criteria for improving quality and safety of services.  

 Continuously monitoring regulatory standards and District performance. 

 Identifying opportunities for improvement and presenting recommendations to the Quality Council 

for project approval.  

 Supporting quality improvement activities.  

 Monitoring progress until goals have been met and maintained. 

 Standardizing processes to achieve quality improvement in patient care services. 

 

The Quality Council guides and monitors the quality management efforts throughout the District and 

coordinates quality improvement efforts with the medical staff.  

The Quality Council fulfills such responsibility by: 

 Evaluating and making recommendations for improvement to the QAPI Plan.  

 Reviewing and assessing feasibility of requests for quality related projects. 

 Appointing subcommittees or teams to work on specific quality projects as necessary. 

 High level trending of data to identify opportunities for improvement. 

 Prioritizing QAPI projects and making recommendations to the Executive Team. 

 Overseeing the progress of quality projects to assure timely implementation. 

 Utilizing regulatory requirements to identify opportunities for improvement. 

 

WORKFORCE MEMBERS 

The Northern Inyo Healthcare District Workforce, including the medical staff, play a vital role in the QAPI 

Plan. The workforce participates and contributes to the Plan through their delivery of quality of care. 

Workforce members may be asked to participate in committees, project teams and other initiatives.   

 

Workforce members, including individual members of the medical staff, are invited to bring forth ideas and 

suggestions for performance improvement activities to their department leaders, chairs or directly to the 

Quality Council. 

 

GOALS & OBJECTIVES 

The goals of the QAPI Plan are to assess the services provided by the District, including contracted 

services, identify quality and performance opportunities, implement improvement activities and ensure 

monitoring and sustainability of activities. The QAPI Plan takes a pro-active approach at identifying 

priorities and aligns with the District Strategic Plan on quality improvement and safety.  

 

The following objectives have been established as long-term goals of the QAPI Plan.   

 To evaluate and improve performance measurement systems to assess key processes or outcomes. 

 To bring leaders, clinicians, and staff together to review data and clinical adverse occurrences to 

identify problems. 

 To carefully prioritize identified problems or desired projects and set goals for their resolution. 

Page 79 of 185



 

 

 To achieve measurable improvement in highest priority areas for the selected goals. 

 To meet internal and external reporting requirements.  

 

Annually, a Work Plan is established to address the goals and objectives that have been identified as high 

priority, high volume, or high risk areas.  NIHD also prioritizes activities related to improved health 

outcomes and the prevention and reduction of medical errors, adverse events, acquired conditions and 

infections, and transition of care.  

 

SECTION 3: PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT METHODOLOGY 

PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 

Performance measurement is the process of regularly assessing the results produced by the District. It 

involves identifying and selecting indicators of processes, system, and outcomes that are integral to the 

performance of the service delivery system, and analyzing information related to these indicators on a 

regular basis. Performance improvement involves taking action as needed based on the results of the data 

analysis and the opportunities for performance improvement they identify. 

 

The purpose of the measurement and assessment is to: 

 Assess the stability of processes or outcomes to determine whether there is an undesirable degree of 

variation or a failure to perform at an expected level. 

 Identify problems of a process or outcome. 

 Assess the outcome of the care provided. 

 Assess whether a new or improved process meets performance expectations. 

 

Measurement and assessment involves: 

 Selection of a process or outcome to be measured. 

 Identification and/or development of performance indicators for the selected process or outcome to 

be measured. 

 Aggregating data so that it is summarized and quantified to measure a process or outcome. 

 Assessment of performance with regard to these indicators at planned and regular intervals. 

 Taking action to address performance discrepancies when indicators show that a process is not 

stable, is not performing at an expected level or represents an opportunity for improvement. 

 Reporting within the organization on findings, conclusions and actions taken as a result of 

performance assessment. 

 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

A performance indicator, otherwise known as a metric or measure, is a quantitative tool that provides 

information about the performance of a department’s process, services, functions, or outcomes. 

 

 Selection of a Performance Indicator is based on the following considerations: 

 Alignment with and support of NIHD’s mission, vision, and/or values 

 Regulatory/accreditation requirement  

 Clinical Importance that involves areas or processes that are problem prone, high risk, and/or high 

volume 

Page 80 of 185



 

 

 Scientific foundation: Relationship between the indicator and the process, system or clinical 

outcome. 

 Validity: Whether the indicator assesses what it purports to assess 

 Meaningfulness: Whether the results of the indicator can be understood, the indicator measures a 

variable over which NIHD has control, and the variable is possible to change by reasonable 

performance improvement efforts. 

 Availability of industry benchmarks 

 

For the purpose of this plan, performance indicators are tracked and monitored by the Quality department. 

Measurement of the metrics may be District-wide in scope, targeted to specific areas, departments, 

services, or selected populations.  

 
The measurements may be ongoing, time limited, intensive, or recurring. The duration and frequency of 

monitoring are based on the need of the organization, external requirements, and based on the results of the 

data analysis.  

 

DATA ANALYSIS & ASSESSMENT 

Data analysis is completed through the collection and compilation of information. Internal and external 

collection is used for monitoring performance and ultimately guide the QAPI Plan in data informed 

decision making.    

 

Assessment is accomplished by comparing actual performance on an indicator with: 

 Trends over time.   

 Pre-established standards, goals, benchmarks, or expected levels of performance. 

 Evidence-based practices. 

 Other hospitals, clinics, or similar service providers. 

 

Data will be assessed for patterns, trends, and/or variations that may identify opportunities for 

improvement. Data analysis may also be necessary when performance levels or variation indicate a serious 

event, such as the following: 

1. A sentinel event has occurred, triggering a root cause analysis. 

2. Performance varies significantly from that of other organizations or recognized standards. 

 

SECTION 4: PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT INITIATIVES 

The purpose of an initiative is to improve the performance of existing services, quality of care, or to design 

a new service.  

 

Opportunities for improvement (OFI) may be identified and prioritized by the Quality Council through 

several means, including:  

 Results, actions, or recommendation from internal reporting of events (i.e. Unusual Occurrence 

Reports). 

 Results, responses, and status of regulatory and accreditation surveys or District tracer activities. 

 Results of operational or process audits. 

 Actions and improvements of Root Cause Analyses and/or Failure Modes Effects (and Criticality) 

Analyses (FMEAs/FMECAs). 

Page 81 of 185



 

 

 

SECTION 5: QAPI PLAN EVALUATION 

An evaluation of the QAPI plan will be completed on an annual basis. This evaluation and subsequent 

report will be completed by the Quality Department and Quality Council and presented to the Executive 

Team and Board of Directors for review and approval.  

  

The evaluation will summarize the goals and objectives of NIHD’s QAPI plan and the performance 

improvement activities conducted during the past year. QAPI annual reports will include: 

 Summary of progress towards meeting annual goals and objectives. 

 Brief summary of the findings for each of the indicators used during the year, including both the 

outcomes of the measurement process and the conclusions and actions taken in response to these 

outcomes. 

 Summary of progress for performance improvement initiatives and projects including project 

activities, outcomes, and status.  

 Recommendations for actions needed to improve the QAPI plan effectiveness. 

 

 

REFERENCES:  

1. Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Conditions of Participation: Quality Assessment and 

Performance Improvement Program, §485.641.  

2. Dixon, L. (2021, March 23) CMS Hospital Conditions of Participation (CoP) QAPI Standards and 

Worksheet [Webinar]. Healthcare Risk Education and Consulting, LLC.  

3. The Joint Commission. Comprehensive Accreditation Manual for Critical Access Hospitals (2022). 

LD.01.03.01, PI.01.01.01, PI.02.01.01, PI.03.01.01, PI.04.01.01. 

CROSS REFERENCE POLICY & PROCEDURE: 

1. InQuiseek - #500 Program Evaluation Policy 

2. InQuiseek - #510 Quality Assurance and Utilization Review 

3. InQuiseek – 530 Risk Management Policy 

   

Committee Approval Date 

Quality Council 6/5/2020 

Medical Executive Committee 05/11/2021 

Board of Directors 08/19/2021 

Last Board of Director Review 08/19/2021 

    

 Developed: 10/19ta 

 Reviewed:  

 Revised: 5/2020ta, 2021AF, 2022 AF,MG,  

 

  

Page 82 of 185



 

1 
Safe Patient Handling – Minimal Lift Program 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

Title: Safe Patient Handling – Minimal Lift Program 

Owner: EMPLOYEE HEALTH INFECT PREV 

SPEC 

Department: Employee Health 

Scope:  Clinical Staff District Wide 

Date Last Modified: 04/13/2022 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 

Version: 4 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 10/01/2014 

 

PURPOSE:  

Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) wants to ensure that patients are cared for safely, while maintaining a 

safe work environment for employees.  This document describes the practices at NIHD to ensure employees use 

safe patient handling and movement techniques for patients in patient care areas. 

 

POLICY: 

1. Patient care areas include all areas of the District where care and treatment of services are rendered 

directly to the District’s patient population and include, but are not limited to Rural Health Clinics, 

Nursing Services, Diagnostic Imaging Services, Cardiopulmonary, NIA Clinics, Lab and Rehabilitation 

Services. 

2. Direct patient care staff members in all patient care areas will assess all patient handling tasks in 

advance to determine the safest way to accomplish the tasks. 

a. Mechanical lift aids will be used as appropriate for the patient and all direct patient care 

employees are expected to assist each other in the execution of safe patient handling matters. 

b. District Leaders are required to ensure that employee have appropriate assistance in 

implementing this policy on a task by task basis and have trained their staff members on 

appropriate safe patient handling matters. 

3. For patients admitted to the hospital, an RN will serve as the coordinator of care assessing the patient’s 

mobility needs (functional screen in the nursing assessment) and identify in the Plan of Care, the level of 

assistance required and mechanical device usage. 

a. A referral will be generated to Rehabilitation Services based on the Functional Screen and/or 

physician order for additional patient assessment and care planning. 

4. An inventory of mechanical device equipment for patient care areas will be maintained by the 

department management. 

5. Staff training will be provided on the use of mechanical device equipment as appropriate to the position 

hired. 

6. Mechanical lift devices are to be used on patients requiring assistance.  Manual lifting without a 

mechanical lift device is discouraged. 

a. If some degree of lifting is unavailable, caregivers should seek assistance from other staff 

members and/or employ mechanical aids whenever possible. 

7. Employees who do not utilize proper safe patient handling practices may be subject to corrective action. 

Page 83 of 185



 

2 
Safe Patient Handling – Minimal Lift Program 

a. Discipline will not occur with respect to a health care worker who refuses to lift, reposition, or 

transfer a patient due to concerns about patient or worker safety or lack of equipment or trained 

lift personnel. 

8. Any injury resulting from patient lifting or positioning, including strains, sprains, or any other muscular 

skeletal injury must be handled according to the Work related Accidents Policy. 

9. If a patient is unable to assist the HCW with repositioning or transfers, then the lifting and moving of the 

patient will be done with minimum of two person assist with or without the use of an assistive device. 

10. Transferring patients out of any inpatient unit, and/or ED, on a gurney or bed, to and from the Imaging 

Department will be done with a minimum of two-person assistance. One person will act as the lead 

directing the second person for any assistance needed throughout the transport. 

10. If a patient is being transferred on a gurney, on a flat surface to any inpatient unit or PACU/OR, it is 

permissible for one person to perform the transport. Transferring patients out of the unit on a gurney or 

bed to the Radiology Department will be done with a minimum of two-person assistance. If transferring 

a patient on a gurney, on a flat surface to any inpatient unit or PACU/OR is permissible for 1 person to 

transport a patient on a gurney. 

 

 

DEFINITIONS: 

1. Manual Lifting:  Lifting, transferring, repositioning, and moving patients using a caregiver’s body 

strength without the use of lifting equipment/aids that reduce forces on the worker’s muscular skeletal 

structure. 

2. Patient Handling Equipment and Aids:  Equipment or aids used to decrease the risk of injury from 

patient handling activities and includes, but is not limited to the following: 

a. Lifting Equipment includes portable/floor-based designs and their accompanying slings that 

function to assist in lifting and transferring patients, ambulating patients, repositioning patients, 

and other patient handling tasks.  

b. Lateral Transfer Devices Provide assistance in moving patients horizontally from one surface 

to another (e.g., transfers from bed to stretcher). 

c. Beds that provide assistance with patient handling tasks such as lateral rotation therapy, 

transportation, percussion, bringing patients to sitting positions, etc. 

d. Repositioning Aids provide assistance in turning patients and pulling patients up to the head of 

the bed and up in chairs. 

e. Equipment/bed/wheelchair transport assistive devices assist caregivers in pushing heavy 

equipment. 

f. Patient Handling Aids:  Non-mechanical equipment used to assist in the lift or transfer process.  

Examples include stand assist aids, sliding boards, and surface friction-reducing devices. 

g. Powered Height-adjustable exam tables assist in transfer of patients onto exam tables and in 

bringing patients to sitting position, and raise the table surface to a more ergonomically safe 

working level. 

3. High Risk Patient Handling Tasks:  Patient handling tasks that have a high risk of musculoskeletal injury 

for staff performing the tasks.  These include but are not limited to transferring and lifting tasks, 

repositioning tasks, bathing patients in bed, making occupied beds, ambulating and dressing patients, 

turning patients in bed, tasks with long durations, standing for long periods of time, bariatric, and other 

patient handling tasks. 

4. Designated Health Care Worker:  NIHD staff who have been specifically trained to handle patient lifts, 

repositioning, and transfers using patient transfer, repositioning, or lifting devices as appropriate for the 

specific patient.   

   

Page 84 of 185



 

3 
Safe Patient Handling – Minimal Lift Program 

PROCEDURE: 

A. Direct Patient Care Employee Responsibility 

1. Take responsibility for their own health and safety, as well as that of their co-workers and their patients 

during patient handling activities. 

2. Complete initial training and annual training as required. 

a. Complete additional training to correct improper use/understanding of safe patient handling and 

movement. 

b. Notify manager of need for re-training in the use of patient handling equipment and aids. 

3. Assess patient for condition and ability to cooperate with transfer and appropriate level of patient 

 assist. 

a. Identify and avoid hazardous manual patient handling and movement tasks whenever possible. 

4. Use proper techniques, mechanical lifting devices, and other approved equipment and/or aids during 

performance of high risk patient handling tasks. 

5. Promptly report to manager or shift supervisor any injury without fear of negative consequence. 

6. Follow procedures for reporting patient handling equipment in need of repair. 

B. RN Coordinator of Care Admitted Patients. 

1. To follow initial Nursing Admission Assessment Policy and Procedure. 

C. Develop nursing care plan as recommended by EHR documentation for fall risk and mobility scores.  

Management of Direct Patient Care Employees. 

1. Be educated and remain up-to-date in the use of mechanical lifts and transfer aids.  Be aware of 

 department worker’s compensation costs and injury rates and continue to make efforts to reduce 

the number of incidents in all areas of responsibility. 

2. Through employee observation, documentation review and other means, make sure that all employees 

are assessing the patient prior to any movement and that all patient handling tasks are completed safely, 

using mechanical lifting devices and other approved handling aids. 

3. Department inventory of mechanical lifting devices/aids  are available in proper working order, 

maintained regularly and stored readily accessible in the clinical areas. 

a. see Patient Lifting Handling Equipment/Aids per Department reference sheet 

4. Review orientation checklists to make sure that employees complete initial training; ensure employees 

demonstrate competency; provide re-training when employees are non-compliant with safe patient 

handling practices; maintain training records for a period of three years. 

5. Refer all staff reporting patient handling injuries to the Shift Supervisor and/or Emergency Department 

for immediate evaluation and treatment. 

D. Rehabilitation Services 

1. Physical Therapy and/or designee will: 

a. Complete training of newly hired staff members on the use of the lift equipment/aids and  assist 

with ongoing training for unit staff members.  Provide reference materials with the information 

needed for troubleshooting. 

b. Training will include use of lifting deices and equipment to handle patient safety and the five 

areas of body exposure:  vertical, lateral, bariatric, repositioning, and ambulation. 

2. PT and/or designee will conduct ergonomic rounds quarterly to assess for patient handling lift training 

opportunities and to encourage and motivate staff in the use of lifts/transfer devices, report unsafe 

situations related to the use of the lift equipment and assist with organization and accessibility of 

equipment. 

3. Remain knowledgeable and current on all lift equipment/transfer aids available to staff members and 

stay abreast of updates/changes. 

4. Assure equipment and any needed supplies are readily available in departments; communicate supply 

issues to Manager. 

Page 85 of 185



 

4 
Safe Patient Handling – Minimal Lift Program 

E. Facilities Management: 

1. Biomedical Engineering shall maintain patient care equipment in proper working order. 

2. Consult with equipment manufacturers to provide safe equipment installations. 

F.    Reporting of Injuries: 

1. Employees are required to follow the Work related Accidents Policy for any patient handling injury 

event  

2. Employees who are non-compliant with the Safe Patient Handling Policy must be re-trained and 

demonstrate competency in equipment use before returning to work.  Continued failure to use proper 

patient handling practices may result in corrective action up to and including termination. 

 

 

REFERENCES: 

1. ANA (2013) Safe Patient Handling and Mobility:  Inter-professional National Standards.  

Nursebooks.org. 

2. California Code of Regulations (2013) Safe Patient Handling Bill (AB1136).  

www.dir.ca.gov/oshsb/safe_patient_handling.htm; 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

Training records will be maintained for a minimum of 1 year per Cal/OSHA requirement (2014 regulation). 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Completing Quality Review Report in Performance Excellence Manual 

2. Employee Requests to be Excluded from Patient Care in HR /Employee Handbook 

3. TJC (2012) Improving Patient and Worker Safety:  Opportunities for Synergy, Collaboration and 

 Innovation.  Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois.  

4. Work Related Accidents in Human Resources/Employee Handbook 

5. Injury and Illness Prevention Program located in Employee Health Manual 

 

Supersedes: v.3 Safe Patient Handling – Minimal Lift Program 

 

Page 86 of 185



 

1 
Sentinel Event/Serious Harm Reporting and Prevention 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

Title: Sentinel Event/Serious Harm Reporting and Prevention 

Owner: Compliance Officer Department: Compliance 

Scope:  District Wide 

Date Last Modified: 02/04/2022 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 

Version: 2 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 10/05/2012 

 

PURPOSE: 

1. To have a positive impact in improving patient care, treatment and services and in preventing 

unintended harm. 

2. When a sentinel event/serious adverse event occurs, to focus attention on efforts to understand the 

factors that contributed to the event and to change the hospital’s culture, systems and processes in order 

to reduce the probability of such an event in the future. 

3. To increase the general knowledge about patient safety events, their contributing factors and strategies 

for prevention of errors. 

4. To maintain the confidence of the public (community) and Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) 

workforce that patient safety is a priority. 

5. To outline the reporting requirements and process as required by California Department of Public Health 

(CDPH) and The Joint Commission (TJC). 

 

DEFINITIONS: 

Action Plan 

The product of the root cause analysis, which identifies the strategies that an organization intends to 

implement to reduce the risk of similar events occurring in the future.  An appropriate action plan should 

demonstrate the following: 

a. Identification of changes that can be implemented to reduce risks, or formulates a rationale for not 

undertaking such changes.  

b. The plan should address responsibility for implementation, oversight, pilot testing as appropriate, time-

lines, and strategies for measuring the effectiveness of the actions. 

Adverse event:   

     An unplanned or unusual deviation in the patient care process.  

Close call: (or “Good Catch”, “Near Miss”)  

     A patient safety event that did not reach the patient. Used to describe any process variation which did not 

affect the outcome, but for which a recurrence carries a significant chance of a serious adverse outcome. 

Hazardous condition:   

     A circumstance, other than the patient’s own disease process, or condition, that increased the probability of 

an adverse event. 

No-harm event:   
     A patient safety event that reaches the patient but does not cause harm. 

 

 

Page 87 of 185



 

2 
Sentinel Event/Serious Harm Reporting and Prevention 

Patient safety event:   
    An incident or condition that could have resulted or did result in harm to a patient.  It can be the result of a    

defective system or process design, a system breakdown, equipment failure, or human error.  Patient safety 

events also include adverse events, no-harm events, close calls and hazardous conditions. 

Sentinel Event: 

An unexpected occurrence involving death or serious physical or psychological injury or the risk thereof.  

Serious injury specifically includes loss of limb or function.  This may include “risk thereof” situations. 

TJC defines this as a patient safety event (not primarily related to the natural course of the patient’s illness or 

underlying condition) that reaches a patient and results in any of the following: 

a. Death; 

b. Permanent harm; 

c. Severe temporary harm (potentially life-threatening harm lasting for a limited time without permanent 

residual, but requires transfer to a higher level of care/monitoring for a prolonged period; 

d. Suicide of any patient receiving care, treatment, or services in a staffed around-the-clock care setting or 

within 72 hours of discharge, including from the Emergency Department; 

e. Unanticipated death of a full-term infant; 

f. Discharge of an infant to the wrong family; 

g. Abduction of any patient receiving care, treatment or service; 

h. Elopement of any patient from a staffed around-the-clock care setting that leads to death, permanent 

harm or severe temporary harm to a patient; 

i. Hemolytic transfusion reaction involving administration of blood or blood products having major blood 

group incompatibilities; 

j. Rape, assault or homicide of patient, workforce, visitor or vendor while on site at the District; 

k. Invasive procedure on the wrong patient, site or that is the wrong procedure; 

l. Unintended retention of foreign object in a patient after an invasive procedure or surgery; 

m. Severe neonatal hyperbilirubinemia (bilirubin>30 milligrams/deciliter). 

Unusual Occurrences: 

An incident is any unanticipated occurrence that deviates from regular District operations; injury may or may 

not result from the incident.  At NIHD an Unusual Occurrence Report (UOR) is completed by staff aware of 

the unusual occurrence to allow for investigation, tracking/trending and performance improvement needs 

identification. 

         CDPH requires notification of events which could seriously compromise quality or patient safety. Title 22 

requires NIHD to report any occurrence, as soon as reasonably practicable, to the local health officer and to 

CDPH Licensing and Certification office (San Bernardino), which includes, but is not limited to, the 

following:   

a. An epidemic outbreak; 

a. Poisoning; 

b. Fire, major accident, disaster, other catastrophe or unusual occurrence which threatens the welfare, 

safety, or health of patients, personnel, or visitors.   

Serious Injury: 

 A serious injury is further defined as one that results in a transfer to a higher level of care, extended hospital 

stays or additional medical treatment. 

 

 

 

Page 88 of 185



 

3 
Sentinel Event/Serious Harm Reporting and Prevention 

Risk Thereof: 

For the purposes of this policy, the phrase “or risk thereof” is defined as an event that did not result in death or 

serious injury, but carries a significant chance of recurring; the recurrence of which may indeed have a more 

untoward outcome.  In determining the risk of an event recurring, the following guidelines are used:  

a. Processes involved in the event that are not well codified or standardized across the organization are 

more likely to result in the recurrence of the event. 

b. Processes that cross multiple disciplines and department lines and involve multiple steps in the process 

are more likely to result in the recurrence of the event. 

c. Processes that demonstrate significant variation (i.e. lack of stability) are more likely to result in the 

recurrence of the event. 

 Reportable Sentinel Events: 

 The Joint Commission suggests notification of Sentinel Events on a voluntary basis, which include those 

resulting in unanticipated death or major permanent loss of function, or one of the following types of events: 

a. Infant abduction 

b. Infant discharged to the wrong family 

c. Inpatient suicide 

d. Rape (by another patient or staff)  

e. Hemolytic transfusion reaction 

f. Surgery on the wrong patient or wrong body part 

g. Patient death or permanent injury/loss of function as a result of a nosocomial infection 

Root Cause Analysis (RCA): 

     An RCA is defined as a process for identifying the basic and casual factor(s) that underlie variation in 

performance, including the occurrence or possible occurrence of a sentinel event.  A root cause is the most 

fundamental reason a problem (a situation where performance does not meet expectation) has occurred. 

   

POLICY: 

1. All Adverse Events of a serious nature that result in harm, or risk thereof, to a patient, workforce 

member, visitor or vendor (per the CDPH and TJC definitions) will require immediate notification via 

District’s chain of command to the Administrator-On-Call.  Timely investigation and reporting, when 

necessary, will be completed via the Administrator-On-Call or the Compliance Officer.  

2. Reportable Sentinel Events/Severe Adverse Events will necessitate a Root Cause Analysis within 45 

days of knowledge of the event. 

3. Action Plans will be implemented and monitored for completion by the Quality/Informatics/Survey 

Readiness team, under the direction of the Director of Quality & Infection Prevention and the Chief 

Medical Officer.  These findings will be reported to the Compliance Officer and the Executive 

Committee. 

 

PROCEDURE: 

I. Identification of a Sentinel Event/ Unusual Occurrence 

A. Any potential sentinel event/significant adverse event is to be reported immediately to the Compliance 

Officer or the Administrator-On-Call via the NIHD chain of command.  Upon notification, this 

individual will undertake or direct an initial investigation to determine if the occurrence is indeed a 

sentinel event/significant adverse event as defined by this policy. 

B. If the event is determined not to be sentinel/significant in nature, it will be addressed in accordance 

with established unusual occurrence management policy and procedure.  If the event is determined to 

be sentinel/significant adverse event in nature, then NIHD shall respond as noted in this document. 

Page 89 of 185



 

4 
Sentinel Event/Serious Harm Reporting and Prevention 

II. Mandated Reporting of Sentinel Event/Adverse Event 

A. Reporting the Event to Beta Healthcare (NIHD Insurance) 

1. Adverse Events of significance require prompt notification of NIHD’s Risk Management 

Company. 

2. Prior to notification to other agencies, appropriate risk/benefit discussion with Beta Health 

should occur and should involve the District CEO or designee. 

B. Reporting of Sentinel Events to the Joint Commission (TJC) 

1. TJC experts will help to clarify whether an event meets the sentinel event definition. 

2. TJC can provide support and expertise during the review of a sentinel event by providing 

collaboration with their patient safety specialist resource. 

3. Reporting, although not required, raises the level of transparency and helps to promote 

transparency. 

4. Reporting proactively provides messaging that the District is working to prevent similar patient 

safety events in the future. 

C. Reporting of Sentinel Event to CDPH 

1. Report adverse events upon detection, within 24 hours of an ongoing urgent or emergent threat, 

or five (5) days for all other significant adverse events. 

a.   Detection is defined as occurring on the first business day on which such adverse event is 

known to the hospital, or by exercising reasonable diligence that would have been known 

to the hospital. (e.g. error is discovered at 8pm on Tuesday; first business day begins on 

Wednesday at 8am.) 

b.   Report the detection or allegation of sexual assault within 24 hours. 

c.   Reportable events associated with restraints DO NOT include chemical restraints. 

d.   Reportable medication errors DO NOT include when the medication is in control of the 

patient or consumer. 

2. Healthcare Event Reporting tool – CalHEART portal will be utilized to report. 

a.   Email or telephone reporting may be utilized if CalHEART site is down/secure internet 

website is nonoperational. 

b.   Administrator-On-Call to complete report via CalHEART or Compliance Officer if needed. 

III. Investigation of Event/Conducting a Root Cause Analysis (RCA) 

A. Remediation of any immediate threat or likelihood of recurrent sentinel event/adverse event will be 

put into place to prevent further occurrences. 

B. RCA should take place timely – within 45-day window of discovery. 

C. RCA team is to be formed to respond to a sentinel event/unusual occurrence.   

1. Various District departments will participate in the investigation as necessary to obtain 

complete information related to the circumstances involved.   

2. An experience District Leader will lead the RCA team.  

3. Individuals directly involved in the event should participate. 

D. Root Cause Analysis (six steps) 

1. Define the problem 

a. Develop an accurate, impartial description of the event. 

b. Define the scope of the issue(s). 

2. Find causes 

a. List potential causes of the event in question 

b. Develop a deeper understanding of the issue(s) 

Page 90 of 185



 

5 
Sentinel Event/Serious Harm Reporting and Prevention 

3. Finding the root cause (most common tools utilized) 

a. Five Whys 

b. Histogram 

c. Fault Tree 

d. Scatter Chart 

e. Cause & Event Tree 

f. Pareto Analysis 

4. Find solutions (design corrective action plan using tools) 

a. Common tools 

b. Interviewing 

c. Brainstorming 

d. Benchmarking 

e. Flow Charts 

f. Why Not Process 

5. Take action 

a. Take steps to implement the corrective action plan created by RCA team 

b. Include steps to ensure sustainability of the change(s) 

c. Update any necessary policy or procedural documents that are impacted to sustain the 

action plan. 

d. Educate workforce on policy or procedural changes. 

6.  Verify solution effectiveness 

a. Analyze results using data and/or observations  

E. Protection from Discovery – All activities of investigation and RCA shall be done under the 

auspices of the medical staff quality/peer review process. 

IV.   Assess Culture of Safety Every Two Years using a nationally recognized survey tool 

 

REFERENCES: 

1. Title 22, California Code of Regulations, Sections 70737 (general acute care hospital). 

2. Health and Safety Code, Division 2.  Health Facilities; Article 3 – 1279.1, 1279.2, and 1279.6 (Jan 1, 

2022). 

3. CDPH All Facilities Letter (AFL 21-40, Nov. 12, 2021). 

4. The Joint Commission (CAMCAH Manual) Sentinel Events Chapter (Jan. 1, 2022). 

5. The Joint Commission (CAMCAH Manual) Standard LD.03.03.01 (Jan. 1, 2022). 

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

A record of the investigation into the sentinel event/unusual occurrence, the subsequent RCA, and any 

performance improvement activities undertaken is to be maintained by the Director of Nursing Quality & 

Infection Prevention and should be constructed in such a way as to be afforded statutory protection from 

discovery. 

1. Records related to Adverse Event reports to California Department of Public Health (CDPH) will be 

maintained for 6 years after any appeal is concluded. 

2. Records related to Adverse Events associated with Medical Devices will be maintained for the life of the 

device, plus 6 years. 

3. Records related to adverse reaction to blood and blood component will be maintained for 15 years after 

the expiration date on the blood product. 

Page 91 of 185



 

6 
Sentinel Event/Serious Harm Reporting and Prevention 

4.   RCA documents will be maintained for 6 years. 

 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Unusual Occurrence Report Instructions 

2. Communication with the patient/family after a harm event 

 

 

Supersedes: v.1 Sentinel Events, Unusual Occurrences Policy/Procedure 

 

Page 92 of 185



 

1 
Single-dose vs Multi-dose Vial Policy 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

Title: Single-dose vs Multi-dose Vial Policy 

Owner: Acting Director of Pharmacy Department: Pharmacy 

Scope: District Wide 

Date Last Modified: 01/17/2022 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 

Version: 2 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 07/15/2015 

 

PURPOSE:  To provide an accurate and safe method of administrating single-dose and multi-dose vials to our 

patients at Northern Inyo Hospital and Rural Health Clinic. 

 

DEFINITION:  Proper aseptic techniques of single-dose and multi-dose vial procedures will minimize the 

chance of contamination and prevention of infections. 

a. Single-dose vials do not have preservative. 

b. Multiple dose vials do have preservative 

 

POLICY: 

1. Nursing staff will use One Needle, One syringe, Only One time to ensure patient is protected from any 

time of contamination or infection. 

2. Multiple dose vials will only be used for one patient only to reduce the risk of contamination. 

3. Vials labeled by the manufacturer as “single-dose” or “single-use” will only be used for one patient.  

Single-dose vials lack antimicrobial preservatives and can become contaminated and serve as a source of 

infection when they are used inappropriately. 

4. Single-dose vials/ampoules are for immediate use only, and once opened shall not be stored for any time 

period. 

5. Single dose vial shall be used whenever possible and discarded immediately after use (within one hour). 

6. Visually inspect all single-dose and multi-dose vials for integrity, precipitation, contamination, or 

damage before each use. 

7. A pharmacy technician shall check opened vials during their daily rounds. 
 

PROCEDURE: 

Single-dose/single-use vials 

1.   Use a single-dose /single-use vial for a single patient during the course of a single procedure. 

a) Do not re-puncture the vial.   

b) Discard the vial after this single use 

c) Used vials should never be returned to stock on clinical units, drug carts, and anesthesia carts. 

d) Medications in single-dose/single-use vials lack antimicrobial preservatives and are therefore at 

greater risk to become contaminated and serve as a source of infection when used inappropriately. 

e) Do not store used single-dose/single-use vials for later use, no matter what the size of the vial. 

Page 93 of 185



 

2 
Single-dose vs Multi-dose Vial Policy 

 

Multiple-dose vials 

1. Only vials clearly labeled by the manufacturer for multiple dose use can be used more than once. 

2. When multiple-dose vials are used more than once, use a new needle and new syringe for each entry.  

Do not leave needles or other objects in the vial between uses, as this may contaminate the vial’s 

content. 

3. Disinfect the vial’s rubber septum before piercing by wiping with a sterile 70 percent isopropyl alcohol 

prep.  Allow the septum to dry before inserting a needle or other devices into the vial. 

4. Once a multiple-dose vial is punctured, it should be assigned a “beyond-use” date.  The beyond-use date 

for an opened or entered (i.e. needle-punctured) multiple-dose container with antimicrobial preservatives 

is 28 days, unless otherwise specified by the manufacturer. 

5. All vials should be dated with 28 days’ expiration and initialed when opened or taken from the 

refrigerator.  If reconstituted, the vial should be labeled with the concentration and the manufacturer’s 

lists an expiration date of a shorter time frame than 28 days. 

6. Multiple-dose vials (i.e., containing bacteriostatic agents) are considered single patient vials. 

7. Unused or unopened multiple dose vials (MDV) shall be stored until the manufacturer’s expiration date 

and according to manufacturer’s recommendation. 

 

REFERENCES: 

1. CDC: The One and Only Campaign last revised December 3, 2019 

2. The Joint Commission (CAMCAH manual) (Jan 2022) Standard NPSG. 03.04.01 EP 7 

 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Administration of Drugs and Biologicals  

2. Safe Injection Practices  

 

RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 

Compounding log kept for 6 years. 

 

 

Supersedes: v.1 Single-dose vs Multi-dose Vial Policy* 

 

Page 94 of 185



 

1 
Surgeries Requiring an Assistant 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

CLINICAL POLICY 

 

 

 

Title: Surgeries Requiring an Assistant 

Owner: DON Perioperative Services Department: Surgery 

Scope:  Surgery 

Date Last Modified: 

04/27/2022 

Last Review Date: No 

Review Date 

Version: 5 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 12/14/16 

 

PURPOSE: 
To clarify which surgical procedures require the presence of an assistant. 

 

POLICY: 

The Surgery Committee adopted the use of the American College of Surgeons “Physician as Assistant at 

Surgery” as the method to determine which surgical cases need an assistant for the procedures that are 

performed at this institution.  

 

The Surgeon will determine if he/she prefers a member of the medical staff or the use of a non-physician first 

assistant (Physician Assistant, Registered Nurse First Assistant, or Certified Nurse Midwife).  The surgeon may 

choose to have an assistant for any surgical case but should have an assistant for the cases listed below. 
 

Surgical Procedures Requiring an Assistant: 

Abdominal Perineal Resection 

Abdominal Hysterectomy 

Aortic Procedures requiring cross clamping the Aorta 

Hemi Gastrectomy 

Nephrectomy 

Thoracotomy 

Total Knee 

Total Shoulder 

 

CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES / PROCEDURES: 

 Non-Physician First Assistant in the Operating Room 

 Standardized Protocol – Physician Assistant in the Operating Room 

 Standardized Procedure for the Registered Nurse First Assistant 

 Standardized Procedure – Certified Nurse Midwife 

 

Page 95 of 185



 

2 
Surgeries Requiring an Assistant 

 

REFERENCES:  

1. Title 22 70223, 70225  

2. CMS 482.51 and 482.51(b) (1-18-2022) 

3. California State Operations Manual Appendix W: 485.639 (2-21-20) 

4. American College of Surgeons: Physicians as Assistants at Surgery; 9th Edition 
 

Supersedes: v.4 Surgeries Requiring an Assistant 

 

 

Page 96 of 185



 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE NORTHERN 
INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT MAKING THE LEGALLY REQUIRED 
FINDINGS TO CONTINUE TO AUTHORIZE THE CONDUCT OF REMOTE 
“TELEPHONIC” MEETINGS DURING THE STATE OF EMERGENCY 

 
 
WHEREAS, on March 4, 2020, pursuant to California Gov. Code Section 8625, the Governor 
declared a state of emergency stemming from the COVID-19 pandemic (“Emergency”); and 
 
WHEREAS, on September 17, 2021, Governor Newsom signed AB 361, which bill went into 
immediate effect as urgency legislation; and 
 
WHEREAS, AB 361 added subsection (e) to Government Code Section 54953 to authorize 
legislative bodies to conduct remote meetings provided the legislative body makes specified 
findings; and 
 
WHEREAS, as of September 19, 2021, the COVID-19 pandemic has killed more than 67,612 
Californians; and 
 
WHEREAS, social distancing measures decrease the chance of spread of COVID-19; and 
 
WHEREAS, this legislative body previously adopted a resolution to authorize this legislative body 
to conduct remote “telephonic” meetings; and 
 
WHEREAS, Government Code 54953(e)(3) authorizes this legislative body to continue to conduct 
remote “telephonic” meetings provided that it has timely made the findings specified therein.   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of Northern Inyo Healthcare 
District as follows: 
 

1. This legislative body declares that it has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of 
emergency declared by the Governor and at least one of the following is true: (a) the state 
of emergency, continues to directly impact the ability of the members of this legislative 
body to meet safely in person; and/or (2) state or local officials continue to impose or 
recommend measures to promote social distancing.  

Page 97 of 185



 
 
 

 
 
 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of May, 2022 by the following roll call 
vote: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:   
ABSENT:   
 
   
 
 
      _______________________________ 
      Jody Veenker, Chair 

Board of Directors 
 

 
ATTEST:      
 
________________________________ 
Name: Erika Hernandez      
Title:   Board Clerk   
 

 

Page 98 of 185



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                   April 20, 2022 
Regular Meeting                       Page 1 of 5 
      
 
CALL TO ORDER 

 
The meeting was called to order at 5:30 pm by Jody Veenker, District 
Board Chair. 

 
PRESENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ABSENT 
 
 
 
OPPORTUNITY FOR 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
PRESENTATION BY 
STERN SECURITY  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTATION BY 
EASTERN SIERRA 
CANCER ALLIANCE  
 
 
 

 
Jody Veenker, Chair 
Mary Mae Kilpatrick, Vice Chair 
Topah Spoonhunter, Secretary  
Jean Turner, Treasurer 
Robert Sharp, Member-at-Large  
Kelli Davis MBA, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating  

   Officer 
Vinay Behl, Interim Chief Financial Officer (via Zoom)  
Allison Partridge RN, MSN, Chief Nursing Officer  
Keith Collins, General Legal Counsel (Jones & Mayer) 
 
Joy Engblade MD, Chief Medical Officer   
Sierra Bourne MD, Chief of Staff  
 
Ms. Veenker announced that the purpose of public comment is to allow 
members of the public to address the Board of Directors.  Public 
comments shall be received at the beginning of the meeting and are 
limited to three (3) minutes per speaker, with a total time limit of thirty 
(30) minutes being allowed for all public comment unless otherwise 
modified by the Chair.  Speaking time may not be granted and/or loaned 
to another individual for purposes of extending available speaking time 
unless arrangements have been made in advance for a large group of 
speakers to have a spokesperson speak on their behalf.  Comments must 
be kept brief and non-repetitive.  The general Public Comment portion of 
the meeting allows the public to address any item within the jurisdiction 
of the Board of Directors on matters not appearing on the agenda.  Public 
comments on agenda items should be made at the time each item is 
considered. No public comments were heard.  
 
 
Chief Executive Officer, Kelli Davis, introduced Peter Nelson, Security 
Engineer with Stern Security. Mr. Nelson provided a presentation on the 
finding from the cyber security test conducted at Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District (NIHD). NIHD Information Technology Director, 
Bryan Harper clarified question for the Board and explained that cyber-
security testing will be conducted on an annual basis to help the District 
detect cyber vulnerabilities.    
 
Ms. Davis introduced Michelle Garcia, Secretary of the Eastern Sierra 
Cancer Alliance (ESCA). Ms. Garcia introduced Andrea Shallcross, Rosie 
Graves, Sherry Nostrant, Cheryl Underhill and other Board Members and 
volunteers of the ESCA. As a group, they provided a presentation of the 
history, services and resources provided by ESCA. They explained that 

Page 99 of 185



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                   April 20, 2022 
Regular Meeting                       Page 2 of 5 
 
 
 
 
 
NORTHERN INYO 
HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
BENEFIT HIGHLIGHTS 
PRESENTATION 
 
 
 
APPROVAL OF THE 
DISTRICT BOARD 
RESOLUTION, 22-05 
NONDESIGNATED 
PUBLIC HOSPITAL 
BRIDGE LOAN PROGRAM 
 
 
 
APPROVAL OF THE 
REPLACEMENT OF THE 
HEATING AND AIR 
CONDITIONING UNITS 
1967 BUILDING $80,000.00 
 
 
 
NORTHERN INYO 
HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
2022 COMMUNITY 
HEALTH NEEDS 
ASSESSMENT CHNA 
UPDATE  
 
NORTHERN INYO 
HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
RADIOLOGY SERVICES 
UPDATE  
 
 
 
NORTHERN INYO 
HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
WORKFORCE HOUSING 
UPDATE 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ESCA also collaborates with Northern Inyo Healthcare District to bring 
awareness and promote early detection and cancer prevention. Ms. 
Shallcross also provided current financial information for ESCA.  
 
Alison Murray, Director of Human Resources and Interim Chief Financial 
Officer, Vinay Behl, provided a presentation about the benefits provided 
to all NIHD employee and the value of these benefits from a financial 
perspective. Ms. Murray and Mr. Behl clarified questions for the Board. 
Public comment was heard from Marcia Male about the District employee 
pension plan.  
 
Mr. Behl called attention to the proposed District Board Resolution 22-05, 
Nondesignated Public Hospital Bridge Loan Program.   
 
It was moved by Jean Turner, seconded by Robert Sharp, and 
unanimously passed to approve the Board District Resolution 22-05, 
Nondesignated Public Hospital Bridge Loan Program as presented. 
 
Scott Hooker, Director of Facilities called attention to the approval of 
proposed Replacement of the Heating and Air Conditioning Units 1967 
Building for $80,000.00. 
  
It was moved by Mr. Sharp, seconded by Mary Mae Kilpatrick, and 
unanimously passed to approve the Replacement of the Heating and Air 
Conditioning Units 1967 Building for $80,000.00 as requested.  
 
Ms. Davis, provided an update on the District Community Health Needs 
Assessment (CHNA) and reported that the company selected to conduct 
the CHNA for 2022 is QHR. She explained that the first CHNA 
committee meeting with QHR took place on April 13, 2022. Director 
Spoonhunter, Director Kilpatrick and few employees from NIHD 
participated in this meeting.  
 
Ms. Davis provided an update on the current contract for Radiology 
Services between Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) and Tahoe 
Carson Radiology and explained this contract expires in April 2023. 
NIHD will solicit bids and proposals from interested radiology groups for 
a new three (3) year contract. A final selection is anticipated in August.   
 
Ms. Davis additionally reported that the District is continuing to 
experience issues in securing local housing for traveling staff and new 
employees who are moving to the area. A discussion took place about 
possibly securing housing units for the District at two local places. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100 of 185



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                   April 20, 2022 
Regular Meeting                       Page 3 of 5 
NORTHERN INYO 
HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE UPDATE 
AND DISCUSSION OF THE 
NIHD BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS STANDING 
COMMITTEE  
 
 
 
CHIEF OF STAFF REPORT 
 
PROPOSED AMENDMENT 
TO MEDICAL STAFF 
BYLAWS  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
POLICIES  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MEDICAL EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE REPORT  
 
 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ms. Davis provided an update on the recent NIHD Governance 
Committee meetings that took place earlier in the month. A discussion 
took place to review and NIHD Board bylaws on current Standing 
Committees. Keith Collins, legal counsel clarified questions for the 
Board. The Board requested that Mr. Collins create two versions of the 
bylaws to propose to the Board for consideration at the next Regular 
Board Meeting, one that would make all standing committees ad hoc 
committees and one that would make the standing committee ad hoc 
committees with only the Governance Committee as a standing 
committee.  
 
 
On behalf of Chief of Staff, Sierra Bourne, MD, Ms. Davis and Chief 
Nursing Officer, Allison Partridge called attention to the proposed 
amendment to the current Northern Inyo Healthcare District Medical Staff 
bylaws.  
 
It was moved by Mr. Sharp, seconded by Ms. Kilpatrick, and 
unanimously passed to approve the amendment to the Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District Medical Staff Bylaws as requested.  
 
Ms. Davis and Ms. Partridge, reported that the Medical Executive 
Committee recommends approval of the following District-Wide Policies: 
 
1. Naloxone (Narcan) Distribution 
2. Stress Echocardiogram 
3. Surgery Tissue/Bone Graft “Look Back” Policy 
4. Interdisciplinary Team – Clinical Screens Built into the Initial Nursing 
Assessment 
5. Emergency Management Plan 
 
It was moved by Ms. Kilpatrick, seconded by Mr. Sharp, and 
unanimously passed to approve all five (5) Policies as presented.  
 
Ms. Davis and Ms. Partridge provided a report on the Medical Executive 
Committee meeting and clarified questions.  
_______________________________________________________. 
 
Ms. Veenker called attention to the Consent Agenda for this meeting 
which contained the following items: 
 

1. Approval of District Board Resolution 22-06, to continue to allow 
Board meetings to be held virtually.  

2. Approval of minutes of the March 16, 2022 Regular Board 
Meeting 

3.  Financials and Statistical reports as of February 28, 2022 
4. Approval of Policies and Procedures  

A. Forms Development and Control Policy 

Page 101 of 185



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                   April 20, 2022 
Regular Meeting                       Page 4 of 5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

B. Nondiscriminatory Policy  
C. Overtime  
D. Smoking/Tobacco Policy 
E. Standby/Callback 
F. Unusual Occurrence Reporting  
G. Paid Time Off 

5. Approval of the Northern Inyo Healthcare District Rural Health 
Clinic- Policies and Procedures & Addendums to the Policies 

A. Policies and Procedures  
1. Regulatory Compliance Policy  
2. Formal Corporate or Organization Compliance Plan 

Policy  
3. Organizational Structure and Ownership 
4. Organizational Chart Policy  
5. Non-Discriminatory Policy  
6. RHC Service Area (Location) 
7. Advertising, Web-Presence and Social Media 

Representation  
8. Physical Plant Safety: General Policy 
9. Preventive and Required Maintenance  
10. Building Sanitation and Cleanliness 
11. Storage, Handling & Administration of Drugs, 

Biologicals, and Pharmaceuticals  
12. Blood Bourne Pathogens: Exposure Control (Including 

Needle Sticks) 
13. Infection Control Policy  
14. Disinfection and Sterilization Policy  
15. Accidental Needle Sticks  
16. Medical Waste Handling and Disposal  
17. Hazardous Materials  
18. Smoke-Free Workplace 
19. Fire Safety, Training and Evacuation 
20. Severe Weather and External Disaster Policy 
21. Communication During Internal or External Situations 
22. Visitor Policy 
23. Animals and Pet Policy 
24. RHC Provision of Services  
25. Medical Management Guidelines 
26. Patient-Provided or 3rd Party Pharmaceuticals  
27. Referral Policy  
28. Transitional Care and Continuity of Care Management  
29. Missed Appointments  
30. Emergency Care and Treatment 
31. Discharging/Dismissing a Patient  
32. After Hours Care  
33. Medical Records Policy 
34. Medical Records Integration Policy 
35. Health Information Technology/IT 

Page 102 of 185



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                   April 20, 2022 
Regular Meeting                       Page 5 of 5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BOARD MEMBER 
REPORTS ON ITEMS OF 
INTEREST 
 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
 

36. General Employment Policies  
37. Credentialing and Employment Policy 
38. COVID-19 Vaccination Policy  
39. Periodic Performance Evaluation and Clinical 

Competency  
40. Program Evaluation Policy 
41. Quality Assurance and Utilization Review  
42. Grievance Policy 
43. Risk Management Policy 
44. Financial Policies 

B. Addendum to the Policies 
1. Non-Discriminatory Policy- Policy Addendum: 

Processes and Procedures  
2. Disinfection and Sterilization Policy- Addendum Policy 
3. Communication During Internal or External Situations- 

Addendum Policy 
4. Medical Management Guidelines- Policy Addendum: 

Processes and Procedures 
5. Patient-Provided or 3rd Party Pharmaceuticals- Policy 

Addendum: Processes and Procedures 
 
It was moved by Mr. Sharp, seconded by Ms. Turner, and unanimously 
passed to approve all five (5) Consent Agenda items as presented.  
  
Ms. Veenker additionally asked if any members of the Board of Directors 
wished to report on any items of interest. Ms. Turner reported that 
Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors has scheduled a 
Special Board Meeting on April 26, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. to host the Pioneer 
Home Health Care Board of Directors. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:03 pm. 
 

  

_____________________________ 
Jody Veenker, Chair  

 
 

         Attest: ______________________________ 
                              Topah Spoonhunter, Secretary 

Page 103 of 185



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                 April 26, 2022 
Special Meeting                       Page 1 of 1  
      
 
CALL TO ORDER 

 
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 pm by Jody Veenker, District 
Board Chair. 

 
PRESENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ABSENT  
 
 
PIONEER HOME 
HEALTH CARE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS  
 
 
 
 
OPPORTUNITY FOR 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
 
 
 
NORTHERN INYO 
HEALTHCARE 
DISTRICT AND 
PIONEER HOME 
HEALTH CARE MEET 
AND GREET 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Jody Veenker, Chair   
Mary Mae Kilpatrick, Vice Chair 
Topah Spoonhunter, Secretary 
Jean Turner, Treasurer 
Robert Sharp, Member-At-Large 
Kelli Davis, Chief Executive Officer 
Allison Partridge, Chief Nursing Officer (via Zoom)  
 
Joy Engblade, Chief Medical Officer 
Vinay Behl, Interim Chief Financial Officer 
 
Randall VanTassell, President  
Marga Foote, Secretary   
Lynda Salcido, Treasurer 
Thomas Boo, Member 
Kelli Davis, Member 
Mary Mae Kilpatrick, Member 
 
Ms. Veenker reported at this time, members of the audience may speak 
only on items listed on the Notice for this meeting, and speakers will be 
limited to a maximum of three minutes each.  The Board is prohibited 
from generally discussing or taking action on items not included on the 
Notice for this meeting.  No comments were heard. 
 
Kelli Davis, Chief Executive Officer, called attention and explained that 
the purpose of the meeting is to allow the Board of Directors for Northern 
Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) and Pioneer Home Health Care (PHHC) 
to reintroduce and provide an overview of the partnership between the 
two agencies. The two Board of Directors provided a brief self-
introduction. Ms. Davis then introduced PHHC Administrator, Ruby 
Allen. 
 
Ms. Allen provided an overview of the services and programs provided by 
PHHC for over 30 years throughout the local communities of the Eastern 
Sierra. The programs include the following:   
  

- Home Health Care  
- Hospice 
- Personal Care  

 
 Ms. Allen reported that PHHC spent approximately $400,000.00 in 
preparation to becoming a certified hospice agency, she explained that in 
2018 PHHC had to seek financial assistance from NIHD.  Ms. Allen 

Page 104 of 185



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                 April 26, 2022 
Special Meeting                       Page 2 of 1  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT  

expressed her gratitude to NIHD for their willingness to help PHHC 
during this time.  
 
Ms. Allen additionally reported that the partnership between PHHC and 
NIHD, has allows both agencies to be able to collaborate together and 
provide discharge options to elderly patients. She also explained that a 
PHHC financial audit is expected to be conducted on an annual basis. 
 
Ms. Allen also reported that PHHC is challenged with meeting the needs 
of the community and operating with minimal staff. Ms. Allen explained 
that PHHC is also working to collaberate with other local agencies. Ms. 
Davis explained that the District will be launching a 2022 Community 
Health Needs Assessment and she plans to share the results with PHHC to 
help identify the needs of the community and help improve these areas to 
ensure that the partnership between the two agencies continues to grow.  
 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:07 pm. 

  

  

  
  

_________________________________ 
Jody Veenker, Chair 

 
 

         Attest: _________________________________ 
                              Topah Spoonhunter, Secretary 

Page 105 of 185



Page 106 of 185



Page 107 of 185



Page 108 of 185



Page 109 of 185



Page 110 of 185



Page 111 of 185



Page 112 of 185



Page 113 of 185



Page 114 of 185



Page 115 of 185



Page 116 of 185



Page 117 of 185



Page 118 of 185



Page 119 of 185



Page 120 of 185



Page 121 of 185



Page 122 of 185



Page 123 of 185



Page 124 of 185



Page 125 of 185



Page 126 of 185



Page 127 of 185



Page 128 of 185



Page 129 of 185



Page 130 of 185



Page 131 of 185



Page 132 of 185



Page 133 of 185



Page 134 of 185



Page 135 of 185



Page 136 of 185



Page 137 of 185



Page 138 of 185



Page 139 of 185



Page 140 of 185



Page 141 of 185



Page 142 of 185



Page 143 of 185



Page 144 of 185



Page 145 of 185



Page 146 of 185



Page 147 of 185



Page 148 of 185



Page 149 of 185



Page 150 of 185



Page 151 of 185



Page 152 of 185



Page 153 of 185



Page 154 of 185



Page 155 of 185



Page 156 of 185



Page 157 of 185



Page 158 of 185



Page 159 of 185



Page 160 of 185



Page 161 of 185



Page 162 of 185



Page 163 of 185



Page 164 of 185



Page 165 of 185



     
 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District                                                                      150 Pioneer Lane 
                                                                                                                                      Bishop, CA  93514 

                                                                                                                               (760) 873-5811 
                                                                                                                                           www.nih.org 

 
Date: 5/3/2022 
To: Board of Directors 
From: Joy Engblade, MD, MMM, FACP, Chief Medical Officer 
Re: Bi-Monthly CMO report 

Medical Staff Department update 

The Medical Staff Office has been very busy credentialing new providers.  Most of this increase is due to 
the need for temporary or locums providers.  We are looking into hiring a clerk on a temporary basis to 
help with the increased workload.   
From a recruiting standpoint, we continue to look for a General Surgeon. We will be welcoming a new 
Physician Assistant to the RHC, Matt Irons, who will be joining us in May.  We are excited to have Grant 
Meeker, MD and Jennifer Meeker, MD join our anesthesia team in late June. 
 

Pharmacy Department update 

We continue to work with Colombo Construction on the Pharmacy construction project.  Plans have 
been approved by HCAI (formally OSHPOD) and as we finalized the paperwork, we are anxious to get 
started on the actual construction.  Colombo has been a great partner, helping to guide us through this 
complex process. 

We have replaced all of our OmniCell units for medication dispensing throughout the hospital and have 
now completed all of the seismic brackets needed per regulation.    

The Pharmacy department continues to support Covid vaccination efforts, including ongoing 
vaccinations and monoclonal antibodies through allocations and education across the District in 
partnership with Inyo County. 

 

Quality Department update 

The Quality Department continues to report on a number of regulatory requirements, meeting all 
deadlines with the most recent reporting requirement met for Influenza.  Upcoming Covid reporting 
continues, with the next report due in June 2022.  This report includes Covid-19 Public Health metrics 
including: implementation of employee Covid-19 testing and vaccination in 2021, implementation of 
infrastructure and partnerships for Covid tests and vaccines and the implementation of a hospital surge 
planning and/or response.  We feel prepared to report on these measures since these topics were 
thoroughly discussed and implemented at NIHD in 2021. 

Page 166 of 185



We continue to collaborate with a company called i2i, which pulls data from Athena and Cerner to help 
with reporting requirements.  QIP continues to be a program that we are participating in, through the 
state.   

 

Dietary Department 

The Registered Dietitians (RD) continue to manage and make dietary recommendations for our 
hospitalized patients, as well as seeing and managing outpatients with dietary needs.  We have 
completed our required policies.  As a way of educating our community, Kalina Gardiner presented 
another Healthy Lifestyles Talk in March for National Nutrition Month on “The Blue Zones.”  Our RD’s 
continue to look for more ways to serve our community and workforce at NIHD.   

 

Covid 19 

We continue to have regular Incident Command meetings and share information across the District and 
with our community partners but we have decreased the meeting frequency to every other week.  As a 
team, we continue to follow the California Department of Public Health (CDPH) updates and national 
trends. 

 

Physician Compensation Update 

Productivity data is now becoming available through our billing department.  This information will be 
reviewed before sending out to the providers for review.  We are also leveraging our relationship with 
UASI, our coding partners to provide education about documentation and coding.  This education will 
start in May or June and we will plan to continue on an ongoing basis.   

 

Page 167 of 185



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
DATE:                May 2022 
TO:                     Board of Directors, Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
FROM:               Allison Partridge, RN, MSN, Chief Nursing Officer                  
RE:                     Department Update  

 
REPORT DETAIL 

 
COVID-19 

The District continues to manage the daily challenges that COVID-19 has presented. We are 

looking to begin closing our Incident Command and transitioning to full operations. This process 

will occur over several weeks as we closely monitor the Pandemic. NIHD continues to partner 

with Inyo County Public Health in administering COVID-19 vaccines and has created 

accessibility in the RHC and NIA clinics.  

  

Recruitment 

In collaboration with our Human Resource Team, we continue to focus on the recruitment and 

retention of team members to fill open vacancies throughout the District. Recruitment and 

retention continue to be an area of daily focus and present challenges throughout the District with 

a significant impact on nursing. To support the recruitment and retention of team members, NIHD 

is offering multiple training programs, including: 

· Perinatal RN Training Program 

· Operating Room RN Training Program 

· ICU RN Training Program 

· Acute/Subacute New Graduate Training Program 

· Orthopedic Technician Training Program 

· Sterile Processing Training Program 

150 Pioneer Lane 
Bishop, California 93514 

(760) 873-5811 Ext. 3415 
  

Improving our communities, one life at a time. 
One Team. One Goal. Your Health. 

 

Page 168 of 185



These training programs aim to support the growth and development of District team members, 

support the recruitment of external candidates, and support critical staffing needs.  

  

Perinatal 

Southern Mono Healthcare District (SMHD) continues to divert its Labor and Delivery patients to 

NIHD. Our Perinatal Department and Providers continue to collaborate with SMHD to ensure a 

safe handoff for these patients.   

  

National Nurses Week 

We are very excited to celebrate National Nurses Week from May 6th-May 12th. This celebration 

will include the 2022 Nursing Awards. This year, in addition to the Daisy award, we will also be 

recognizing the Rookie of the Year Award, Mission and Spirit Award, and Great Catch Award.  

 

Each department leader has submitted a department specific report to follow.  

 

 

 
 

Page 169 of 185



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
DATE:                May 2022 
TO:                     Board of Directors, Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
FROM:               Jannalyn Lawrence, Director of Outpatient Clinics                  
RE:                     Department Update  

 
REPORT DETAIL 

Old Business 
As COVID continues to trend downward, we are making efforts to move the Car Clinic team back 
inside the physical RHC building. They continue to provide same-day visits for acute issues, and 
we are working to accommodate patients with COVID-like symptoms in an exam room outfitted 
with a negative pressure unit.  

We are also working toward embedding COVID vaccine process within RHC, so patients can 
receive the vaccine as part of a regular provider visit. This will afford providers an opportunity to 
discuss the vaccine with patients and offer it at time of visit, eliminating the need for patients to 
sign up for a stand-alone vaccine clinic through the MyTurn platform.  

 

New Business 
The RHC is now equipped with a specific set of policies required to maintain compliance with 
CMS regulations. This was a significant undertaking and we were fortunate to partner with Tracy 
Aspel, who worked tirelessly to ensure policies were cross-referenced with existing NIHD 
policies and moved them through committees for approval. It is a relief knowing we stand ready 
for regulatory surveys on this front.  

 We have recently formed an oversight committee to help better serve our MAT and Behavioral 
Health programs. With so many exciting initiatives and grant-funded opportunities, we felt it 
prudent to form this committee with the purpose of strategizing, providing support, and removing 
barriers. The group will be comprised of members from the executive team, clinic leadership, as 
well as provider and staff representatives from the MAT and Behavioral Health programs.  

150 Pioneer Lane 
Bishop, California 93514 

(760) 873-5811 Ext. 3415 
  

Improving our communities, one life at a time. 
One Team. One Goal. Your Health. 

 

Page 170 of 185



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
DATE:                May 2022 
TO:                     Board of Directors, Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
FROM:               Jose Garcia, Language Access Services                  
RE:                     Department Update  

 
REPORT DETAIL 

 

Old Business 
Language Access has been working with Health Informatics, and Cerner on adding the necessary 
fields to capture required patients’ language information. This process is in the final stages, and 
will be implemented in the coming weeks. 

Language Access continues to work with Information Technology to ensure mobile devices used 
for video/voice remote interpreting, function properly when needed.      

New Business 
During the last quarter, the department provided interpreting services for 112 in-person patients’ 
visits, and translated 36 documents from English to Spanish.  

Language Access has been collaborating with QHR Health, and the District’s leadership 
preparing the next Community Health Needs Assessment – CHNA; ensuring the survey in 
Spanish is available to the community. 

150 Pioneer Lane 
Bishop, California 93514 

(760) 873-5811 Ext. 3415 
  

Improving our communities, one life at a time. 
One Team. One Goal. Your Health. 

 

Page 171 of 185



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
DATE:                May 2022 
TO:                     Board of Directors, Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
FROM:               Julie Tillemans, Perinatal Nurse Manager                   
RE:                     Department Update  

 
REPORT DETAIL 

New Business 
Northern Inyo Healthcare District Perinatal Unit continues to support Mammoth Hospital with the 
diversion of their Labor and Delivery patients. We are working collaboratively with the 
Mammoth Clinic team to ensure a seamless transition of care.   

Our Team would like to thank the NIHD Foundation for purchasing the Perinatal Department a 
brand new, upgraded Cardiopulmonary Monitor. This device is a compact piece of equipment, 
essential for monitoring newborns post-delivery to support and promote the delivery of high 
quality newborn care.  

150 Pioneer Lane 
Bishop, California 93514 

(760) 873-5811 Ext. 3415 
  

Improving our communities, one life at a time. 
One Team. One Goal. Your Health. 

 

Page 172 of 185



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
DATE:                May 2022 
TO:                     Board of Directors, Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
FROM:               Justin Nott, Med/Surg and ICU Manager 
RE:                     Department Update  

 
REPORT DETAIL 

Med/Surg and ICU  
During the last quarter, a large effort has gone into ensuring that the med/surg and ICU teams are 
survey ready. We have incorporated a survey readiness section into all our staff meetings and into 
our daily huddle reports. We also conduct monthly survey readiness tracers, which were rolled 
out by the Survey Readiness Department. 

We have begun holding multiple skills sessions to help get all clinical staff through their annual 
clinical competency training. Prior to Covid, our skills session was a two-day event that all 
clinical staff came to, but now, to meet social distancing requirements, it is broken up into 
multiple sessions that takes place over a number of months.   

We continue to move forward with the development of a peripherally inserted central catheter 
(PICC) team. The Nurses receiving the PICC training have completed their in-class and online 
training. They have also assisted with multiple live PICC and midline insertions.   

Med/surg rooms 1-3 were converted into pre-op, infusion, and PACU during the OR PACU floor 
replacement project. Both the med/surg and outpatient/PACU teams did a great job working 
together and truly embodied the “one team, one goal” in our mission statement.  

Omnicel cabinets were replaced with upgraded cabinets. This project was delayed due to the 
seismic anchor brackets fitting differently than they had on the replaced cabinets. The project is 
due to be completed by 5/6/22.   

Alarm fatigue project group, headed by Brooklyn Burley, has added a new section to UORs to 
track alarm safety related UORs.  

Med/Surg and ICU CSEs are restarting tiered code blue drills, which start as a general overview 
for the first sessions but over time, the drills get much more detailed.  

  

150 Pioneer Lane 
Bishop, California 93514 

(760) 873-5811 Ext. 3415 
  

Improving our communities, one life at a time. 
One Team. One Goal. Your Health. 

 

Page 173 of 185



 

Page 174 of 185



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
DATE:                May 2022 
TO:                     Board of Directors, Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
FROM:               Robin Christensen DON Quality/Infection Prevention                  
RE:                     Department Update  

Clinical Informatics, Survey Readiness, Infection Prevention, & Employee 
Health  

 
REPORT DETAIL 

Old Business 
Clinical Informatics: The team continues to open and monitor Cerner Service Desk tickets for 
the District and work with departments to ensure that the District's needs are met. We continue to 
onboard new providers, students, clinical, and administrative staff weekly due to cycle-
onboarding. In addition, the team continues to work with all departments to help improve 
workflow efficiency and optimization. 

Survey Readiness:  The Quality/Survey readiness team continues tracer activities throughout the 
District. In addition, leadership continues presenting information relevant to the regulatory 
requirements for their department and steps they are taking for continuous survey readiness at the 
weekly Accreditation Readiness Team (ART) meeting. In addition, we continue to collect and 
update the survey readiness binder with the required documents for CDPH and The Joint 
Commission. 

Employee Health: The team encourages staff to get their COVID-19 vaccine, booster dose, and 
2021-2022 influenza vaccine. In addition, the team collaborates with Human Resources, Medical 
Staff, and RHC to streamline the employee and provider onboarding process. The Employee 
Health team has been working diligently in preparation for the Agility Implementation. 

Infection Prevention: Continues to work with Inyo County Health Department with COVID-19 
related activities. Infection Prevention continues to implement measures to prevent and mitigate 
COVID-19 spread within healthcare facilities. In addition, the team continues to monitor and 
provide updates on local, state, and federal guidelines and recommendations. The Infection 
Prevention team played a vital role in the OR flooring project to help prevent hospital-acquired 
infections during the construction.  

150 Pioneer Lane 
Bishop, California 93514 

(760) 873-5811 Ext. 3415 
  

Improving our communities, one life at a time. 
One Team. One Goal. Your Health. 

 

Page 175 of 185



 

New Business 

Clinical Informatics:  Nicole Eddy has accepted the Clinical Informatics Nurse Specialist 
position and will be starting May 9th, 2022. Nicole will be partnering with Amanda Santana to 
help support the District with Clinical Informatics issues, training, and optimization.  
Clinical Informatics will play a vital role in the new Governance and Support Committee to help 
focus on organizational strategic priorities and maximize the EHR system. In addition, the 
department is working on creating a District-wide policy and procedure for EHR downtime. 
Survey Readiness: The team is preparing to expand a new group of tracer activities to other 
departments. The team closely monitors for any recent regulatory changes or updates and 
distributes the information to key stakeholders to help ensure that the District remains complaint. 
The Survey Readiness Team will partner with NIHD key stakeholders to help manage the on-site 
survey process and activities; this includes a survey response team and command center. The 
team will also be working on survey resources to help develop staff interview skills and decrease 
staff anxiety during the survey.   
Employee Health: Annastasia Beaman has accepted the Temporary Employee Health Clerk to 
assist with implementing Agility, vaccine data collection and entry, and assisting with onboarding 
of new employees, providers, students, and volunteers. Agility implementation has been 
postponed until August due to data conversion. The Employee Health team will continue to build 
the system and continue weekly Agility implementation meetings. In addition, Employee Health 
plays a vital role in onboarding all NIHD workforce this includes new staff, providers, students, 
and volunteers; there has been a significant increase in onboarding throughout the District. 
  
NIHD healthcare worker (HCW) influenza vaccine rates for 2021-2022 is 79% with 21% 
declination rate. NIHD Influenza rates for 2020-2021 were 89%. Overall, California hospitals 
reached 79% influenza vaccination among HCP in 2020-21, representing a 7% decrease 
compared with the 2018-19 influenza season. Among 386 reported hospitals, 88 (23%) hospitals 
met the 90% Healthy People 2020 goal.  
 
Infection Prevention: Continues to report COVID-19 data to CDPH daily. Infection Prevention 
and Employee Health continue to collect NIHD workforce COVID-19 data to report to CMS via 
the NHSN portal. Healthcare Worker Influenza and COVID-19 reporting is completed; it was 
due by May 15th, 2022. NIHD COVID-19 vaccination rates are 89% of staff are 
fully vaccinated, and 23% have received booster doses. In addition, the team will continue to 
report HCW COVID-19 vaccination rates quarterly, and monthly Hospital-Acquired Infection 
data to NHSN. Infection Prevention continues to complete active and post discharges surveillance 
for any Hospital Acquired Infection’s and will resume departmental infection prevention rounding 
and tracer activities.  
 

Page 176 of 185



FY2022
Unit of Measure Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22
Cash, CDs & LAIF Investments 51,541,102        51,660,613              51,218,981           44,626,386           48,069,372        48,192,815            44,293,619            42,120,322            41,474,347            
Days Cash on Hand 194                     192                          192                        158                        176                     174                         160                         136                         143                         

Gross Accounts Receivable 40,330,632        39,434,879              38,647,332           45,621,898           45,730,808        48,011,063            50,415,516            47,012,661            45,947,073            
Average Daily Revenue 497,169              478,408                   485,427                 486,248                490,359              491,569                 485,625                 481,170                 483,445                 
Gross Days in AR 81.12 82.43 79.62 93.82 93.26 97.67 103.82 97.70 95.04

Key Statistics
Acute Census Days 215 170 196 254 306 188 290 232 228
ICU Census Days 0 7 33 11 7 0 2 0 9
Swing Bed Census Days 24 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 12
Total Inpatient Utilization 239 177 229 265 313 188 292 244 249
Avg. Daily Inpatient Census 7.7 5.7 7.6 8.8 10.4 6.1 9.4 8.7 8                             

Emergency Room Visits 783                     745                          674                        766                        687                     706                         721                         625                         654                         
Emergency Room Visits Per Day 25                        24                             22                          25                          23                        23                           23                           22                           21                           
Observation Days 67                        54                             56                          56                          56 67 53 43                           53                           
Operating Room Inpatients 24                        23                             14                          16                          21                        17                           18                           19                           18                           
Operating Room Outpatient Cases 107                     89                             89                          82                          98                        126                         3                             6                             61                           
Observation Visits 64                        54                             50                          51                          45                        60                           51                           42                           53                           
RHC Clinic Visits 2,297                  2,743                       2,775                     3,030                    2,707                  2,722                     3,426                     2,559                     2,808                     
NIA Clinic Visits 1,679                  1,614                       1,699                     1,726                    1,744                  1,557                     1,518                     1,396                     1,744                     
Outpatient Hospital Visits 8,690                  9,250                       8,980                     9,162                    8,728                  8,630                     8,526                     7,994                     9,525                     

Hospital Operations
Inpatient Revenue 2,774,294           2,563,061                3,193,923              3,361,605             3,958,181           2,404,683              3,708,290              2,908,927              3,231,022              
Outpatient Revenue 11,563,898        10,530,380              10,677,079           10,581,296           10,120,970        11,882,529            8,803,380              8,539,211              11,061,511            
Clinic (RHC) Revenue 1,074,051           1,155,594                1,126,962              1,206,362             1,137,285           1,136,568              1,448,892              1,067,009              1,246,889              
Total Revenue 15,412,242        14,249,034              14,997,964           15,149,263           15,216,437        15,423,780            13,960,561            12,515,147            15,539,422            
Revenue Per Day 497,169              459,646                   499,932                 488,686                507,215              497,541                 450,341                 446,970                 501,272                 
% Change (Month to Month) -7.55% 8.76% -2.25% 3.79% -1.91% -9.49% -0.75% 12.15%

Salaries 2,138,510           2,212,918                2,099,073              2,131,194             2,303,918           2,726,796              2,346,958              2,047,905              2,305,644              
PTO Expenses 68,403                67,782                     201,732                 161,627                383,062              434,307                 360,818                 194,188                 185,532                 
Total Salaries Expense 2,206,912           2,280,700                2,300,804              2,292,821             2,686,980           3,161,102              2,707,776              2,242,093              2,491,176              
Expense Per Day 71,191                73,571                     76,693                   73,962                  89,566                101,971                 87,348                   80,075                   80,361                   
% Change 3.34% 4.24% -3.56% 21.10% 13.85% -14.34% -8.33% 0.36%

Operating Expenses 6,882,843           7,013,237                7,294,767              7,804,027             7,724,749           8,310,179              8,099,494              7,597,308              7,906,014              
Operating Expenses Per Day 222,027              226,233                   243,159                 251,743                257,492              268,070                 261,274                 271,332                 255,033                 

Capital Expenses 345,511              111,738                   219,678                 216,596                44,295                501,290                 1,671,393              380,900                 1,341,823              
Capital Expenses Per Day 11,146                3,604                       7,323                     6,987                    1,477                  16,171                   53,916                   13,604                   43,285                   

Total Expenses 8,511,732           8,533,790                8,636,587              9,124,560             9,203,811           10,127,813            9,618,792              8,992,284              9,351,287              
Total Expenses Per Day 274,572              275,284                   287,886                 294,341                306,794              326,704                 310,284                 290,074                 301,654                 

Gross Margin 1,732,096           (81,114)                    645,366                 (132,062)               (11,789)               (660,853)                (1,047,088)             (1,923,702)             (854,403)                

Debt Compliance
Current Ratio (ca/cl) > 1.50 2.13 2.10 2.84 2.78 2.54 2.70 2.65 2.54 2.55
Quick Ratio (Cash + Net AR/cl) > 1.33 1.80 1.73 2.29 2.17 2.07 2.22 2.21 2.02 2.06
Days Cash on Hand > 75 194                     192                          192                        158                        176                     174                         160                         136                         143                         

Page 177 of 185



NIHD - Income Statement
FY 2022 FY 2020 FY 2021 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 YTD 2022
Total Net Patient Revenue 76,229,126       86,844,620       8,614,939          6,932,123          7,940,133          7,671,965          7,712,959          7,649,326          7,052,406          5,673,606          7,051,611          66,299,067    
IGT Revenues 13,729,686       20,295,927       394,000             1,106,255          530,242             394,000             394,000             2,780,184          856,511             2,676,270          1,879,305          11,010,768    
Total Patient Revenue 89,958,812       107,140,547     9,008,939          8,038,378          8,470,376          8,065,965          8,106,959          10,429,510       7,908,917          8,349,876          8,930,915          77,309,835    

Cost of Services
Salaries & Wages 26,275,799       27,016,877       2,138,510          2,212,918          2,099,073          2,131,194          2,303,918          2,726,796          2,346,958          2,047,905          2,305,644          20,312,915    
Benefits 18,316,171       22,382,407       1,618,760          1,635,349          1,795,655          1,801,576          2,059,894          2,085,215          2,199,930          1,799,225          1,750,987          16,746,589    
Professional Fees 19,573,242       22,565,034       1,871,274          1,896,180          1,978,664          2,293,527          1,790,435          1,823,508          2,317,407          2,469,684          2,470,340          18,911,021    
Pharmacy 3,105,981          4,035,279          274,517             354,714             344,942             405,802             392,006             380,870             286,978             362,249             330,943             3,133,021       
Medical Supplies 4,199,962          4,136,111          277,812             255,157             358,049             369,855             451,788             497,972             184,989             159,263             244,786             2,799,671       
Hospice Operations 505,000             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                   
EHR System 1,164,797          1,480,088          112,267             114,869             132,491             112,342             108,392             115,958             119,346             112,757             148,178             1,076,599       
Other Direct Costs 4,813,483          5,810,258          589,703             544,051             585,893             689,732             618,316             679,861             643,886             646,224             655,135             5,652,802       
Total Direct Costs 77,954,434       87,426,053       6,882,843          7,013,237          7,294,767          7,804,027          7,724,749          8,310,179          8,099,494          7,597,308          7,906,014          68,632,618    

Gross Margin 12,004,378       19,714,494       1,732,096          (81,114)              645,366             (132,062)           (11,789)              (660,853)           (1,047,088)        (1,923,702)        (854,403)           (2,333,551)     
Gross Margin % 13.34% 18.40% 19.23% -1.01% 7.62% -1.64% -0.15% -6.34% -13.24% -23.04% -9.57% -3.02%

-                   
General and Administrative Overhead -                   
Salaries & Wages 4,681,985          3,906,499          319,290             323,708             319,740             305,823             355,039             412,400             361,734             334,886             363,951             3,096,572       
Benefits 4,150,743          3,754,395          283,420             299,665             312,500             243,511             322,152             382,695             335,529             310,036             310,978             2,800,487       
Professional Fees 2,337,874          3,978,605          421,033             420,876             222,237             282,805             300,113             462,506             329,198             293,995             275,811             3,008,574       
Depreciation and Amortization 4,275,662          4,094,658          370,335             358,995             347,178             358,655             347,192             369,148             334,665             298,932             331,373             3,116,473       
Other Administrative Costs 1,412,451          1,396,332          234,811             117,308             140,164             129,739             154,566             190,884             158,172             157,128             163,160             1,445,932       
Total General and Administrative Overhead16,858,715       17,130,488       1,628,889          1,520,552          1,341,820          1,320,533          1,479,063          1,817,634          1,519,298          1,394,976          1,445,273          13,468,038    

Net Margin (18,584,023)      (17,711,920)      103,207             (1,601,666)        (696,454)           (1,452,595)        (1,490,852)        (2,478,487)        (2,566,386)        (3,318,679)        (2,299,677)        (15,801,589)   
Net Margin % -20.66% -16.53% 1.15% -19.93% -8.22% -18.01% -18.39% -23.76% -32.45% -39.75% -25.75% -20.44%

Financing Expense 2,362,880          1,413,155          179,672             179,585             176,035             143,658             136,649             101,007             227,252             472,448             218,276             1,834,581       
Financing Income 2,372,608          1,755,654          173,785             173,785             173,785             173,785             173,785             173,785             173,785             148,687             173,785             1,538,964       
Investment Income 600,420             387,349             23,766               16,876               20,534               20,443               16,045               27,865               6,662                 4,964                 (1,624)                135,530          
Miscellaneous Income 1712917.01 1361183.52 172,440             66,574               9,045,548          57,016               80,081               (460)                   79,326               91,657               59,452               9,651,634       

Net Surplus (2,531,273)        4,675,038          687,526             (417,762)           8,897,620          (951,010)           (963,590)           401,879             (1,677,354)        (869,548)           (407,035)           4,700,726       

Page 178 of 185



July-21 August-21 September-21 October-21 November-21 December-21 January-22 February-22 March 2022  Assets
    Current Assets
      Cash and Liquid Capital 14,045,922                     14,143,765                     11,519,636                     10,520,186                     14,241,387                     14,713,417                     10,869,882                     11,528,856                     10,768,413                     
      Short Term Investments 37,710,931                     37,459,437                     37,895,338                     34,353,251                     34,281,644                     34,196,777                     34,103,636                     31,011,373                     30,904,455                     
      PMA Partnership -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    
      Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowance 17,138,201                     16,475,304                     16,272,228                     19,413,168                     20,940,657                     21,359,592                     23,422,744                     21,478,443                     21,459,561                     
      Other Receivables 7,663,674                        9,643,932                        10,601,529                     13,216,871                     10,901,419                     9,978,572                        8,858,544                        11,734,556                     10,098,207                     
      Inventory 3,364,669                        3,426,323                        3,413,915                        3,371,955                        3,379,016                        3,341,506                        3,375,509                        3,382,777                        3,363,612                        
      Prepaid Expenses 1,788,612                        1,636,519                        1,778,307                        1,476,186                        1,554,182                        1,612,547                        1,651,594                        1,292,820                        1,555,592                        
    Total Current Assets 81,712,009                     82,785,279                     81,480,953                     82,351,618                     85,298,304                     85,202,410                     82,281,909                     80,428,825                     78,149,841                     
    Assets Limited as to Use                                 
      Internally Designated for Capital Acquisitions -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    
      Short Term - Restricted 2,499,267                        2,499,373                        1,639,227                        61,230                              61,232                              61,232                              61,236                              1,307,758                        1,307,813                        
      Limited Use Assets
        LAIF - DC Pension Board Restricted 665,411                           916,906                           981,005                           1,046,467                        1,118,074                        1,202,941                        1,316,833                        1,409,097                        1,516,014                        
        DB Pension 18,395,253                     18,395,253                     18,395,253                     18,395,253                     18,395,253                     18,395,253                     18,395,253                     18,395,253                     18,395,253                     
        PEPRA - Deferred Outflows -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    
        PEPRA Pension -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    
      Total Limited Use Assets 19,060,664                     19,312,159                     19,376,258                     19,441,720                     19,513,327                     19,598,194                     19,712,086                     19,804,350                     19,911,267                     
      Revenue Bonds Held by a Trustee 3,215,549                        3,375,336                        3,535,124                        3,694,911                        4,004,827                        14,392,668                     14,073,128                     13,804,794                     1,109,439                        
    Total Assets Limited as to Use 24,775,481                     25,186,867                     24,550,609                     23,197,861                     23,579,386                     34,052,094                     33,846,450                     34,916,902                     22,328,520                     
    Long Term Assets                                 
      Long Term Investment 1,502,414                        1,001,121                        1,000,001                        997,171                           996,539                           1,002,414                        989,654                           1,729,276                        1,710,676                        
      Fixed Assets, Net of Depreciation 76,716,557                     76,469,300                     76,345,403                     76,203,344                     75,900,447                     75,809,403                     76,833,219                     76,915,188                     77,925,637                     
    Total Long Term Assets 78,218,971                     77,470,421                     77,345,404                     77,200,515                     76,896,986                     76,811,816                     77,822,872                     78,644,464                     79,636,313                     
  Total Assets 184,706,460                   185,442,568                   183,376,965                   182,749,993                   185,774,676                   196,066,320                   193,951,231                   193,990,191                   180,114,674                   
  Liabilities                 
    Current Liabilities                                 
      Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt 3,383,794                        3,382,136                        3,350,577                        2,901,929                        2,866,983                        1,601,919                        1,596,844                        1,574,086                        1,580,536                        
      Accounts Payable 3,353,229                        3,965,055                        3,242,192                        3,578,083                        4,124,296                        2,899,914                        3,252,430                        2,515,732                        2,428,540                        
      Accrued Payroll and Related 6,153,387 6,804,295 6,354,107 7,392,086 8,762,183 9,981,694 9,408,509 10,660,919 9,765,596                        
      Accrued Interest and Sales Tax 261,043                           369,624                           195,444                           303,558                           405,047                           149,454                           200,365                           248,727                           237,243                           
      Notes Payable 9,386,372                        9,386,372                        458,744                           458,744                           458,744                           458,744                           -                                    500,000                           1,648,830                        
      Unearned Revenue 13,653,194                     13,344,456                     12,972,529                     12,867,638                     14,815,460                     14,410,638                     14,439,154                     14,079,239                     12,848,670                     
      Due to 3rd Party Payors -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    
      Due to Specific Purpose Funds (25,098)                            (25,098)                            (25,098)                            (25,098)                            (25,098)                            (25,098)                            (25,098)                            -                                    -                                    
      Other Deferred Credits - Pension 2,124,655                        2,124,655                        2,124,655                        2,124,655                        2,124,655                        2,124,655                        2,124,655                        2,124,655                        2,124,655                        
    Total Current Liabilities 38,290,575                     39,351,496                     28,673,149                     29,601,595                     33,532,270                     31,601,920                     30,996,860                     31,703,358                     30,634,071                     
    Long Term Liabilities                                 
      Long Term Debt 35,607,947                     35,607,947                     35,257,947                     35,257,947                     35,257,947                     47,102,947                     47,102,947                     47,102,947                     34,572,947                     
      Bond Premium 375,441                           371,314                           367,186                           363,059                           358,931                           354,804                           350,677                           346,549                           250,319                           
      Accreted Interest 16,282,647                     16,352,123                     16,421,599                     15,772,325                     15,806,051                     15,806,051                     15,987,335                     16,134,894                     16,282,453                     
      Other Non-Current Liability - Pension 45,570,613                     45,570,613                     45,570,613                     45,570,613                     45,570,613                     45,570,613                     45,570,613                     45,570,613                     45,570,613                     
    Total Long Term Liabilities 97,836,648                     97,901,997                     97,617,346                     96,963,944                     96,993,542                     108,834,415                   109,011,572                   109,155,003                   96,676,332                     
    Suspense Liabilities (70,699)                            (70,699)                            (70,699)                            (70,699)                            (70,699)                            (70,699)                            (70,699)                            -                                    -                                    
    Uncategorized Liabilities 629,381                           656,981                           656,756                           705,749                           733,749                           712,992                           703,159                           691,039                           770,515                           
  Total Liabilities 136,685,905                   137,839,774                   126,876,552                   127,200,589                   131,188,862                   141,078,627                   140,640,892                   141,549,400                   128,080,918                   
  Fund Balance                 
    Fund Balance 44,833,874                     44,833,874                     44,833,874                     44,833,874                     44,833,874                     44,833,874                     44,833,874                     44,833,874                     44,833,874                     
    Temporarily Restricted 2,499,156                        2,499,156                        2,499,156                        2,499,156                        2,499,156                        2,499,156                        2,499,156                        2,499,156                        2,499,156                        
    Net Income 687,526                           269,764                           9,167,384                        8,216,374                        7,252,784                        7,654,663                        5,977,309                        5,107,761                        4,700,726                        
  Total Fund Balance 48,020,556                     47,602,794                     56,500,414                     55,549,404                     54,585,814                     54,987,693                     53,310,339                     52,440,791                     52,033,756                     
  Liabilities + Fund Balance 184,706,460                   185,442,568                   183,376,965                   182,749,993                   185,774,676                   196,066,320                   193,951,231                   193,990,191                   180,114,674                   

-                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    

Page 179 of 185



 

1 
Password Policy 

 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
NON-CLINICAL POLICY 

 
 

 
Title:  Password Policy  
Owner:  ITS Director - CISO Department: Information Technology 
Scope: District Wide 
Date Last Modified: 
04/11/2022 

Last Review Date: No 
Review Date 

Version: 4 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date:  01/01/2004 
 
PURPOSE: 
Passwords are an important aspect of computer security. They are the front line of protection for user accounts. 
A poorly chosen password may result in the compromise of NIHD’s entire network. As such, all NIHD 
workforce members including but not limited to- employees, members of the Board of Directors, contractors 
and vendors with access to NIHD systems are responsible for taking the appropriate steps, as outlined below, to 
select and secure their passwords.  

The purpose of this policy is as follows: 

1. To establish a standard for creation of strong passwords 
2. To establish a standard for the protection of those passwords 
3. To establish a standard for the frequency of change of those passwords. 

 
POLICY: 

 

1. All passwords must be changed every 60 days. 
2. Password history will remember the last 24 passwords that cannot be reused. 
3. Accounts will be locked out after 8 failed attempts to prevent password spraying attempts. 
4. Passwords must not be inserted into email messages or other forms of electronic communication. 
5. All user-level and system-level passwords must conform to the guidelines described below. 

a. Password must contain a minimum of 12 characters and maximum of 15 characters 
b. Passwords must contain a combination of capital and lowercase letters, numbers and symbols 
c. Passwords should not contain easily recognizable words (i.e. Bishop, Inyo, NIH) 
d. Password exception for DMS– Passwords can only contain capital or lowercase and not  

in combination.  Example – “TgAgm487&” the password would have to be “tgagm4878&” or” 
TGAGM4878&” 

6. Passwords are not to be shared with anyone, including administrative assistants. 
7. If a password is suspected to have been compromised, report the incident immediately to the 

Information Technology Services Department or the District Information Security Officer. 
8. NIHD workforce members cannot use the same password for NIHD accounts as they use for other non-

NIHD access (e.g., personal ISP account, shopping sites, benefits, etc.).  
a.) If an employee’s NIHD account(s) is compromised the ITS department will then investigate the 

public password breaches to verify that an employee’s password(s) are not in the public domain. 

Page 180 of 185



 

2 
Password Policy 

b.) During an investigation of a security breach an employee may be asked - do you use the same 
password for any other accounts whether private or public?  

 

9. NIHD workforce members cannot use the "Remember Password" feature of applications (e.g., Internet, 
Outlook OWA, etc.). 

 

REFERENCES: 

1. HIPAA Security  - Security Awareness and Training Standard 164.308(a)(5)(ii)(D)  
             NIST SP: 800-118, 800-12, 800-82 Rev 2, 800-53 Rev 4, 800-63-2, 800-66 4.5.3 

2. The Joint Commission (CAMCAH Manual) Jan. 2022; Standard IM.02.01.03 EP 1. 

 
RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION:  N/A 
 
CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Computer Screen Lock Policy 
2. Information Security and Data Integrity 
3. Confidentiality 
4. Computer Screen Lock Policy 

 
Supersedes: v.3 Password Policy 

 

Page 181 of 185



 

1 
ITS Service Desk Work Order 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT  
NON-CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE  

 
 
 

 
Title: ITS Service Desk Work Order 
Owner: ITS Director - CISO Department: Information Technology 
Scope: District Wide 
Date Last Modified: 04/19/2022 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 
Version: 2 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 01/01/2004 
 
PURPOSE:  
 
This policy establishes an effective means of requesting, coordinating and completing Information Technology 
Service Desk tickets. This procedure ensures the efficiency of day to day operations of the district as well as 
maintaining the IT infrastructure of the facility.  
 
POLICY: 
  

1. Service Desk tickets such as those actions required to maintain or upgrade current systems, install new 
systems, printer or PC maintenance and repair, restore/install equipment, report writing, programming, 
network maintenance, new user account creation, new equipment, equipment disposal, telecom 
troubleshooting, etc. will be requested in accordance with this policy.  

2. Service Desk ticket creation will be initiated via Email, phone call, SMS or chat. Service Desk Business 
hours are: Monday – Friday 7am – 5pm. 

3. The ITS Department will categorize the Service Desk tickets into four categories: 
a). URGENT: Critical impact to Patient care or Business operations hospital wide. (Requires 

PHONE CALL first, then email to servicedesk@nih.org) 
b). HIGH: System and application wide interruption that effects day to day workflow. (Requires 

PHONE CALL first, then email to servicedesk@nih.org) 
c). MEDIUM: Issues that can be addressed within a reasonable amount of time during business 

hours. (Email servicedesk@nih.org, SMS, or chat) 
d). LOW: Actions initiated by a supervisor or department head that are enhancements or 

improvements or which may require extended IT resource allocation; i.e. projects, changes in 
workflow, custom pc builds, or changes to facility wide program settings; end user education. 
(Email servicedesk@nih.org) 

 
All NON-CRITICAL issues should be reported via email, intranet quick link, SMS (text w/o PHI) or chat 

in order to leave the phone lines available for critical patient care or business operations issues. 
 

4. Service desk tickets are monitored and prioritized by Jr. Network Systems Analysts, and the ITS 
Coordinator, Manager and/or Director with occasional coverage from other ITS staff members. 

5. Telephone and paging during business hours for ITS Department will be used only in Urgent cases (e.g., 
inability to access critical systems or email).  

6. After hours’ emergency calls will be placed through the Nursing House Supervisor to be assessed for 
importance using the ITS On Call flowsheet and routed to the ITS on call personnel if needed.  

Page 182 of 185

mailto:servicedesk@nih.org


 

2 
ITS Service Desk Work Order 

7. Any ITS equipment moves will be requested through the NIHD Project form on the located on the 
intranet. 

8. Any new ITS equipment or new user access requests will be submitted 2 weeks prior to the start date by 
opening a service desk ticket. 

  
PROCEDURE: 
 
Incoming service desk tickets will be addressed by the Jr. Network Systems Analysts for Tier 1 troubleshooting and if 
escalation is needed this person will route the issue to the correct ITS or Informatics staff personnel after initial 
troubleshooting and/or collecting information. 
 
Service Desk ticket requestors must provide the following information: 
Full Name 
Department 
Call Back Number 
Is the situation URGENT or HIGH? 
Detailed description of incident/request 
Identify application name (i.e. Outlook, EMR, Windows) 
Patient Identifiers (if applicable) 
Computer Name / Equipment Model numbers (if applicable) 
EMR Order descriptions; accession #’s, time stamp, screen shots, etc (if applicable) 
Troubleshooting steps taken 
 
Tickets will be routed and prioritized based on the above policy.  
 
Response times for Service Desk Tickets will be as follows (subject to change depending on staffing levels and projects): 
 
URGENT: Requires immediate attention. 
HIGH: 45-minute response time. 
MEDIUM: 1-3 business day response time.  
LOW: 1 to 2-week response time. 
 
Response is defined as the Service desk person responding to the initial call either by email, ticket update, ticket 
reassignment or phone call. 
 
Once the service desk ticket has been created, requestors may directly contact the technician assigned, for status updates 
or to provide more information (reference service desk ticket number). Service Desk ticket correspondences can be 
updated via ticketing system, email, phone, or chat. Users can view their tickets by logging into the web helpdesk system 
on the Intranet, quick links, IT Request. 
 
Service desk escalation points will be directed to the ITS Coordinator / Manager and or ITS Director if needed. 
 
REFERENCES: N/A 
 
RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: All service desk tickets are saved on the network and 
backed up on the server.  They will be maintained for a minimum of 5 years. 
 
CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: N/A 
 
Supersedes: v.1 IT Help Desk Work Orders 

 

Page 183 of 185



 

1 
Licensure of Nursing Personnel 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT  
NON-CLINICAL POLICY AND PROCEDURE  

 
 
 

 
Title: Licensure of Nursing Personnel 
Owner: Chief Nursing Officer Department: Nursing Administration 
Scope:  Registered Nurses, Licensed Vocational Nurses 
Date Last Modified: 04/15/2022 Last Review Date: No Review 

Date 
Version: 5 

Final Approval by: NIHD Board of Directors  Original Approval Date: 08/01/2011 
 
PURPOSE:  

To ensure that all Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) Registered Nurses (RN) and Licensed Vocational 
Nurses (LVN) who practice nursing have a current active California license to practice nursing before starting 
work and thereafter. 

POLICY: 

1. RN and LVN whose job descriptions meet the requirements for nursing practice in the State of 
California will maintain a current license to practice as a RN or LVN. 

a. RN license granted from California Board of Registered Nurses. 
b. LVN license granted from California Board of Vocational Nurses and Psychiatric technician 

examinees. 
2. According to California law, RN’s or LVN’s may be granted temporary permit licenses. 
3. RN and LVN staff that does not have an active current license will not be allowed to practice nursing. 
4. All licenses including temporary licenses must be renewed on or before the expiration date. 
5. Graduate nurses who possess an interim Permit from the California Board of Nursing may practice 

professional nursing at NIHD under the supervision of an RN. 
6. The Onboarding Specialist within the Human Resources Department verifies licensure with the Board of 

Registered Nursing and the California Board of Vocational Nurses and Psychiatric technician examinees 
via the primary verification. 

7. The Onboarding Specialist within the Human Resources Department monitors and verifies RN and LVN 
licensure prior to expiration of Licensure. 

8. Nurses are responsible for obtaining their own license and renewal. 
9. Advanced Practice Nurse Licensure as an RN and Advanced Practice Nurse shall be maintained by the 

Medical Staff Office. 
10. An RN or LVN with an Interim Permit who fails the examination or does not receive licensure prior to 

the Interim Permit Expiration, will no longer practice as a nurse. 
a. Staff failing boards may apply for any open position to which they are eligible. 

 
PROCEDURE: 

1. Upon hire or on the RN or LVN first day of employment, the RN or LVN license, Temporary license, or 
Interim Permit shall be viewed by the Onboarding Specialist within the Human Resources Department 
and the number and expiration date documented on the Licensure Tracking form (see attached) kept in 
the Employee’s HR file.  

Page 184 of 185



 

2 
Licensure of Nursing Personnel 

a. Record of Interim Permit shall be kept in the same manner as the licenses.  If the nurse passes the 
examination, the Interim Permit remains in effect until a regular license is issued or until the 
Interim Permit expiration date.  If the nurse fails the examination, the Interim Permit shall be 
terminated upon notice by mail, or if the nurse fails to receive the notice, upon the date specified 
on the Interim Permit. 

2. Each month the RN and LVN license file will be reviewed by the Onboarding Specialist within the 
Human Resources Department for next month expirations. 

a. Notice of need for renewal will be sent to the employee and manager via e-mail. 
3. Employees who have not renewed their license by the expiration date will: 

a. Be suspended pending license verification.  The employee may choose to use PTO. 
b. The RN or LVN will not be allowed to work in another position during the lapsed licensure 

period. 
c. The RN or LVN has four weeks to complete the requirements for licensure renewal. If licensure 

is not completed within the four-week time frame, the employee will be terminated for 
employment at Northern Inyo Healthcare District. 
 

REFERENCES: 

1. The Joint Commission (CAMCAH Manual) (Jan 1, 2022) HR 01.02.05 EP1. 
2. Scope of Regulation Excerpt from Business and Professions Code Division 2, Chapter 6. Article 2 

Section 2725.  
3. California Board of Registered Nursing - https://www.rn.ca.gov/ 

 
RECORD RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION: 
Licenses are maintained in the employee personnel file by the Human Resources Department.  These will be 
maintained for the duration of the employment, plus 6 years. 
 
CROSS REFERENCED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES: 

1. Licensure of Nursing Personnel 
2. Licenses and Registrations 
3. Termination 
4. Termination Benefits 
 

 

 
Supersedes: v.4 Licensure of Nursing Personnel* 

 

Page 185 of 185

https://www.rn.ca.gov/

	Table of Contents
	Agenda May 18, 2022 Regular Board Meeting
	Agenda May 18, 2022 Regular Board Meeting

	Northern Inyo Healthcare District 2022 Years of Service, Hospital Week & Nurse Week Celebration
	Board of Directors Coversheet, NIHD 2022 Years of Service, Hospital Week & Nurse Week Celebration
	NIHD 2022 Years of Service Employee List

	Northern Inyo Healthcare District 2022 Community Heath Needs Assessment CHNA Update
	NIHD Community Heath Needs Assessment Presentation

	Northern Inyo Healthcare District Governance Committee Update
	Board of Directors Coversheet, NIHD Governance Committee Update
	Governance Committee Meeting Minutes

	Approval of the District Board Resolution 22-07 or District Board Resolution 22-08, Amending the Northern Inyo Healthcare District Bylaws regarding Ad Hoc Committees and Standing Committees
	22-07 District Board Resolution, Bylaws Amendment re Governance Standing Committee
	22-08 District Board Resolution, Bylaws Amendment re all Ad Hoc Committees

	Northern Inyo Healthcare District CEO Absence from the July 20, 2022 Board of Directors Meeting
	Board of Directors Coversheet, NIHD CEO Absence from the July 20, 2022 Board of Directors Meeting

	District Board Resolution 22-09, Consolidation of Election
	22-09 District Board Resolution, Election Consolidation

	Chief of Staff Report
	Medical Executive Report
	Policies and Procedures

	Consent Agenda
	22-10 District Board Resolution, to continue to allow the Board meetings to be held virtually
	April 20, 2022 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	April 26, 2022 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	Chief Executive Officer Report
	Chief Medical Officer Report
	Chief Nursing Officer Report
	Financial and Statistical reports as of March 31, 2022
	Approval of Policies and Procedures


